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CORPORATE PROFILE
ASIICI)

Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd (“JCI” or the
“Company”) is a mining company headquartered and listed in
Hong Kong. The Company was acquired by Jinchuan Group Co.,
Ltd* (“Jinchuan Group” or “JCG”) in November 2010 and is the
Jinchuan Group’s overseas resources development flagship
enterprise established for the purposes of accelerating Jinchuan
Group’s multinational operation strategy and elevating Jinchuan
Group’s global investing, financing and operating capabilities.
The Company is primarily engaged in the development and
operation of overseas mining resources projects, as well as the
trading of raw materials and products of copper, cobalt, nickel
and other non-ferrous metals.

Currently, JCI is the operator of a number of mines and projects
in the Central African countries of the Republic of Zambia
(“Zambia”) and the Democratic Republic of the Congo (“DRC”).
The mining assets now operated by JCI are:

OPERATING MINES:

— Ruashi Mine (75% ownership) — located in the DRC and
comprising 3 open pits and a process plant producing
copper cathode and cobalt for direct sale on the
international market.

—  Chibuluma South Mine (85% ownership) — located in
Zambia and comprising an underground mine with a
process plant producing copper concentrate for sale to a
smelter located in Zambia.

PROJECT IN TRIAL PRODUCTION STAGE:

— Kinsenda Project (77% ownership) — located in the DRC
and is one of the world’s highest grade copper deposits
with resources grade at 5.5% copper. The underground
mine currently being developed will be in production from
beginning of 2018.

EXPLORATION PROJECTS (advanced stage):

— Musonoi Project (75% ownership) and Lubembe Project
(77% ownership) both located in the DRC and are currently
under exploration. Musonoi Project is well prepared for the
development stage to produce copper and cobalt. It had
completed the feasibility study and preliminary mine design.
Currently the project is in construction preparation stage.

The Jinchuan Group currently retains an approximate 61.7%
ownership of JCI. The Jinchuan Group was founded in 1958 and
is a state-owned enterprise with its majority interest held by the
People’s Government of Gansu Province. The Jinchuan Group is
one of the world’s largest mining enterprises being the third
largest producer of nickel in the world, the fourth largest cobalt
producer in the world and the third largest copper producer in the
People‘s Republic of China (“PRC”).

*  For identification purposes only
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GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION OF JCI'S MINES
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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REGISTERED OFFICE ADDRESS

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF

BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
Unit 3101, 31/F
United Centre
95 Queensway
Hong Kong

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

AND TRANSFER OFFICE
Boardroom Share Registrars (HK) Limited

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.jinchuan-intl.com

MAJOR BANKERS

China Development Bank Corporation

The Export-lmport Bank of China

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
DBS Bank Limited

BNP Paribas
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EREE

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

| would like to sincerely thank the shareholders who have shown
their concern and support to JCI over the years. On behalf of
the Company’s board of directors, | would like to present to the
shareholders the annual report of the Company for the year
2017.

2017 was a year filled with new dynamics for the Company.
With the recovery of commodity prices, the Company’s policy to
improve quality and efficiency achieved demonstrable results.
The Company recorded a significant improvement in operating
performance, successfully introduced Shandong Hi-Speed as
a strategic shareholder of the Company and was included as
a constituent stock of the MSCI China Small Cap Index. The
Company’s work have shown key reformations and turning point
changes.

During the reporting period, the Company’s main mining
asset, Ruashi, has continuously produced record high cobalt,
with its single month production the largest since the mine
was constructed; while Kinsenda, a newly built mine, has
commenced the trial production. The Company achieved
revenue of US$549 million, representing an year-on-year
increase of 50.5%, and earnings attributable to shareholders of
the Company of US$41.6 million, representing an year-on-year
increase of 399%.

Chen Dexin
Chairman of the Board
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

In 2017, the Board and the management have both undergone
changes as Mr. Yang Zhigiang, our former Chairman, and
Mr. Zhang Sanlin and Mr. Zhang Zhong, both of whom were
executive directors, have resigned as directors of the Company,
along with the appointment of Mr. Gao Tianpeng and Mr. Qiao
Fugui as new executive directors and Mr. Zhang Youda as
new non-executive director. | myself was re-designated from
chief executive officer to Chairman, while Mr. Gao Tianpeng
was appointed as the new chief executive officer. These
changes have further consolidated the Company’s advantages
in internationalisation and specialisation while also fully
demonstrated how the largest shareholder, Jinchuan Group
emphasizes development of the Company. | am fully aware of
the huge responsibility that has been bestowed on me while, on
the other hand, fully supportive and have full confidence in Mr.
Gao Tianpeng. | would like to express my sincere thanks to Mr.
Yang Zhigiang, Mr. Zhang Sanlin and Mr. Zhang Zhong for their
valuable contributions to the Company over the years.

In 2017, the Company has also further expanded its financing
channel, successfully invited Shandong Hi-Speed as a strategic
shareholder, raised approximately US$50 million and improved
its capital structure. The Company has drawn attention from the
capital market and the stock was actively traded. It was included
as a constituent stock of the MSCI China Small Cap Index in
November 2017, which signified the recognition and confidence
to the Company from global capital market.

Focusing on the grand objective of developing the Company into
a world-class mining company, the Board has established the
following strategies: the Company shall continue to expand its
mining operations; enhance, enlarge and enrich the international
trading business; actively seek opportunities in developing new
business segments; and leverage on Hong Kong’s position as
an international financial hub to develop the investment and
financing business segments.

Looking forward, we have great confidence for 2018. Currently,
the non-ferrous metal industry has entered into a cycle of
recovery, where prices of copper and cobalt continues their
upward trend. We shall seize market opportunities, continue to
work hard to move forward, advance our work in all aspects,
overcome all challenges faced in improving quality and efficiency
and in transformation and upgrade, as well as accomplish the
two fundamental reformations, from maintaining asset value to
increasing of asset value, and from large-scale, speed-oriented
growth to quality and profit driven growth.

| would like to reassure and promise all of our shareholders that
our CEO, Mr. Gao Tianpeng, and myself will lead all employees
of the Company to join force and strive for improvement and
success with our utmost commitment for the stable, healthy and
sustainable development of the Company, in order to create
greater value for all of our shareholders.

| would like to thank all our shareholders, community and
business partners for their strong support, and extend our
sincere gratitude to all employees for their hard work.

Mr. Chen Dexin
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 27 March 2018
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CEO’S REPORT
TS

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

| am glad to report on behalf of the management of the Company.
| was appointed as the CEO of the Company on 23 August 2017.
| have been working as the non-executive Director of the
Company for the period from 30 November 2010 to 21 March
2014, and overseeing various matters including cost
management, financial management, international trading
management, risk management, foreign exchange business,
equity-linked deals and equity division reform of Jinchuan Group
and daily affairs of the board of directors. Global mining industry
underwent severe challenges for the past few years. Metal prices
turned around towards the end of 2016 and regained momentum
in 2017. | am very optimistic of our company’s capability to
enhance profitability in years to come. My confidence comes
from mining operating team had put efforts to efficiently conduct
cost saving during the past few years in difficult market
environment.

Gao Tianpeng
Chief Executive Officer
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Apart from the operating mines of Ruashi Mine and Chibuluma
South Mine in the Group’s African mining operations, Kinsenda
Project had finished its commissioning of concentrator.
Establishment of key systems including downhole ramp and
pre-dewatering,ventilation are in progress to ensure the target for
production with full capacity. Kinsenda Project commenced ftrial
production at the end of 2017. Musonoi Project, a quality copper
and cobalt property, is gaining momentum for its project progress.
The Group will continue to work on the site establishment work.

The recovery in copper and cobalt price during 2017 has given
rise to positive impact on our overall financial performance for
the period under review. Besides, through technological reform,
continuous optimization of economic and technical indicators and
reducing operating costs, the Group was able to increase the
profit significantly in 2017.

More efforts had been put towards corporate financing and new
business development. The Company is aiming to better use of
the capital market to support mine development and achieve
corporate vision. In the area of new business development, we
have also assessed several merger and acquisition opportunities,
in particular Southern Africa which was close our existing mines
to look for synergy. We will continually, prudently and actively
pursue any new business development opportunity.

We will continue to carry out improving quality, efficiency and
production. The Company strives to continuously and
significantly reduce production costs on the base of 2017, with its
strategy of “Improvement on Cobalt and Maintaining Growth on
Copper” to increase production and sales and achieve better
profitability.

CEO’S REPORT
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Finally, | would like to thank the continuous supports of the
Shareholders, the communities where the business units engage,
customers and business partners. At the same time, | would also
like to thank the Board members, management team and all
employees for their hard work and contributions.

Mr. Gao Tianpeng
Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 27 March 2017
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The Group’s mining operations include two operating mines
(Ruashi Mine and Chibuluma South Mine (including Chifupu
deposit)), one project in trial production stage (Kinsenda Project),
one project at feasibility study stage (Musonoi Project) and one
exploration project (Lubembe project).

OPERATING MINES
Ruashi Mine
Overview

The Ruashi Mine is an open oxide copper and cobalt mine
situated on the outskirts of Lubumbashi city, the capital of the
Katanga Province of the DRC. It was first discovered by Union
Miniére in 1919 and has been intensively evaluated by drilling
over the years. Up to the end of 2017, 1,955 drillholes have been
drilled on the mine.

The Ruashi Mine currently consists of three open-pit deposits
and a modern SX-EW leach processing plant. These deposits
occur along strike of each other over a combined strike length
of 2,000 meters, and are separated by cross-cutting faults and
breccia zones.

The Group indirectly owns 75% interest of Ruashi Mine and the
remaining 25% interest is held by Gécamines, a state-owned
mining company in the DRC.

Operational Review

The mining plan accelerated stripping rates of waste and lower
grade ore to expedite access to identified areas of high grade
ore.

Ruashi Mine production volumes recorded similar level for the
year ended 31 December 2017 as of for the year ended 31
December 2016.

MINING OPERATIONAL REVIEW
PRAE 75 [0 R

AEEFEEKDIEWEE ERES (RuashilE
5 & Chibulumara #E (B 3EChifupulfR)) ~ —
BEAEEREERNEE (Kinsenda@ ) ~ —
EE R TR B ER A9 IE B (Musonoi@ B ) & —1@
IEIE B (LubembelEB) °

E S
Ruashii& %
HE

RuashifZ5 A — B KRB R (£) EXEHH
(M{MmEEe) BE2BEXELE - 845 -

B EN——AFHUnion Miniére%1R » %
FREBERETHEIHIF - BE=-F
—tEEFRK > EZBESCHER1,955@E -

RuashlﬁEEHu@%_@ ERIEAR K —EEIRAC
LEW-BR 2R RERR - ZFRKHRE
BOHEF RE2,000KAEEM G [ - HEY)
BERABED R -

7K £ B R # % B RuashilE lI75% % & » &
T25%EZHAIR (£) —BEREEZAT
GécaminesiZ g °

&iE O E

ANREACHSRUBENERE &R
PRUES BN IREEIE R R M RO 2 HEREE -

—+t&+=-A=+—H
—R"EF+ZA=+—

RuashiZZHEZ_-Z
JJ:EJ*FEEEQEE:_ =
HIEFEEE

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 =& — t £ #§

1



12

MINING OPERATIONAL REVIEW
RS OIRR

During 2017 Ruashi Mine reduced power cost from US$17
c/kWh to US$11 c/kWh, as a result of reduced dependence
on diesel generators supply (14% of total power in 2016 down
to 1% of total power in 2017) and increasing the lower cost
local supply (SNEL) from 22% to 36% of total grid supply. The
Electro winning process, current efficiency, improved from 76%
to 81%, resulting in power savings. Ruashi Mine also achieved
a 9% increase in plant processing capacity, following the
implementation of a de-bottlenecking project.

n= ‘I:i RuashilZ 5 B K ¥ 5L A E
aomsm —NERBEBEBU%RES
z— tﬁa,m BE1%) &1 A0 E R AL A
75 i i FE(SNEL) > L 2 B R L E22%I F
%£36% ° *b&ﬁ&i?ﬁhw% D EIEZE
BTERMED BMAREENESRANE

EE?G%?E?I‘:ZF:M%  EHETEMRR o RuashH'E
BTARERMEEMEIEE BERI%ER
F3te

Production and sales summary for Ruashi Mine: RuashiiZB S v EEREEBREZNT :

For the year ended 31 December 2017 2016
BE+T-A=t—-HLEE —E—tF —NE
PRODUCTION: EE:

Copper (tonne) i (W) 31,546 32,129
Cobalt (tonne) # (Hg) 4,638 3,391
PRODUCT SOLD: EmEE

Copper (tonne) 83 () 31,480 32,233
Cobalt (tonne) & (W) 4,677 3,264
Revenue (US$ million) WA (BEXET) 378.9 210.3
Average LME Copper price (US$/tonne) & T F198RE (X W) 6,163 4,863
Average MB Cobalt Price (US$/tonne) SEBERFIHE (X /M) 56,989 25,161
* Ruashi’s current products include copper cathode and cobalt * RuashiBRIEmAEMREN S Al LxH

hydroxide. The production and sales volume shown in the
above table were calculated in metal content, with selling prices
equivalent to the metal prices. Pricing coefficients were considered
in actual sales volume.

Copper production for the year ended 31 December 2017
decreased by 2% (2016: 32,129 tonnes) to 31,546 tonnes.

Cobalt production for the year ended 31 December 2017
increased by 37% to 4,638 tonnes (2016: 3,391) as compared
to 2016 due to higher feed grade and a higher recovery came
from process recovery improvement. The cobalt recovery
improvements were due to reducing losses at the Fe (iron)
removal section of the plant and improved leach plant
performance.

The average benchmark copper and cobalt prices for the year
ended 31 December 2017 were US$6,163/t and US$56,989/t
(2016: US$4,863 and US$25,161) respectively. The higher
copper and cobalt prices impacted positively on revenue during
the year as compared to 2016. The revenue of Ruashi Mine
has increased significantly by 80.2% for the year ended 31
December 2017 as compared to 2016.
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Cobalt prices rallied during 2017 due to a strong demand for
lithium-ion batteries and the demand is expected to continue in
2018.

The capital expenditure of Ruashi Mine for the year ended 31
December 2017 was primarily spent on the de-bottle necking of
the plant, anodes and cathode replacements as well as Ruashi
Il project.

Chibuluma Mine
Overview

Chibuluma Mine is an underground copper mine situated in
Zambia located 13km from the town of Kalulushi. The Chifupu
deposit is located approximately 1.7 km from the Chibuluma
South Mine.

The Company indirectly owns 85% interest of Chibuluma South
Mine (including Chifupu deposit) and the remaining 15% interest
is held by ZCCM Investment Holdings plc, a Zambian state-
owned mining company.

Operational Review
Chibuluma Mine has undertaken a reserve replacement program

with development of Chifupu copper deposit, Chifupu deposit,
which is expected to be able to extend the life-of-mine (“LOM”)

MINING OPERATIONAL REVIEW
PRAE 75 [0 R

HRESHEREY  #ER-FT—tF—
BEES FHHABEERR-Z-/\FHFE-

BE-Z—tHE+=-A=+—HILEE"
RuashifB S EARATHETERARERNER
L T2 - SRS ~ B # LA ) RuashisE =
HRIH g o

Chibulumal&i5
HE

Chibulumal&i5 J3 — BBy A & bt T fY it T £
& - #BKalulushi$E 132 & o Chifupuf ik &2
Chibulumaf@ BHEEHN1.7RE -

75 5] B4 % A ChibulumaRg & (23&Chifupu
TEIK) HI85% M @ BR T 15% M B Lh &5 —
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until 2022. Chifupu access development was completed and £ o ChifupulE/RE ERBBIL R ZF — < F

production commenced in the fourth quarter of 2016. FENEFHBRE ©

Production and sales summary for Chibuluma South Mine: ChibulumaE B2 EERHEEMBOT ¢

For the year ended 31 December 2017 2016

BE+-A=t-ALFE S =

PRODUCTION: EE:

Copper (tonne) £ (W) 10,966 10,458

PRODUCT SOLD: EmEE :

Copper (tonne) 83 (W) 10,962 10,850

Revenue (US$ million) WA (BEET) 70.3 52.9

Average LME Copper price (US$/tonne) & FTF198RE (X W) 6,163 4,863
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MINING OPERATIONAL REVIEW
RS OIRR

Copper production for the year ended 31 December 2017
increased by 5% to 10,966 tonnes (2016: 10,458 tonnes) as
compared to 2016 because Chifupu material replaced Chib
South.

Copper revenue for the year ended 31 December 2017
increased by 33% to US$70.3 million (2016: US$52.9 million) as
compared to 2016 as a result of higher copper price during 2017.

Capital expenditure of Chibuluma South Mine (including Chifupu
deposit) for the year ended 31 December 2017 was primarily
spent on the underground mine development and expenditure in
opening of the Chifupu deposit.

PROJECT IN TRIAL PRODUCTION STAGE
Kinsenda Project
Overview

Kinsenda Project located in Katanga Province of DRC, and ranks
one of the world’s highest grade copper deposits. The project
has good access to infrastructure, mine to the regional highway
is 20 km. Kinsenda Project was in trial production stage in 2017,
production capacity is 24,000 tonnes per annum copper in
concentrate (copper content).

The Company indirectly owns 77% interest of Kinsenda Project
and the remaining 23% interest is held by Sodimico, a state
owned enterprise in the DRC.

Kinsenda Project, when in operation, will initially mine high
grades of 5.5% copper. Current mine life is 10 plus years and
there exists substantial additional ore resources that could
extend the mine life in excess of 20 years. Once steady state is
achieved, the option to increase throughput will be evaluated.

Construction of the process plant was completed in 2015.
Commercial operation status is expected to be achieved early
2018.

Capital expenditure on the Kinsenda Project for the year ended
31 December 2017 was primarily spent on the development of
the decline ramp to access the orebody as well as the backfill
plant.

BE-Z—+tF+-A=+—HLEEZH
EER_-T— NFEMN5%ZE10,966H (=&
— N5 1 10,458M8) » Lt T3 R Chifupuf B
E/X T Chibulumafg i °

SE_E-tEHEELA BE-ZE—tHF
TZA=+—BLEFEZRBRABR-Z—~F
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PROJECT CURRENTLY AT FEASIBILITY
STUDY STAGE

Musonoi Project

Overview

Musonoi is a greenfield copper and cobalt project
currently at feasibility study stage located on the northern
outskirts of Kolwezi, approximately 360 km North West
of Lubumbashi city, capital of Katanga Province of DRC.

Until 31 December 2017, the focus of Musonoi Project was to
rewrite the feasibility study and conduct a number of optimisation
studies. A detailed evaluation of the orebody indicates that the
mineral resources are SAMREC1 compliant and of sufficient size
and to support a mining project. The studies have indicated that
the orebody occurs on the eastern end of the Dilala Syncline
and is a blind deposit with high-grade mineralisation starting at
between 50 and 100 m below surface. The orebody has a strike
length of 600 to 700 m and is open ended at depth below 600m
from surface, and will be mined from underground using a long
hole stopping mining method and a cut and fill with post pillars
mining method.

As at 31 December 2017, a total of 89 diamond drillholes have
been drilled on the Musonoi Project area totaling 24,604 meters.
60 drillholes covering 17,880 meters have been collared in the
Dilala East area and 21 drillholes covering 3,223 meters in the
Dilala West area.

The optimisation studies and detailed engineering works will be
awarded early in 2018. The final approval and funding strategy is
anticipated to be approved in 2018.

Additional work is conducted to improve the mineral resource
model, hydrogeological model and geotechnical models to de-
risk the project and provide information to assist in mining and
infrastructure layouts.

Musonoi project has high grade of Cobalt content with ore grade
of 0.9%.

EXPLORATION PROJECT
Lubembe Project

Overview

The Lubembe Project is a greenfield copper exploration project
situated in Katanga Province of DRC. No additional progress has
been made in evaluating this deposit during the year.

The Lubembe Project mining license was renewed in 2016 and
extended for a further 15 years to 2032.

MINING OPERATIONAL REVIEW
PRAE 75 [0 R
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RESOURCES AND RESERVES
HRELGHE

OVERVIEW

The Group’s mineral resources and mineral reserves statement
presented in this report has been prepared as at 31 December
2017 and serves as an update to the mineral resources and
mineral reserves statement as at 31 December 2016.

Mineral resources are defined as a concentration or occurrence
of material of economic interest in or on the earth’s crust in
such a form, quality, and quantity that there are reasonable and
realistic prospects for eventual economic extraction. Mineral
reserves are defined as the economically mineable material
derived from a measured or indicated mineral resource. All
mineral resources and mineral reserves information presented
are compliant with the South African Code for the Reporting
of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Reserves (the
SAMREC Code), and are reported according to the requirements
of Chapter 18 of the Listing Rules.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s mineral resources are
estimated to contain 4,462 kt of copper and 362 kt of cobalt.

MINERAL RESOURCES

The Group’s mineral resources as at 31 December 2017
accounted for all the currently existing mining projects of the
Group, being two operating mines (Ruashi Mine and Chibuluma
South Mine (including Chifupu deposit)), one project in ftrial
production stage (Kinsenda Project), one project at feasibility
study stage (Musonoi Project) and one exploration project
(Lubembe Project).

The Mineral Resources are quoted inclusive of Mineral
Reserves.

MINERAL RESOURCES DISCUSSION

Group Mineral Resources showed a decrease from 4,518kt of
contained copper in December 2016 to 4,462kt in December
2017, due to depletions at Ruashi and Chibuluma.

There have been minor changes made to the Musonoi mineral
resources due to an adjustment in the geodesic survey
projection used for the license boundary (Clarke 1866 vs
WGS84).

There has been no change in mineral resources for the Lubembe
project from December 2016 to December 2017.

Group cobalt mineral resources decreased marginally from 366kt
in December 2016 to 362kt in December 2017 due to depletion
of oxide resources at Ruashi. Changes to the Musonoi contained
cobalt mineral resource are the result of shifts in the license
boundary.
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RESOURCES AND RESERVES
HRELHE

TREBAAREBR -_Z-—LtF+-A=1+—

The following table summarises the total mineral resources of

the Group as at 31 December 2017: AZREEERES :
31 December 2017 31 December 2016
ZR-tEtZAzt-8 ZE-RETZAZT-A
Mineral Resources"” Tonna?e Grade® Contained Metals Tonna?e Grade® Confained Metals
EEERE" i mf® 2eRE i ffi® Gk
(Mt} {% Cu} E% Co{ kt Cu{ kt Co{ (Mt} %% Cu; E% Co; %kt Cuf kt Co}
(BEW % & %) (THE) (THE) (FEM %4 %#) (THE)  (THE

Ruashi Mine Ruashiff5
(oxide and sulphide)  (E{tEAR{LE)
- Measured -4 04 34 0.3 1 1 04 30 04 13 1
- Indicated - Eﬁ“ 140 2.2 04 305 46 136 21 04 307 49
- Inferred 4] . 109 23 0.2 255 2 13 21 02 263 2
- Total Ruashi Mine ~Ruashi& 585 253 2.3 0.3 571 15 23 2.3 03 583 18
Chibuluma South Mine  Chibulumai
Chibuluma South Mine  Chibulumaif§
- Measured -8 14 38 - 4 - 15 39 - 57 -
- Indicated -V‘:}%'] 0.04 41 - 2 - 02 45 - 6 -
- Inferred i X - - - - - - - - - -
- Total Chibuluma South ~ ~Chibulumar £

Mine 12 38 - 45 - 17 39 - 63 -
Chifupu deposit Chifupuf& i
- Measured -5 06 28 - 17 - 08 27 - p/) -
- Indicated -4 04 20 - 7 - 04 20 - 7 -
- Inferred -fE . 14 26 - 3 - 14 26 - 3 -
- Total Chifupu depost ~ —Chifupuf A 223t 24 26 - 61 - 26 26 - 65 -
- Total Chibuluma South ~ ~ChibulumaZ & (845

Mine (including ChifupulFF) &3t

Chifupu deposit) 3.6 29 - 106 - 43 33 - 128 -
Kinsenda Project Kinsenda’&
- Measured Ui - - - - - - - - - -
- Indicated -5 132 53 - W B 53 - -
- Inferred 1 . 15 6.0 - I - 15 6. - 446 -
— Total Kinsenda Project ~ —Kinsenda’® & &t 207 5.5 - 1,140 - 210 55 - 1,157 -
Musonoi Project Musonoi’& f
(Exploration Project) ~ (F&ER)
- Measured -58 121 33 09 45 115 13.0 33 09 424 19
- Indicated -4 139 24 09 W 1% 139 24 T i
- Inferred - g N 55 2.3 08 125 46 48 25 09 121 1Y)
~ Total Musonoi Project ~~ ~Musonoi’8 B &5t 24 21 0.9 868 27 AT 28 0.9 873 288
Lubembe Project Lubembe R
(Exploration Project) ~ (FBER)
- Measured - 138 - - - - - - - - - -
- Indicated -3 54.0 19 - 1,016 - 540 19 - 1,016 -
- Ifered - ) % 2 - - B 2 - -
- Total Lubembe Project ~ ~Lubembe?& & & 90.6 20 - 1,711 - 906 20 - 1, -
Group's Resources AREERE
- Measured -58 148 33 08 486 116 15.7 33 08 516 120
- Indicated - 95.5 25 0.2 2,352 172 9.6 25 02 2,375 176
- Inferred =1 61.9 26 04 1,624 14 616 26 04 1,627 10
- Total Resources -EREAT 1722 26 02 4,462 362 1729 26 02 4518 366
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RESOURCES AND RESERVES
HRELGHE

(1)  The figures do not imply precision and may not total due to rounding.
Mineral Resources for the various operations and projects have been
compiled in compliance with the SAMREC Code. Mineral Resources
are quoted inclusive of Mineral Reserves.

(2)  Grade for all mines and projects are expressed as Total Copper (TCu)
or Total Cobalt (TCo).

MINERAL RESERVES

The Group’s mineral reserves as at 31 December 2017
accounted for the three operating mines or project in trial
production stage, namely Ruashi and Kinsenda Project in
DRC, and Chibuluma South Mine (including Chifupu deposit)
in Zambia. No mineral reserves have been declared for the
exploration projects of Musonoi Project and Lubembe Project as
at 31 December 2017.

MINERAL RESERVES DISCUSSION

Group Mineral Reserves showed a drop in contained copper
reserves from 502kt in December 2016 to 484kt in December
2017, and a slight decrease in contained cobalt reserves from
29kt to 26kt over the same period.

The drop in copper reserves and in cobalt reserves is largely the
result of mining depletions at Ruashi and Chibuluma for copper,
and Ruashi only for cobalt during 2017.

Kinsenda commenced the trial production at the end of 2017,
with a drop in mineral reserves matching ore production during
the year.

Depletions at Chibuluma were in line with mining activities for the
year.
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RERE

AEBR=-Z—tF+-BA=+—BZEE
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B H LU LD ZChibulumamE & (21
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H > Musonoil® B K LubembelE B #iEE B I
EHRBEMRE °
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RESOURCES AND RESERVES
HRELHE

The following table summarises the total mineral reserves of the

TREBAAEBR -_Z-—LtF+-A=1+—
RE

Group as at 31 December 2017: AZREERER
31 December 2017 31 December 2016
ZE-tEtzAzt-8 “E-AE+A=1-R
Mingral Reserves'" Tonnage Grade® Contained Metals Tonnage Crade® Contained Metals
RER2" Bt Rl Efd | B ffi @ 2488
M) %Cy  (6Co)  (4Cy  (4Co) (M (6Cy  (6Co  (KCY  (KCo)
(BEM)  (%@)  (#) (THE) (THE) (BEM) (@)  (od) (THE) (TH&)
Ruashi Mine Ruashifi3
(oxide and sulphide)  (E{tEARLE)
- Proved Reserves -REHE 04 20 0.5 2 0 01 20 06 3 1
~ Probable Reserves -HREE 8.0 2 03 168 2% 14 21 04 158 %
- Total Ruashi Mine ~Ruashi& 55t 8.1 21 0.3 170 26 15 21 04 161 29
Chibuluma South Mine  Chibulumaii§
Chibuluma South Mine ~~ Chibulumai&
- Proved Reserves -HEfRE 14 26 - i) - 12 27 - U
- Probable Reserves -HEfe 0.0 28 - 1 - 01 37 - 4 -
- Total Chibuluma South~~ ~Chibulumaiifg &3
Mine 11 26 - 2 - 13 28 - 38 -
Chifupu deposit ChifupufBR
- Proved Reserves -HERE 04 22 - 2 - 03 26 - 8 -
- Probable Reserves -BRRE 04 19 - 2 - 01 18 - 2 -
- Total Chifupu deposit ~ —ChifupufgF4:t 02 21 - 4 - 04 23 - 10 -
- Total Chibuluma South ~~ ~Chibulumai& & (55
Mine (including Chifupul5K) & 5t
Chifupu deposit) 13 25 - 3 - 17 26 - 48 -
Kinsenda Project Kinsenda’&
- Proved Reserves -2EkE - - - - - - - - - -
- Probable Reserves -HREE 59 48 - 281 - 6.1 48 - 293 -
- Total Kinsenda Project ~ ~Kinsenda& B 45t 59 48 - 21 - 6.1 48 - 293 -
Group’s Reserves ARERE
- Proved Reserves -HEfHe 13 26 - 2 - 16 26 00 45 1
- Probable Reserves -HREE 140 32 0.2 452 26 137 33 02 457 28
- Total Reserves - e 15.3 3.2 0.2 484 26 15.3 32 02 502 2
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RESOURCES AND RESERVES
HRELGHE

(1)  The figures do not imply precision and may not total due to rounding.
Mineral Reserves for the various operations and projects have been
compiled in compliance with the SAMREC Code. No Mineral Reserve
has as yet been declared for the Musonoi Project and the Lubembe
Project.

3) Grade for all mines and projects are expressed as Total Copper (TCu)
or Total Cobalt (TCo).

COMPETENT PERSON STATEMENT

Mr. T P Williams, BSc (Hons), PrSciNat (South African Council of
Natural and Scientific Professionals Registration No 400387/04),
FSAIMM (Fellow of the South African Institute of Mining and
Metallurgy). Mr. Williams is the Mineral Resource Management
Executive for Metorex and is a full-time employee of the Group.
He is a mining geologist with more than 27 years’ experience
in exploration, resource development, estimation and mining
geology in gold and base metals through West, Central and East
Africa.

Mr. Williams qualifies as a Competent Person under Chapter 18
of the Listing Rules and the SAMREC Code. He has confirmed
in writing that the information disclosed is compliant with Chapter
18 of the Listing Rules, and that it may be published in the form
and context in which it is intended.
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SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT REPORT
AR RERS

A. ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

JCI continues to demonstrate its commitment to the
implementation and maintenance of Safety, Health,
Environment and Community (“SHEC”) management
systems in order to facilitate environmental protection.
Ruashi and Chibuluma mines maintained their certification
to ISO14001, the international standard for environmental
management systems during 2017. All companies
complied with relevant legislation and other environmental
requirements in the countries of operation.

SHEC performance across the Group is monitored by
the Metorex Executive Safety, Health, Environment
and Community (SHEC) Committee which meets at
the end of each quarter to assess SHEC performance
and to advise on continual improvement strategies. The
Committee is chaired by Mr. Qiao Fugui (Metorex CEO),
and attended by Mr. Lloyd Bradford (Group Metallurgy
Executive, Ruashi Mine Board representative, Metorex
EXCO SHEC representative), Mr. Timothy Williams
(Group Mineral Resource Executive, Kinsenda Project
Board representative), Mr. Yulong Tian (Assistant to CEO,
Chibuluma Mine Board Representative) and Ms. Colleen
Parkins (SHEC Consultant). The Mine General Managers
may attend on invitation. Information considered includes
incident reporting (number and nature of incidents),
trends in SHEC performance, hazard identification,
risk assessments, natural resource management and
community development initiatives.

SHEC performance is managed on a day-to-day basis
through IsoMetrix, the Group’s electronic SHEC and risk
management system. In addition, the IsoMetrix system is
used to manage Group business risks, and any SHEC-
related risks are included in the Group risk register.

Fines and Legal Action

The JCI Group and its operations incurred no fines or
penalties related to safety, environmental or occupational
health transgressions of legal and other requirements
during 2017. No legal action was brought against JCI
in this regard. Compensation was paid to small-scale
farmers adjacent to Ruashi Mine when the stormwater dam
containing low pH water overflowed during a high rainfall
event and caused crop damage.

Environmental Incidents

Ruashi Mine recorded one Level 3 incident when the storm
water dam, containing water with a low pH, overflowed into
surrounding environment, resulting in some land and crop
damage. The pollution was remediated and the farmers
compensated.
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Chibuluma recorded 27 Level 2 environmental incidents,
the majority of which were associated with high levels
of total suspended solids in the discharge water. This
occurred as a result of inadequate settling time in the
settling ponds and on the top of the old tailings dam as
it nears capacity. Desilting of settling ponds has been
undertaken and extension of the old tailings storage facility
has since been completed to reduce such incidences.

Environmental Policy
The Group Environmental Policy is as follows:

JCI is committed to the responsible stewardship of natural
resources and the ecological environment. Environmental
management is recognised as a high corporate priority,
and is a component of Zero Harm, one of the company’s
values.

JCI is committed to:

. Continually improving the assessment and
improvement of environmental performance and the
prevention of pollution through the implementation of
processes, practices and techniques to avoid, reduce
or control the creation, emission or discharge of any
type of pollutant or waste and to reduce adverse
environmental impacts;

. Conducting environmental impact assessments on all
relevant new programmes and projects;

. The integration of environmental management into
management practices throughout the company;

. Minimising the use of consumptive resources and
promoting the reduction and recycling of waste
products where possible;

. Rehabilitating disturbed land and protecting
environmental biodiversity;

. Exercising prudence with critical ecological
resources, in particular where impacts are unknown
or uncertain;

. Managing environmental risk in the workplace and
surrounding areas;

. Complying with applicable legal requirements and
with other requirements to which the organisation
subscribes and which relate to its environmental
aspects;

. Training and educating employees in environmental
responsibilities; and

. Being transparent and constructive in interactions
with stakeholders.

Chibuluma 527 R2MMIRIES I » k3B
PEHEERKFNEZIEREERSE
B8 o WS A RN B R E
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ERAMBENREE T EMES - B
DEEWEEW  STBBEETER
EENEETERETIERTRIEZT
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Employees and contractors working at JCI operations play
a fundamental role in achieving environmental objectives
through:

A1

Taking ownership of, and participating in,
environmental management programmes and
initiatives; and

Setting objective and targets for sound environmental
management within the framework of an 1ISO14001
standard environmental management system.

EMISSIONS

The tables below show the carbon footprint for the
JCI Group companies, as well as the Johannesburg
head office. The total carbon footprint is shown,
as well as Scope 1 (direct emissions, mainly
comprising diesel use for the mining fleet and on-site
generator power) and Scope 2 (purchased electricity)
emissions. It must be noted that most of the power
purchased in the DRC and Zambia is hydro-electric
power.

There has been a substantial reduction in the Group
carbon footprint from 2015 to 2017, which has been
mainly due to the decreased use of generators
to power the Ruashi plant in 2015. There was a
decrease in available purchased power in the DRC
in 2013, resulting in the installation of generators at
Ruashi in order to maintain production. The power
strategy changed in 2016 to operate the generators
with a base load of 6MW to protect critical equipment
rather than maximise copper production. The base
load was further reduced to 1.8MW, before the
generators were switched off during 2017 to save
diesel. Stability of the power grid and availability of
power improved during 2017 due to improvement of
SNEL equipment maintenance as well as the ongoing
availability of the CEC power supply agreement to
import power from Zambia. The average SNEL power
supply usage was 4.8MW in the first quarter, 4.68MW
in Q2, 6.24MW in Q3 and 8.76MW in the last quarter,
demonstrating an increase in the use of hydropower
over diesel.

JCIEBXBNEERARBEBUTH
ARERREEESEBREBRER

A1
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KICCRIZBIS KL R KEs » A=Z
—+ERBEY320AEHENXK

TE-AFE_E—tERER 2015 2016 2017

KICC operates a maize farm on the mine, which
planted approximately 320 Ha of maize in 2017.

Total carbon footprint (t CO,-e)

2015-2017 BE(BH_StREE —E-0F ZEB-RF ZEB—+LF
Ruashi Ruashi 41,423 19,654 4,374
Chibuluma Chibuluma 6,832 5,648 5,816
KICC KICC 5,223 2,530 3,200
Johannesburg Head Office N EEI 151 125 143
JCI Group JCIEE 53,629 27,957 13,533
Scope 1 emissions (t CO,-¢) —E-REE-FT-LFHE 2015 2016 2017
2015-2017 HHE(SH-_SILRER) —B-5F —F-AF —T-+F
Ruashi Ruashi 41,031 19,231 3,864
Chibuluma Chibuluma 6,757 5,575 5,738
KICC KICC 5,097 2,404 3,020
Johannesburg Operational Office X HEHI BLEBREE 0 0 0
JCI Group JCIEE 52,885 27,211 12,622
Scope 2 emissions (t CO,-e) —E-REFE-_F-tEFEHE 2015 2016 2017
2015-2017 BRE(BH_StHRESE) “E-HF ZE-RE ZE—tF
Ruashi Ruashi 391 423 510
Chibuluma Chibuluma 76 73 78
KICC KICC 126 126 180
Johannesburg Operational Office A HEHELEREE 151 125 143
JCI Group JCIEE 744 746 911

Ruashifii 5 (1 & & 49 — B2 R L R
R —SEtMmRE - ZHBHT Y
& B HE5.376M — AL o B R
()W -—BREEHFRE LIRS
508/ NFK MABNEEE
BERREBREE TRE  HEHK
NW_—RLRHERENEHRE - i
—RtRHEREBBEAE ERR
BERRRELR  BESEFILE
1 EERH PR E R AF H#ER
Bk

Ruashi Mine operates an acid plant which emits SO,
gas. The acid plant emits an average of 5.376 tonnes
of SO, per day. The legal limit for SO, gas emissions
in the DRC is 5.0mg/m?, and the levels of SO, at the
acid plant are measured on a daily basis in order
to comply with the legal standards and protect the
health of plant employees. If the levels of SO, rise
above legal and occupational health limits, the plant
will be stopped until the cause of the emissions is
identified and resolved.
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WASTE EE!W_]

Hazardous waste 1 B R

The main types of hazardous waste generated by REBEXEBEENGREYVEIES
the mining operations include waste oil and batteries FEARBEESHOEERN UR
as well as old reagents and spent catalyst at MRuashiE 4 W E B E Kk EEE &
Ruashi. Medical waste is generated by the hospital LBl - B EEY) &= 4 BKinsenda
at Kinsenda and the mine clinics at Ruashi and B2 B LA K Ruashi& Chibulumai B9
Chibuluma. The Kinsenda hospital has an incinerator W& 35 2 BT ° KinsendaZ fx A 3%
for the disposal of medical waste. Medical waste EEBBEREYNIILIE - ARuashi
from Ruashi and Chibuluma mines is taken to the K Chibulumal 5 &= £ K EE R REY)
Baraka hospital and the Kalulushi General Hospital 8|49 3138 X BarakaB& Bz & Kalulushi
respectively for incineration. #: & B Pt (Kalulushi General

Hospital)/{EZ8 (L IR 22 ©

Waste oil generation at all sites is shown in the table TRITEREUEEWERE ©
below.

2015 2016 2017
Waste oil generation (litres) EEmE (F) —E-FHE ZB-—RFE ZEBE—+HF
Ruashi Ruashi 81,800 68,000 22,900
Chibuluma Chibuluma 70,770 53,130 68,310
KICC KICC - 3,600 9,700
Used oil generated at Chibuluma is disposed of R Chibulumal 5 = 4 ) B & 3%
to a facility licenced by the Zambia Environmental ?IEHEI:[:EEI%J%%“IE%(ZEMA)?&%
Management Agency (ZEMA) and used batteries are MieREEE  MEREHAE
sold to licenced battery companies. FiIFENEMRENT -
Ruashi has implemented an oil recycling programme Ruashit 5t /8% a1 # 17 % i @ U 5
for waste oil. Other hazardous waste generated at £l - MRuashifZB S ELENEMEE
Ruashi includes sulphur ash and vanadium pentoxide Y BENBRRESE E’ﬂﬁﬁfﬁgiﬁg
catalyst from the acid plant. The hazardous waste L= SUELRE - BEREYE H_'Jﬁ'ﬁi‘lﬁ
is currently stored on site. The DRC does not have FF-BR(2)BALEBELES
a licenced hazardous waste disposal facility, so the FEEY R B RIS R AR - MUt - TR
mine intends to export the waste catalyst to South %ﬁﬁ@*@fﬁﬁﬁﬂgfﬁﬁﬁftﬁ_ﬂtﬂ
Africa for disposal in a licenced site. The amounts of AZEmIF @ BUREFMSETE
hazardous waste generated by Ruashi are shown in B - T &R 5IRRRuashil 5 & £ 1
the table below. EEEME :

2015 2016 2017

Ruashi hazardous waste generation RRuashiZ+MEEREY —T—1F —T—<F —T—+tHF

Sulphur ash (tonnes) FRE (W) 177 18 151
Vanadium pentoxide catalyst (litres) A& Z 8L E (7) - = -
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Non-hazardous waste

Ruashi and Chibuluma dispose of non-hazardous
waste generated by the mining operation only, while
KICC also assists with the disposal of non-hazardous
domestic waste from nearby Kinsenda village. Ruashi
has a domestic landfill onsite, and disposed of 38.5
tonnes of non-hazardous waste in 2017 (2016:
45.6 tonnes). The mine also has a plastic recycling
programme in place and 65.32 tonnes was recycled
(2016: 78.44 tonnes). Chibuluma mine disposed of
107.590 tonnes of domestic waste in 2017 (2016:
73.9 tonnes), which was taken to the Uchi landfill site
in Kitwe. 248.13 tonnes of scrap metal was generated
in 2017, which is initially stored in the salvage yard
and then sold to scrap dealers.

RESOURCE USE
Energy Consumption

The power supplied by the utilities in Zambia and
the DRC is largely hydro-electric power. The DRC
mines have experienced shortages of supply from
power utilities since 2013, and diesel generators are
used as an alternative power source. Ruashi’s power
consumption is shown as kWh per tonne of finished
copper. Chibuluma produces copper concentrate,
so the power consumption is reflected as kWh per
tonne of copper concentrate produced. Kinsenda
Project commenced trial production during 2017, so
total power consumption is shown. The measure will
change to kWh per tonne of copper concentrate as of
the 2018 report.

Ruashi energy use

Ruashif R &£

A2

FEEEY

Ruashi® ChibulumaiZ [ & B 18
EEELEMNFETEREY - MKICCHI
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& WEUK TE5.32ME LR (==
— NE 1 78.44M) o Chibulumal®
BR-ZZE—tFESE 7107.590M
ESEEY)(ZF—N5F 1 73.9W) -
2 2015 8 F v A E 4 E(Kitwe)By
UchitflEBEE - R=Z—tF&
LHESERE248.130 - HH 4
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&R A
BEIRUH 3%

BHXTRAR () WESHREL
KABEAF -HIR(2)ESE=
i——iﬁ_léﬁb&ﬁ’tﬁﬁi{% SR

ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ Aﬂé&agﬁng%§ BIR o
Ruashify & hEE L T R B
X 81 & R ° Chibuluma E 8158
B MEHEERMRETRE W
EEE@HFBE Klnsendalﬁﬁﬁ"—

HAE ﬁ@ﬁzf‘ 14}1—:73"

éﬂiﬁ¢¢&%?ﬁh/mmﬁ
E o

2015 2016 2017
TE_fE ZE—RE ZE—+tE5

ENHEFE

Power consumption (kWh/t
finished copper)

T R0/ B 8

4,488 4,580 4,692
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2015 2016 2017
Chibuluma energy use Chibulumag iR £ A —E-hF ZE-RE ZT—tF
Power consumption (kWh/t concentrate) % J15H 3%
(TR MHEER) 23,032 25,807 10,732
2015 2016 2017
Kinsenda energy use Kinsenda#t J £ ZE-hF ZE-RE ZT—tF
Power consumption (Total kWh) EHEE(BTRE) 35,999,325 35,220,635 48,352,989
Water consumption FEK

Water at Ruashi is recycled from the return water
dams as well as from the stormwater dam for use
in the plant. The Ruashi pit is dewatered with the
use of boreholes, and water from these boreholes is
supplied to REGIDESO, the local water utility, which
then supplies water to the local community. The pH
value is monitored on the site on a daily basis.

Ruashi’s water consumption for 2015 to 2017 is
shown in the table below.

ARuashilB N KZLERIBRES
KIBER EMMEERBERER -
Ruashil@in kBB EH HEH - ™
BHZSEA KT HAE
KA TIREGIDESO - It E 4t & i
%Eﬁﬁ o 1B15 5 B BRIk M BR iR

T &R RRuashid=E—HFEZE=
E—tEHEKE

2015 2016 2017
Ruashi water consumption Ruashif k& “E-HE ZE-RE ZZT—t&E
Copper produced (tonnes) B4 E 4 (W) 35,056 32,129 31,546
Water use (m*/day) HKEB(XHX/B) 6,491 7,451 6,868
Water use (m¥/tonne Cu) FEOKE (LAK /W) 67.58 84.88 79.67

Chibuluma mine produces copper concentrate,
which is transported to a smelter in Zambia, so
water consumption is measured per tonne of copper
concentrate produced. The mine uses return water
and water from underground dewatering in the
plant, with make-up water pumped from surface and
underground water sources when required. The mine
monitors water in accordance with the requirements
of its environmental management plan. It must be
noted that more than 90% of the water used in the
Chibuluma plant is recycled from the tailings dam,
and the figure presented therefore reflects actual
water use.

ChibulumalB B £ E SAERE » W&
ZEBEEL T —BEARER 0 EHUt
EAKELEMELEERBREE o
B FRARERERNEEKR
HTK WHAEZERFERRH
TACRHKEL - IRISBIBHIRE
EEGE R EERKE - & A
SEE > ChibulumaiZ TE H Fir iE 48 1B
90% MK IR B BB » E It -
LT RMERRIENKE o
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Chibuluma’s water use is shown in the table below.

Chibuluma water consumption Chibuluma¥t 7k &

T &5 RChibulumalg /K £ :
2015 2016 2017

—E-RF —EBE-RE —E—+tH

Copper produced (t) 24 E 5 ()
Water used (m?/day) FEKE (LHK/R)

Water used (m3t Cu produced) FEOKE (LK, MEE)

- 10,824 11,017
- 832 732
- 28.06 24.25

Construction of the Kinsenda process plant has been
completed and it was commissioned in April and May,
and ramped up to name-plate capacity in December.
Dewatering of the underground mine is undertaken
as mine development progresses. Approximately
40,000m? of water was pumped out of the mine daily
in 2017. Some of the water is used as make-water for
the process plant but the greater percentage is being
released into the river. The mine is a “wet” mine and
will also be discharging excess water. Copper levels
and pH levels are closely monitored.

The Kinsenda plant is currently using 3300m? per
tonne of ore processed. The tailings discharge from
the plant is currently feeding into the new tailings
storage facility and is not yet returning water back
to the plant. Make-up water is thus higher than
normal but will drop significantly when return water is
available from the tailings dam.

The mine also draws water from the local spring
which is treated with chlorine before passing to the
local community off-take points. Effluent and drinking
water are monitored on a monthly basis.

The Copper Cathode sheets from the mines are
loaded onto trucks directly, and the metal concentrate
produced in Chibuluma is loaded directly on truck and
transported to the smelter. As a result, there is no
packaging material used.

REAGENTS

Ruashi mine produces finished copper through a
solvent extraction and electrowinning process. It is
therefore the main user of reagents in the Metorex
Group. Ruashi’s reagent consumption is shown in the

KinsendaiZ iZ if & 5 B H 2 K 7A Y
BHARETHETERT AR
AEBEERE - th THRAVPEIKTME
IEIRFERSFHBEREET - =F
—tF5 HBKEHN H40,0003 5
Ko D HEH A KMRIERER
BB AL PRI K TI R EAR © 1%
SBR[ RIS - BSEBRIK
St o SEKF RpHEHEZ ZY)

EEZER o
on IS

Kmsendai%ﬁ%fﬁﬁﬁt%ﬂ‘ﬁﬁﬂfﬁ
& 75 £ 7K 3,3003L 7 K o B Z & K
EFE&E’JF%EHUT?E"%EE’JFEEET??
i IAREKEEGER - HLt -
HEKBREREKFRZ  BERE
BB Bl K & KiE T p& o

5 T E AR REUK - FTELHEY
KR A AE b 75 4 B R Y BE AT 1948
%ﬁ%ﬂg& FKREAKEER
TER-

REBEEECEHRRAREEHR
F&&HE > MMAChibulumatEE2 £
E*ﬁﬂ%ﬂ]‘ﬁ%%tﬁﬁiﬁﬁ?ﬁ

”ﬁ

o FEIL - WEEREME

table below %

2015 2016 2017
Ruashi reagent consumption Ruashiffy & E| £ Ff £ “E-HF ZE-RFE ZE—tF
Sulphuric acid (kg/t leached) M (T5R,/=EH) 81.4 771 61.5
Diluent (kg/t) HER(Tx, /W) 13.15 16.71 41.09
Sulphur (tpd) Wi (g H) 81 83 0.33
Sodium meta-bisulphide (SMBS) £ 0B B% 8 (SMBS)

(kg/t leached) (Fw,/ZENM) 46 3.4 10.1
Lime (kg/t leached) B (Fr,/ 2EM) 25.5 32.1 26.6
Magnesium oxide (t/t cobalt) S (WM 5h) 1.1 0.9 1.2
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The Chibuluma plant is a sulphide floatation plant.
Reagents in the Chibuluma plant include lime and

Chibulumai2 & & & — BiR{LIEY
SZIE I o ChibulumaiZ i ik 5 B i

frother. BRBEEARKRERE -

2015 2016 2017
Chibuluma reagent consumption ~ ChibulumafiEEFEHE —T—HF —T—<F —T—tF
Frother (g/t) FEBE (5=, 1) 46.82 50.68 4310
Lime (g/t) B (5, 1) 176.3 191 145.5

Kinsenda operates a concentrator producing an oxide
and sulphide flotation product. Reagents used by
Kinsenda are as follows:

Kinsenda® EHRBHREESLR
ALY E R E M © Kinsendaf A
FYBERE I -

2015 2016 2017
Kinsenda Reagent consumption Kinsendafy Z | £ F§ & “E-IF ZE-RF ZE-iHF
Xanthate (SNPX) g/t & JR B #h(SNPX)
(%) - - 120
NaSH g/t mEin (=, W) - — 350
Frother g/t RERE (/1) - - 95
THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RIEHEBARER

RESOURCES

The main environmental aspects of the mining
operations include:

Rehabilitation of overburden dumps and tailings
dams for closure. Concurrent rehabilitation of
the Ruashi and Chibuluma tailings dams is
in progress. Chibuluma has constructed an
extension to the existing tailings dam, and
topsoil has been stockpiled for the purpose
of rehabilitation. Progressive rehabilitation
on the new tailings dam extension began
towards the end of 2017. 625 assorted plant
species have been planted around new tailings
dam extension and planting of desert grass
on the walls of the dam also commenced
and has continued into 2018. Kinsenda has
commissioned the new tailings dam. The topsoil
from the dam footprint has been stockpiled
for later use. Plant tailings are currently being
deposited into depressions in the basin and
there is no return water at present. The height
of the dam is still well below the initial earth
berms and hence no side slope re-vegetation is
required yet. The initial berms are well grassed.

Dust generation, mainly from vehicle movement
on unpaved roads, tailings dam and stockpiles.
Fall-out dust is monitored during the dry
season, and roads are watered at all sites to
reduce dust generation.

%ﬁﬁiﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂ’ﬂi%%iﬁ B8 e

- U FHEBENHELSKRERES
ETHNEMBIR - REBFERS
# 1TRuashi} Chibulumafi 2
BIHEIE T2 - ChibulumaiE
ETRERBS  W—EHERE
RETZEUAREEIR -
HNEBEHEEZBIN_-"Z—+t
FRARZTEE - FHEE
BIEES S AEC EE6251%
TEEEEY - KBEERE
HBIIR—ZE—-N\FEEE
B EEFEEY - Kinsenda
CRREETERS  BEE
KBEENRELE—HHET
HEZFA - EREEKE A
B &t - WA B EE
Ko KBESEMRERE—E
TR B EBEYERE
THER FEEREREH
BWBE o

- B FEREEBAERIER
BE - EREBENRERF - BED
EERE  REZHEHSER
B ERAMNR - RRFrERL
HYERE EIBK o
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. Pollution from hydrocarbons and chemicals.
Mining operations are heavily mechanised, and
pollution control measures are in place in the
workshops. Leaks outside of contained areas
have the potential to cause pollution, including
cumulative pollution where small leaks are
involved. Preventive maintenance, remediation
of polluted soil, clean-up and training of
employees working with chemicals, fuels and
lubricants are strategies used to reduce and
clean up pollution.

. Impact of mining operations on ground
and surface water quality. All of the mining
operations have implemented water quality
monitoring programmes on ground and
surface water as appropriate to their approved
environmental management plans.

B SOCIAL

B1

B2

EMPLOYMENT

The Company’s mines operate within the labour
laws of the country of operation. In both Zambia
and the DRC the mines are required to comply
with the Labour Code, Ministerial Decrees and the
Collective Agreements, which include working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, anti-discrimination,
work conditions, vocational qualifications and
output. The Group operates under internal policies
on recruitment, remuneration, leave and conditions
of employment which take the legislation of the
countries of operation into account.

Chibuluma Mine has implemented a fatigue
management strategy by ensuring that employees
reduce their leave days due. This has significantly
reduced the number of sick leave days from 342 in
2016 to 299 in 2017.

HEALTH AND SAFETY
Safety

No fatalities occurred at any of the Metorex Group
mines in 2017, and a total of 14 lost time injuries
were recorded in the Group.

Ruashi Mine achieved 2,767,177 fatality free shifts
up to the end of 2017 since the last fatality occurred
in 2013. Seven lost time injuries occurred at the mine
during the year.
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No fatalities occurred at Chibuluma mines in 2017,
and a total of four lost time injuries was recorded. The
lost time injury frequency rate reduced from 2.9 to
1.97 per million man hours worked.

Kinsenda achieved 2,321,715 fatality free shifts in
2017 and three lost time injuries occurred onsite.

Safety Statistics for the Group

Fatality Frequency Rate per million

ChibulumalB 5 R —_E—tF I &
BEMTMETEW LB EH4
TEATHIESEWM BAIRT
EERERREEE TR29R T &
B1.97R °

BE-Z— It Kinsenda &
FX2,321,7151E £ 5 T {E R VX K 22
AE3RIBRIBIESHK -
AEENZZEIE

2015 2016 2017

man-hours worked BEEEIRMNETHEE “E-RF ZE-RE ZE—tF
Ruashi Ruashi 0.00 0.00 0.00
Chibuluma Chibuluma 0.40 0.00 0.00
KICC KICC 0.00 0.00 0.00
Group Mines KEEES 0.11 0.00 0.00
Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate EHE&BILKH 2015 2016 2017
per million man-hours worked BAIBIESHR —E—FHEFE ZEBE-—XRE —ZZ—+tE&
Ruashi Ruashi 0.72 1.03 1.80
Chibuluma Chibuluma 2.82 2.89 1.97
KICC KICC 0.71 0.00 1.34
Group Mines rEEES 1.26 1.25 1.71
Health e

All of the mining operations fall within areas where
malaria is a significant health risk. Malaria cases
at each operation are shown in the table below.
Prevention measures include indoor residual spraying
in Zambia as well as malaria prevention programs
at the sites. These programs involve the donation
of mosquito nets, removal of stagnant water and
improvement of drainage, and support to existing
government and non governmental organisation
programs and education of the workforce and
community. It is of concern that the number
of malaria cases occurring at the mines is not
decreasing, and further awareness and intervention
is required. The number of malaria cases occurring at
the mine sites has reduced in 2017.

FrBRRE PR EEIZ RS
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2015 2016 2017
Malaria cases BERERTRE “E-RFE ZEBE-—RFE ZE—LtF
Ruashi Ruashi 1,867 1,741 1,331
Chibuluma Chibuluma 54 85 57
KICC KICC 895 1,069 916
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B3

The Company actively promotes HIV/AIDS prevention
programs aimed at employees, their families and
the communities in which we operate. Voluntary
counselling and testing for HIV is encouraged
amongst employees and support systems are in

ARAHES - BEXBREME
EREHBEBEBOLFRS,
NdpmTER T 8l - SRR S B R
ARETBRRSRE - WEH
EXEHNERBDZSENLRRES

place for employees who test positive for HIV. AP 2EMHES

2015 2016 2017
VCT for HIV/AIDS YHmEESs,/ iR “E-HFE ZE-—RE ZE—tHF
Ruashi Ruashi 1,203 1,281 1,011
Chibuluma Chibuluma 2,659 55 200
KICC KICC 2,031 1,045 799
Group Mines AEE &S 1.26 1.25 1.71

Kinsenda operates a hospital and primary health
care facility on site which treats employees and their
dependents, and provides a limited service to the
local population. Ruashi and Chibuluma mines have
clinics on site.

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Company recognises that development and
training of employees is a continuing process for
every employee at every level of the organisation,
therefore training is perceived as a necessary
investment in order to enhance productivity and attain
the company’s business goals. Critical needs and
affordability are taken into account.

All employees, contractors, consultants and visitors
receive site induction of various levels, depending on
the duration of stay, area to visit and previous visits to
site. Metorex is committed to ensure that employees
are competent in their roles and therefore possess
necessary permits, licences and the like in order to
carry out work safely and in accordance with the laws
of the countries in which we operate.

In addition, the training departments on the
mines identify training needs through advice from
supervisors, comparing the skills and knowledge
of employees to their job profiles, analysing the
performance appraisals, information from the
individual development plans and training and
development required by law in the countries of
operation.

Both Ruashi and Chibuluma are certified to the
international standard 1SO14001 for environmental
management systems. One of the requirements of
the management system is environmental training for
all employees and contractors, as well as job-specific
training for employees whose activities have a direct
impact on the environment. Training in pollution
prevention and remediation is also given.
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LABOUR STANDARDS

The Labour Code in the DRC provides that forced
work is prohibited. The mines do not hire candidates
who are under the age of 18 years, although the
law in the DRC allows for consideration of recruiting
candidates from the age of 16. Ruashi has a Human
Rights policy in place which specifies the right to:

. Human dignity

. Fair treatment (subject to considerations of
affirming previously disadvantages groups)

. Freedom and security of persons

. Not to be subject to slavery, servitude and
forced labour

. Freedom of conscience, religion, thought, belief
and opinion

. Freedom of expression (subject to
considerations of confidentiality and the
prohibition of hate speech and incitement to
cause harm)

. Peaceful assembly

. Freedom of movement

. Fair labour practice

. Not to be employed if a child

. Not to be arbitrarily deprived of property or
possessions

. Freely participate in the cultural life of their
choice

. Lawful, reasonable and fair action; and

. Not to be subjected to arbitrary arrest or
detention.

Chibuluma does not have a particular written
policy on the prevention of child and forced labour,
however, the mine follows the Zambian labour policy
which clearly forbids child labour. Zambia is also a
signatory to the International Labour Organisation
conventions No. 138 (minimum age for admission to
employment and work) and No. 29 (Forced Labour).
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Chibuluma also subscribes to and is involved with the
Global Child Forum for the promotion of Children’s
rights — “Global Child Forum brings together thought
leaders and influencers from business, civil society,
academia and government in order to spur action for
social change around children’s rights. In particular,
we focus on the power of business to be a driver
of change, and we encourage businesses to take
approaches in their operations and their communities
that best advance children’s rights. Our work is
underpinned by the United Nations (UN) Convention
on the Rights of the Child and the Children’s Rights
and Business Principles as well as by our own
research and tools. The Global Child Forum is a
Swedish non-profit foundation with headquarters in
the heart of Stockholm.”

Chibuluma has implemented a Fatigue Management
Policy as follows:

Chibuluma Mines Plc identifies that fatigue is an
internal precondition for unsafe acts because it
negatively affects the human operators’ internal
state. The Company will strive to maintain and
enhance safety, performance and productivity in the
operational and manage the risk of fatigue in the work
place.

Through the Fatigue Management policy, Chibuluma
Mines Plc is committed to:

. Taking all practical steps to ensure the safety
of employees at work and in relation to roster
design. This includes reducing night work to
the minimum possible; ensuring no worker
spends more than 2-4 days continuously on
any night shift, providing a minimum of 2 full
nights’ recovery after 2-4 night shifts, rotating
shifts forward (Day, Afternoon, Night), avoiding
rosters that require starting work before
6:30am, implementing responsible alternatives
where the measures herein outlined cannot be
implemented.

. Systematically identifying hazards and
assessing their significance in relation to shift
work. This will include; identification of risks in
tasks to be performed and assessing the risk of
performing tasks when workers are fatigued.

. Eliminating, isolating or minimizing these
hazards, in this order of priority.

. When employees face significant hazards,
monitor their hours of work and their health and
safety representatives.
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SUSTAINABLE

. Ensuring that incident and/or accident
investigations consider whether fatigue was a
contributing factor.

B5 SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT B5
The Company contracts specify that all contractors
are required to comply with the Group’s safety,
health, environment and community policies.

Suppliers by geographic region

Suppliers for the operating mines are located in the
following regions:

DEVELOPMENT REPORT
AR ERERS

- BRRATEHR BB
ERENZEMAEZREE -

HEEEE

AAR SN BREABHYMLE

BIAEE2ZE  FE BER

HEBUR °

R EEHE D NWHER

BREEBmENHEEBRTHEN
T

Ruashi suppliers by geographical region

Ruashift fE (R EEHE 7)

2016 2017

—E-RE ZE—+F

Democratic Republic of the Congo BIREREHANE 317 403
South Africa EE3 178 153
Zambia Bthao 15 22
Switzerland Int 3 4
United Kingdom HE 4 4
United Arab Emirates PR HESERE 2 4
Australia BAR T 3 2
Mauritius EERHT 3 4
Canada mEX 2 2
China H 3 5
Germany =& 1 2
India BE 1 1
Portugal BET 1 1
Singapore ESDIIE 1 1
Kinsenda suppliers by Kinsendafft FE 2016 2017
geographical region (BB EEE D) ZE-XE Z—ZB—+t&
Democratic Republic of the Congo BIRREHANE 91 91
South Africa EE3 74 74
Zambia Btho 17 17
Chibuluma Mines suppliers by Chibuluma¥ 5 fE 7 2016 2017
geographical region (RtEEHES) ZE-RFE ZB-iF
Zambia Bhto 44 520
South Africa E3 40 112
United Kingdom HE 1 2
Australia M - 1
China HE] 1 5
India NE - 1
Hong Kong B8 - 1
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B7 ANTI-CORRUPTION

B8

Ruashi has a Code of Ethics in place and Chibuluma
mine addresses corruption through its Code of
Conduct. Kinsenda currently has no specific policies
related to corruption although the Ruashi code is
adopted. Current controls include an approvals
framework for authorisation of orders and contracts
and an online ERP system. The Finance and
Procurement departments have internal policies in
place to address conflict of interest, corruption and
fraud. Ruashi mine has in-house investigators who
are tasked with researching and investigating all case
of fraud, embezzlement, theft, corruption, extortion or
money laundering within the company. Their reports
are presented to the Prosecutor’s office and the
General Management, and cases are escalated to
Metorex Head Office as required.

Kinsenda has no specific policies related to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering. A declaration
of interest was signed by all employees in 2014.
Controls in place include an approvals framework
with authorisation levels and responsibilities, online
approval through an ERP system, internal audit and a
compliance officer and legal resources in place.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Company has a Community Policy in place as
follows:

Community Policy

The company strives to minimise potential negative
social impacts while promoting opportunities and
benefits for host communities. The company
engages in a range of sustainable development
and community relations activities. Community
management and development is recognised as a
high corporate priority, and is a component of Zero
Harm, one of the company’s values.

JCI is committed to:

. Continually improving community development
and community investment programmes
through monitoring, measuring and managing
our social and economic impacts;

. Developing programmes that ensure the
sustainable welfare of communities;

0 Upholding and promoting the human rights of
our employees and contractors, our suppliers,
and the communities in which we operate;
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Recognising and respecting indigenous
people’s culture, heritage and traditional rights
and supporting the identification, recording,
management and protection of indigenous
cultural heritage;

Building and maintaining stakeholder
relationships with people who are directly
affected or interested in our operations; and

Managing the risk of public health threats

ARAREEEHERMNEL -
BEREGENRSHFEE -
RE - BERGREEBERN
MALEE

HEEIBMAEBIEINEK
PXBHEEREBOARES
RESFSEBEERR &

BEES  AEHRIMSIHLE

amongst employees, contractors and local

communities.

Community investment at the mining operations in H=

B THBREWT |

2017 and 2016 were undertaken as follows:

—tFER=

2 ABRERERE -

— AR

2016 2017
Ruashi Community Investment (US$) RuashifV#t B3R & (%£7t) —R"E ZE—tF
BAYERRS OBR
HIV/AIDS awareness and prevention RNk Ek 10,000 10,000
Education HE 5,000 10,000
Agriculture projects EX1EA 250,000 250,000
TOTAL et 265,000 270,000
2016 2017
Kinsenda Community Investment (US$)  KinsendafJ#t EBi& & (%t) —RE ZE—+tF
Agriculture B¥ 7,400 10,495
Community electricity HEEN 258,222 149,935
Community feeding schemes
(orphans and widows) HERRMHAE (MEARER) 21,027 28,691
Education BB 4,016 72,786
Sport and recreation BAEENKRE 5,458 4,098
Community sanitation HREE 4,008 5,148
Community relations HERF 14,515 51,680
TOTAL “Et 314,646 322,832
2016 2017
Chibuluma Community Investment (US$)  Chibulumaf#t E#& & (% t) —R"E ZE—+tF
Education BB 11,620 8,199
Health e 18,287 25,506
Skills Development REEEE 12,406 17,620
Sport and Recreation B AE KA 62,873 27,534
TOTAL et 105,186 78,859
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEETREAST

BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal business of the Group is in the mining operations,
primarily copper and cobalt production, the Group also trades
mineral and metal products. The recovery of copper and cobalt
prices during 2017 has given rise to positive impact on our
overall financial performance for the period under review. Beside,
through technological reform, continuous optimization of
economy and reducing operating costs, the Group was able to
achieve more profit in 2017 as compared with last year.

Mining Operations

The Group’s mining operations is represented by the Metorex
Group, which is headquartered in South Africa. Metorex Group
has majority control over two operating mines in Africa which are
Ruashi Mine, a copper and cobalt mine located in the DRC and
Chibuluma South Mine (including the Chifupu copper deposit), a
copper mine located in Zambia. For the year ended 31 December
2017, the Group produced 42,512 tonnes of copper (2016:
42,587 tonnes) and 4,638 tonnes of cobalt (2016: 3,391 tonnes),
and sold 42,443 tonnes of copper (2016: 43,083 tonnes) and
4,677 tonnes of cobalt (2016: 3,264 tonnes) which generated
sales of US$263 million and US$186.2 million respectively (2016:
US$205.2 million and US$58 million respectively). Copper
production was comparable to 2016. The significant increase in
cobalt production was mainly because of technological reform
and optimization and higher cobalt feed grade.

Metorex Group also has control over Kinsenda Project, a
development copper project which commence trial-production
stage at the end of 2017 in the DRC, and Musonoi project, a
copper and cobalt project in feasibility study stage, and Lubembe
project, a copper project in exploration stage.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Trading of Mineral and Metal Products

For the year ended 31 December 2017, GHL purchased and sold
a total of 16,141 tonnes (2016: 19,969 tonnes) of copper blister.
The revenue from sales of copper blister for the year ended 31
December 2017 amounted to US$98 million (2016: US$96.3
million). The copper blister was sourced from a Zambian
producer under a renewed annual contract for 20,000 tonnes in
2017. The volume of copper blister shipped during 2017
decreased by 19% as compared to 2016. The copper blister was
sold in China directly.

The zinc repurchase business that GHL started in late 2016
intended as a low-risk trading business which purchases physical
zinc and hedges the market risk with London Metal Exchange
futures. For the year ended 31 December 2017, GHL traded zine
repo trading products. The profit from zinc repo business for the
year ended 31 December 2017 amounted to US$0.27 million.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group’s operating results for the year ended 31 December
2017 are a consolidation of the results from the mining operations
and the trading of mineral and metal products.

Revenue

The revenue for the year ended 31 December 2017 was
US$549.2 million, representing an increase of 50.5% compared
to US$364.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2016.
Revenue increased during the year mainly contributed from
mining operation business which was further discussed below.
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The Group’s sales performance from its mining operations was
as follows:

FEERFRBEB 2HERRUT ¢

2017 2016

—E—tE  —B-AE

Volume of copper sold (tonne) A E = (F) 42,443 43,083

Volume of cobalt sold (tonne) ghiHEE (M) 4,677 3,264

Revenue from sales of copper (US$ million) HEER = (BEXT) 263.0 205.2

Revenue from sales of cobalt (US$ million) hiEE W R (BB ET) 186.2 58.0
Total revenue from the mining operations REXKBENR (BEBXER)

(US$ million) 449.2 263.2

Average price received per tonne of copper (US$) CUWE M FIIEE (ET) 6,196 4,764

Average price received per tonne of cobalt (US$) E USRI FHIERE (Ex) 39,817 17,770

Note: Cobalt price has already included price ratio of 69.5%

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the higher commodity
market prices impacted positively on the Group’s revenue.
Revenue of the Group’s mines reported at US$ 449.2 million and
increased by 71% from 2016.

The copper mining revenue increased by 28% from 2016 to
2017, as a result of higher price. 2017 copper production volume
was comparable to the 2016 production volume. The cobalt
revenue increased by 221% from 2016 to 2017 as a result of
higher cobalt price as well as an increase in cobalt production
volume.

The trading of mineral and metal products segment recorded a
decrease in revenue from sales of copper related raw materials
by 3.6% from US$101.7 million for the year ended 31 December
2016 to US$98 million for the year ended 31 December 2017.
New revenue generated from inventory financing relating to non-
ferrous metal commodities which was initiated in late 2016.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEETREST

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales represents the costs associated with the production
of copper and cobalt from the Group’s mining operations and the
purchase cost for the trading of mineral and metal products. The
major components of cost of sales are as follows:

HERAE

HERAEEAEBRHGEERBEELEH
ZRAURBERREBERES 2HREBX
R SHEMARNZEZARIBONT -

2017 2016
—E—+F —E-RE
US$’000 US$'000
FER E
Mining Operations: PRIBZET
Realisation costs IR RN 6,051 6,167
Mining costs BRUE A AR 141,237 44,124
Salaries and wages HFeRIE 41,330 41,680
Processing costs MI A 70,710 78,054
Engineering and technical costs IRREMERA 20,661 20,059
Safety, health, environment and community Z2 @R RERTLE
costs 2N 2,717 2,970
Depreciation of property, plant and ME- -BERRBZINE
equipment 43,377 46,772
Amortisation of mineral rights e = R 6 7,030 10,973
Other costs H At g A< 497 10,867
Sub-total gt 333,610 261,666
Purchases for Trading of Mineral and BRERREBERESZ
Metal Products PRES AR 99,415 100,822
Total Cost of Sales 48 SH B R AR 433,025 362,488

Cost of mining operations increased by 27.5% to US$333.6
million (2016: US$261.7 million) for the year ended 31 December
2017 as a result of more stripping cost to mine low grade ore. At
the end of 2017, the mining area already passed the low grade
ore area.

The decrease in purchases for trading of mineral and metal
products was primarily due to the decrease in trade volume of
copper blister.

The decrease in processing costs was mainly attributable to the
implementation of cost saving measures, lower reagent price and
lower power cost. Ruashi Mine had reduced dependence on
diesel generators, and relied more on the lower cost local
electricity supply. Current efficiencies for the Electro-winning
process resulted in additional power savings. The debottle-neck
project impacted positively on production by increasing the plants
processing capacity.
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Gross Profit

The gross profit of the Group increased by 4,742% from US$2.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2016 to US$116.2
million for the year ended 31 December 2017. The increase in
copper and cobalt prices and increase in cobalt production
volumes were the main causes of increase in the gross profit.
The gross profit margin increased from 0.6% in 2016 to 21.2% in
2017.

E X

AEBEFHEZE-ZE—A"F+=ZA=1+—
HIEFER2ABEERTIEMA742%EEBEZ
E—t+tHF+-A=T—HILEFEN116.28E
En SGEERGEEELARERNEMN
FEFRE EFMNEHR-ZT—RF 20.6%IE M
BEZE—tF2212%-°

Net Financing Costs 7 B B B A
2017 2016
—E—+F —E—RF
US$’000 US$'000
FER E
Financing income BRI A 986 686
Financing cost B 7 B AR (8,673) (6,832)
(7,687) (6,146)

The net financing costs increased by 25.1% from US$6.1 million
to US$7.7 million during 2017. There was an increase of US$0.3
million and US$1.8 million for the financing income and financing
costs for 2017 compared with 2016.

The increase in finance income was mainly due to increase in
bank interest income from time deposit in Hong Kong.

The increase in finance costs was mainly due to the increase in
interest on perpetual subordinated convertible securities
(“PSCS”) by US$1.1 million and increase in average interest rate
during 2017.

Other Gains and Losses

The significant increase in other losses during 2017 was mainly
due to a significant unrealised exchange loss of approximately
US$16.6 million derived from the conversion of VAT
(“Value-added tax”) receivables denominated in CDF which
depreciated.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Selling and Distribution Costs

The costs mainly represent the off-mine costs incurred when the
Group sells its copper and cobalt under the mining operations,
and they primarily comprise of transportation expenses, freight
expenses and custom clearing expenses. The breakdown of
selling and distribution costs is as follows:

HERDHEHEA

ZERAETZEAEERNEELRBEER 2
MRERMEE ZBBIKA  EEZREE
BAX  BERXURBEAX - HERDH
BAZBAHANT

2017 2016
—e—tF  —F5F
Us$’000 US$'000
FTEx ES

Off-mine costs: TEiZ MR AN
Transportation Eiy 276 335
Freight BE 19,470 13,156
Clearing costs of export H O EBR AR 10,946 9,350
Others Hith 565 599
Total Selling and Distribution Costs HEER D HERA 31,257 23,440

Selling and distribution costs increased by 33.3% from US$23.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2016 to US$31.3 million
for the year ended 31 December 2017. This was primarily due to
the higher production volume of cobalt and tonnage sold.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses decreased by 1.4% from US$20.9
million for the year ended 31 December 2016 to US$20.6 million
for the year ended 31 December 2017. Administrative expenses
mainly include staff costs and mining royalties payable to the
minority shareholders and local government of the Operating
Mines in Africa and other operating expenses of the Group.

Reversal of Impairment Loss

During the year under review, the Group recorded a non-cash
reversal of impairment loss of US$17.1 million on the mineral
rights (2016: reversal of impairment loss of US$67.8 million),
since there were increases in copper and cobalt prices towards
the end of the year as well as successful implementation of
cost-saving plans as compared to 2016.

The reversal of impairment loss was made in relation to Ruashi
Mine in the DRC in 2017.
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The reversal of impairment loss was resulted from the change in
value of the principal parameters used in the 2016 impairment
assessment in the mining operations, mainly the higher
estimated price for commodities, namely copper and cobalt, and
the lower estimated cost resulted from the successful
implementation of cost control measures in 2017.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, despite the recovery
in copper and cobalt price towards the end of 2016, the
production plan of a developing project of the Group has been
delayed mainly due to additional work performed. This additional
work is neither budgeted nor planned. The recoverable amount
of the relevant assets has been determined on the basis of their
value in use. The recoverable amount was determined based on
the cash flow projections derived from the current mine plan,
production reserves and estimated future copper and cobalt
prices. The pre-tax discount rate used in measuring value in use
was 14.8% (2016: 14.8%). Accordingly, an impairment loss in
respect of exploration and evaluation assets of US$14,017,000
for the related CGU was recognised in profit or loss during the
year ended 31 December 2016. During the year ended 31
December 2017, the mine commence the trial-production stage,
and there is no impairment recognised or reversed after
impairment assessment has been performed as at 31 December
2017.

The key value of input used in the valuation comprise forecast
long term copper price over LOM at a range from US$6,500 per
tonne to US$7,500 per tonne; and forecast long term cobalt price
was US$55,115 per tonne. The discount rate, as another key
value of input, remained stable in 2017 as a result of no
significant change of risk profiles of the countries of the
respective mines are located. Moreover, the successful
optimization of respective current mine plans in 2017, improved
the cost structure, gave rise to favourable effect to the reversal of
the impairment loss.

Given the nature of the Group’s activities, the valuation method
adopted for each mine was determined based on discounting the
respective cash flow projections to derive the value in use as the
recoverable amount.
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Income Tax Expense/(Credit)

The Group is subject to taxes in Hong Kong, DRC, Zambia and
South Africa due to its business operations in these jurisdictions.
An income tax expense of US$7.7 million was derived for the
year ended 31 December 2017 as opposite to the income tax
credit of US$3.0 million in 2016. The increase in income tax
expense was primarily due to the increase in profit before tax in
2017 as compared with 2016. The income tax credit in 2016 was
mainly resulted from the recognition of estimated tax losses and
the deferred tax credit from the movements in the property, plant
and equipment, mineral rights and exploration and evaluation
assets arising from the mining operations.

Profit for the Year

As a result of the above, the Group recorded a consolidated
profit of US$53.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2017
as compared to that of US$6.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2016.

Earnings before interest (net finance costs), income
tax, depreciation and amortisation and impairment
loss impact (“EBITDA”)

The EBITDA of the Group is derived as follows:

FrEBipx, (ER)

AEEERERER AR (£) BHEZKE
F2EBEBMAMNZE R LR ZBE
BE-ZE—tF+ A=+ -HLFENHR
BEAXR/TTEERT BT —XFAH
RIFGHRERIOEERT - FIEHFEEM
FERAR-ZT-—tHFZRBABNBRZ =
T-NFHMEM  — - R"FEESHEH
BRDETEHNBEIRBEEBAESE 25
BIREREUARABBEYE - MERRE - BE
BUARBERKRFEEE S EITIELS E
& o

FERER

HRN SR REEREBEE-2—tF+=
B=1t—BLEEEZ578 243488
T HEBRBE=—E-A~Et+=ZA=t+—HL
FEAGIEEET

RtFRE CERBRAR) -8R -TER
BEURBREEESE5ER (TEBITDAY)

NEBZEBITDANR TREH !

2017 2016
—B-tF —E-RF
Us$’000 UsS$’000
FERT E
Profit for the year FrmA (FBE) 53,435 6,314
Add: Net finance costs hn: F B R AR 7,687 6,146
Add(Less): Income tax expense(credit) G - RS8R GE%) 7,750 (2,993)
Add: Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1l : #)3% - BERREITE 43,422 46,888
Add: Amortisation of mineral rights o EERE 7,030 10,973

Add: Reversal of impairment loss recognised n: RBEERRZBE
in respect of mineral rights [t e (17,080) (67,765)

Add: Impairment loss recognised in respect of mn: RBERFEEE

exploration and evaluation assets BRZBEEE - 14,017
EBITDA EBITDA 102,244 13,580

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 =& — t £ #§

45



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEETREAST

46

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had bank balances and
cash of approximately US$75.2 million as compared to US$96.4
million as at 31 December 2016.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had total bank borrowings
of US$365.3 million in which the bank borrowings of US$133.9
million are due within one year, bank borrowings of US$197.4
million are due within 2 to 5 years and bank borrowings of US$34
million are due over 5 years.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had loans from related
companies of US$126.2 million which are due within one year.

The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2017 was
47.8% compared to 55.1% as at 31 December 2016. Gearing
ratio is defined as net debt over total equity, and net debt is
derived from total borrowings (including amount due to an
intermediate holding company and amount due to a fellow
subsidiary) less bank balances and cash. The decrease in the
gearing ratio was due to the decrease in bank borrowings in
2017 as compared to 2016 and increase of net asset in 2017.

For the year under review, the Group has financed its operations
with loan facilities provided by banks, borrowings from related
companies and internally generated cash flows.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Investments

During the year, the Group entered into a joint venture agreement
(the “JV Agreement”) with Junhe Holdings Limited (the “JV
partner”), a company established in the PRC and a subsidiary of
Junhe Group, in relation to the formation of Shanghai Jinchuan
Junhe Economic Development Co., Ltd (the “JV Company”), a
limited liability company in the PRC.

Pursuant to the JV Agreement, it was intended that the
shareholding of the JV Company would be held as to 60% by the
Group and to 40% by the JV Partner. The total registered capital
(which was equal to the total investment to be made by the
Group and the JV Partner) of the JV Company was RMB100
million.

Except the investment mentioned above, the Group did not
undertake any material acquisitions or disposals of investments
during the year under review.
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BEETREST

Issue of New Shares

On 20 March 2017, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement with SD Hi-Speed Investment HK Limited (the
“Subscriber”). Pursuant to the subscription agreement, the
Company issued 483,000,000 new ordinary shares to SD
Hi-Speed Investment HK Limited, an independent third party, by
way of subscription at the price of HK$0.80 per subscription
share, and raised gross proceeds of approximately
HK$386,400,000 on 28 April 2017. The closing market price of
the Company’s shares was HK$1.17 per share, which was the
closing price on 20 March 2017, which being the date on which
the subscription agreement was signed. The net price per each
new share was HK$0.796. The said subscription of shares was
intended to serve as a strategic cooperative partnership between
the Group and the Subscriber, whereby the Group has leveraged
on the additional funding from the subscription to strengthen its
financial position and enhance its funding liquidity for internal
operations, while further broadening the shareholder base and
capital base of the Group. The net proceeds has been also used
for general capital working purposes.

Significant Capital Expenditures

During the year, the Group acquired property, plant and
equipment of US$26.4 million (2016: US$45.6 million) and
incurred expenditures on exploration and evaluation assets of
US$30.7 million (2016: US$23.0 million) for the Group’s mining
operations.

Details of Charges on the Group’s Assets

The Group’s inventories of US$4.2 million (2016: US$3.9 million)
and trade and other receivables of US$3.9 million (2016: US$4.0
million), respectively, were pledged to secure general banking
facilities granted to the Group.

Details of Contingent Liabilities

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group received a
claim from a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary for the
payment of overdue royalties together with interest and
compensation. Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have
any other material contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2017.

RITH IR G

RZE—tF=A=+H  ARAAHELRSRE
RERE (BEB)BRLARA(RBADNETL
RIBWE - RIBRBHE > A28URBAFRX
BRABESRIABERH0.80BTEILRSEE
HERE (BB BRAA(ABILFE=7) %
17483,000,000/ R T Z B R —Z— L F
A=+ N\ BEEMmEIEHEE386,400,000
BT AR FRMBZ2ERUTHEAR1ATET
R -—ZE—tF=ZA-THEITRABHRE
BzWmE - BRITBRM 2 FEKE0.79678
Lo LMBRMABEERLIAEBMEREA
Z BN SEBERER Bt XEED
FEABRBFEENESEZEEGERRR
HaHESRBMERATEECR BFE
—SBATXEENRREBRERNER - AT
BREFEICAE-—REEES -

ERERAX

FR - AEEREYE BMENREEE264
BBEET(ZE—XRF 456B8XT) UK
MAEBRBEXRELEDHRETIEEERX
30.7EBERT(ZZE—RF 2308BERN) °

AEBEREERS

REBZHFEA2BEET(ZE—RHF 3.9
BEET)URESREMEKRFIEIIEESE
T(ZE—ARF4088%R) ' E2BlEA
AEBMERZ —RBTERZIKW -

FREEFE

RBE-ZE—+tH+-A=1t—-HLFE K
SEERE -BHNBAR - BFERRRE
HE R ERINRVRECHE - ERFE
KEEME o BRERBEN » AEER-ZF—t
FTZA=+-—BUYEEMHMEAIARE
& o

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 =& — t £ #§

mn



48

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEETREAST

Foreign Exchange Risk Management

The reporting currency of the Group is US$ and the functional
currencies of subsidiaries of the Group are mainly US$. The
Group’s significant assets are in DRC and the Group’s foreign
exchange risk exposed to CDF. The Group monitors its exposure
to foreign currency exchange risk on a on-going basis. There
have been fluctuations in the exchange rate of CDF against US$
in recent years. Given the exchange rate peg between HK$ and
US$, the Group is not exposed to significant exchange rate risk
of HK$.

MINERAL RESOURCES AND MINERAL
RESERVES

The Group’s Mineral Resources as at 31 December 2017 are
estimated to contain 4,462kt copper and 362kt cobalt. Ruashi
Mine contains 571kt copper and 75kt cobalt; Chibuluma South
Mine contains 106kt copper; Kinsenda Project contains 1,140kt
copper; Musonoi Project contains 868kt copper and 287kt cobalt;
and Lubembe Project contains 1,777kt copper.

The Group’s Mineral Reserves as at 31 December 2017 are
estimated to contain 484kt copper and 26kt cobalt. Ruashi Mine
contains 170kt copper and 26kt cobalt; Chibuluma South Mine
contains 33kt copper; and Kinsenda Project contains 281kt
copper.
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PROSPECTS

As commodities price rose on more positive macroeconomic
data, cobalt price had increased significantly as a result of
growing new energy vehicle and battery market during 2017.
Copper and cobalt prices are anticipated to show a steady to
optimistic outlook in medium to long term. Cost control and
efficiency improvement continue to be undertaken across the
Group to drive operational performance. Apart from the operating
mines of Ruashi Mine and Chibuluma South Mine in the Group’s
African mining operations, Kinsenda Project had finished its
commissioning of concentrator. Establishment of key systems
including pre-dewatering, ventilation and backfill systems are in
progress to ensure the target for production with full capacity.
Kinsenda will be in production from early 2018. Musonoi Project,
a quality copper and cobalt property, is gaining momentum for its
project progress. The Group will continue to work on the site
establishment work. The Group is committed to explore ore
resources within our own mine site as well as surrounding areas
that could extend the mine life and increase output and
production volumes to achieve the growth. Meanwhile, the Group
has been actively pursuing other suitable copper or cobalt
projects to capture opportunities for strategic development. The
Group has strengthened its capital base upon the subscription of
shares to a Subscriber during 2017. With a solid financial
foundation, the Group also plans to leverage on its parent
company, Jinchuan Group’s strengths and experience to
capitalize the growth in demand of commodities market. The
Group remains confident in delivering attractive returns to the
Company’s shareholders in the long run.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had 4,302 (2016: 3,991)
employees, which comprised 1,985 (2016: 2,017) permanent
workers and 2,317 (2016: 1,974) contractor’s employees.
Employees receive competitive remuneration packages including
salary and medical and other benefits. Key staff may also be
entitled to performance bonus and grant of options shares of the
Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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The Company is committed to the establishment of good
corporate governance practices and procedures. The corporate
governance principles of the Company emphasize accountability
and transparency to shareholders. Periodic review will be made
to the corporate governance practices to comply with the
regulatory requirements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has complied throughout the year ended 31
December 2017 with the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”), except for code provisions A.5.1 and E.1.2. Key
corporate governance principles and practices of the Company
as well as the details of the foregoing deviations are summarized
below.

Code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code stipulates that the
chairman of a listed issuer should attend the issuer’s annual
general meeting. Mr. Yang Zhigiang, the then Chairman of the
Company, was unable to attend the Company’s 2017 annual
general meeting held on 19 June 2017 (the “2017 AGM”) as he
had conflicting business schedule. Other Directors and members
of the Audit Committee, Remuneration and Nomination
Committee, Risk Management Committee, Strategy and
Investment Committee and the then Chief Financial Officer
attended the 2017 AGM. The Company considers that their
presence is also sufficient for answering questions from and
effective communication with shareholders present at the 2017
AGM.

For details relating to the non-compliance with code provision
A.5.1 of the CG Code, please refer to section headed “Board of
Directors” on page 52 of this report.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of
conduct regarding the Directors’ dealings in the Company’s
securities. Based on specific enquiry made to the Directors, all of
the Directors have confirmed that they had complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code for the year ended
31 December 2017.

ARABRBNEIRFNEEEGERRERF
ARNBEEERRUBRALTRRBERE
HE HEXEAEREHERBRTUET

EERE -

EERTA

ARABRERBE-ZE—tF+=-A=+—8”
tFER—BEEBSTEBHARIFAERAT
(B pr) 2 LR A ([ EH 8 Al ) B8
14FTEECEERTR (TREF R ) B=FAlE
X SRR EASARE A 2MKBRIN o KD
AEELEERBAREH UK AN 2 7Bk
BIEAS AT XA -

EFR 2 FRMRIEEARRE LT #T
ARZRERAHBEBRITAZRRBFRG - &
RAEREEZESEIRELTRLERS
BEREAESHAREEMREHEAQIFRN
“E—EtFARAThEETZRREBFRE
ZZ2—tFERRAFAE]) - HMWESH
RELZZES FMRREEZES ERE
BEZEEUREREREZEGZEFRAK
BUNEREEZEFEMBELDREHESS
—tERRBFAE - XOARD - WEHFE
FERHARE-_Z-—LtFRRBEFAEES
BRRZREEARETSRREGRESR -

BRERAETE S FARTEAS G2
B EEMAREEE EEE |5 -

ESETRESXS

ARRERESEEARNARSRMN TR
BUF SX10FF B BB L RITAESETR S
RENBEEFAU(REFHDEREERSH
THTH - EHESFHEEEAR - IEE
EHERR  FHEERBE-ZFT-—tHF+=
A=t—-BLFE-BEBFRETFAZRE -

JINCHUAN GROUP INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES CO. LTD £ JI| & MERBRAQF



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
HEE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The main duty of the Board is to act in good faith for the benefit
of the Company and the shareholders as a whole with proper
delegation to the management of the Company according to the
articles of association of the Company.

The Board, as at the date of this report, comprised eight
Directors of whom two were executive Directors, three were
non-executive Directors and three were independent
non-executive Directors. The Company will continuously evaluate
its Board structure to ensure sound corporate governance is in
place.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance in respect of legal action against Directors.

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31
December 2017 and up to the date of this report were:

Executive directors:

Mr. GAO Tianpeng (Chief Executive Officer)"

Mr. QIAO Fugui'

Mr. YANG Zhigiang (Ex-Chairman of the Board)?

Mr. ZHANG Sanlin (Ex-Deputy Chairman of the Board)?
Mr. ZHANG Zhong?

Non-executive directors:

Mr. CHEN Dexin (re-designated as a non-executive Director from
an executive Director with effect from 23 August 2017)
(Chairman of the Board')(Ex-Chief Executive Officer?)

Mr. ZHANG Youda'

Mr. ZENG Weibing®

Independent non-executive directors:

Mr. WU Chi Keung

Mr. YEN Yuen Ho, Tony

Mr. POON Chiu Kwok*

Mr. Neil Thacker MACLACHLANS®

Appointed with effect from 23 August 2017.
Resigned with effect from 23 August 2017.
Appointed with effect from 28 April 2017.
Appointed with effect from 21 March 2017.
Resigned with effect from 31 January 2017.
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During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company was
once unable to meet the following requirements due to the
resignation of Mr. Neil Thacker Maclachlan as an independent
non-executive Director, and a member of both the Audit
Committee and the Remuneration and Nomination Committee of
the Company on 31 January 2017:

(a) Listing Rule 3.10(1), which prescribes that the board of
directors of a listed issuer must include at least three
independent non-executive directors;

(b) Listing Rule 3.10A, which prescribes that a listed issuer
must appoint independent non-executive directors
representing at least one-third of the board;

(c) Listing Rule 3.21, which prescribes that a listed issuer’s
audit committee must comprise a minimum of three
members;

(d) Listing Rule 3.25, which prescribes that the majority of the
remuneration committee members must be independent
non-executive directors of the listed issuer; and

(e) Code provision A.5.1 of the CG Code, which prescribes
that the majority of the nomination committee members
must be independent non-executive directors of the listed
issuer.

The Company had subsequently fully complied with the aforesaid
Listing Rules and CG Code requirements upon its appointment
of Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok as an independent non-executive
Director and a member of both of the Audit Committee, and the
Remuneration and Nomination Committee of the Company on 21
March 2017.

The biographical details of the Directors are set out under the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management” in this
annual report. None of the members of the Board is related to
one another.
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MEETINGS ATTENDANCE

A total of 7 Board meetings, 2 Audit Committee meetings, 4
Remuneration and Nomination Committee meetings, 3 Risk
Management Committee meetings, 1 Strategy and Investment
Committee meeting, 2 Independent Board Committee meetings,
1 annual general meeting and 2 extraordinary general meetings
were held during the year ended 31 December 2017. In addition,
the Chairman held a meeting during the year ended 31
December 2017 with non-executive Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) without the presence of
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executive Directors. The following is a summary of the EECHFERRFRTER:
attendance of meetings of each Director in 2017:
Remuneration
and Risk  Strategyand  Independent Annual  Extraordinary
Audit ~ Nomination ~ Management  Investment Board General General
Directors Board  Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee  Committee Meeting Meeting
MR EREE  BHRRE BuEE e k=
£z 32 ENZRE RAZES 3 3 8 BEARE RHAe
GAO Tianpeng () SR 2 - - 00 (i - 00 00
QIAO Fugui ® EEE0 20 - 000 - 1N - 000 00
YANG Zhigjang® B30 15 - - - - - o 0
ZHANG Sanfin® "M 45 - 34 - 000 - 1 012
ZHANG Zhong®! Ra0 565 - 1N 33 000 - 1 22
CHEN Dexin © R0 mn - 33 33 1N - 1 22
ZHANG Youda ™ REED 20 00 - 000 1N - 000 00
ZENG Weibing ® gEan 26 - - - 1N - o 010
WU ChiKeung iE mn 22 44 33 - 22 1N 22
YEN Yuen Ho, Tony Bt mn 22 44 I3 - 22 1N 22
POON Chiu Kwok © EREY 6/6 1N 33 - - 00 1 1N
Neil Thacker Neil Thacker
MACLACHLAN (@ MACLACHLAN (@ 00 00 000 - 000 01 000 o
Notes: MIEE -
1. Mr. Gao Tianpeng was appointed as an executive Director, a 1. HMAEEER-_ZB—+tENA-T=HEZHFE

member of the Risk Management Committee and a member of the
Strategy and Investement Committee with effect from 23 August
2017.

2. Mr. Qiao Fugui was appointed as an executive Director, a member
of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee, and a member of
the Strategy and Investment Committee with effect from 23 August
2017.

8. Mr. Yang Zhigiang’s alternate has also attended two Board
meetings on behalf of Mr. Yang. Mr. Yang Zhigiang resigned as an
executive Director with effect 23 August 2017.

4. Mr. Zhang Sanlin resigned as an executive Director, a member of
the Remuneration and Nomination Committee and the Chairman
of the Strategy and Investment Committee with effect from 23
August 2017.
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5. Mr. Zhang Zhong resigned as a member of the Remuneration and
Nomination Committee with effect from 21 March 2017. Mr. Zhang
also resigned as an executive Director, a member of the Risk
Management Committee and a member of the Strategy and
Investment Committee with effect from 23 August 2017.

6. Mr. Chen Dexin was appointed as a member of the Remuneration
and Nomination Committee with effect from 21 March 2017.

7. Mr. Zhang Youda was appointed as a non-executive Director, a
member of the Audit Committee, a member of Risk Management
Committee and a member of the Strategy and Investment
Committee with effect from 23 August 2017.

8. Mr. Zeng Weibing’s alternate has also attended one Board meeting
on behalf of Mr. Zeng. Mr. Zeng Weibing was appointed as a
non-executive Director with effect from 28 April 2017. Mr. Zeng
was also appointed as a member of Strategy and Investment
Committee with effect from 23 August 2017.

9. Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, a member of the Audit Committee and a
member of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee with
effect from 21 March 2017.

10. Mr. Neil Thacker Maclachlan resigned as an independent
non-executive Director, a member of the Audit Committee, a
member of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee and a
member of the Strategy and Investment Committee with effect
from 31 January 2017.

The Board met regularly during the year and on an ad hoc basis
as required by business needs. The Board’s primary focus is to
determine and review the overall strategic development of the
Company and its subsidiaries and to oversee the achievement of
the plans in relation thereto. Daily operational decisions are
delegated to the executive Directors and the senior management
of the Company. The delegated functions and work tasks are
periodically reviewed by the Board. The management needs to
provide all necessary information to the Board to enable the
Board to make a comprehensive consideration in the meeting.
Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any
significant transactions entered into by the above-mentioned
officers.
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CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OFFICER

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the roles of Chairman
of the Board (“Chairman”) and Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”) of
the Company were separate and performed by different
individuals. As at the date of this report, the Chairman of the
Company is Mr. Chen Dexin and the CEO is Mr. Gao Tianpeng.
The Chairman provides leadership and is responsible for the
effective functioning and leadership of the Board. The CEO
focuses on the Company’s business development and daily
management and operations generally.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors are independent of the
management and hence the Company considers that they are
free of any relationship that could potentially interfere with the
exercise of their independent judgment. None of the independent
non-executive Directors has any business or financial interests
with the Company nor has any relationship with other Directors.
The Company considers all of the independent non-executive
Directors are independent.

TERMS OF APPOINTMENT OF
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All non-executive Directors are appointed for fixed terms, with
Mr. Chen Dexin and Mr. Zhang Youda entered into letters of
appointment with the Company with a term ending 22 August
2020, while Mr. Zeng Weibing, Mr. Wu Chi Keung, Mr. Yen Yuen
Ho, Tony and Mr. Poon Chi Kwok entered into letters of
appointment with the Company with a term or revised term
ending on 31 December 2019, or the date on which he shall
retire from office in accordance with the articles of association of
the Company and the Listing Rules and not having been
re-elected or his appointment is terminated before that.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

a)

Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee with
written specific terms of reference in compliance with the
CG Code provisions. As at 31 December 2017, the Audit
Committee of the Company comprised a non-executive
Director, namely Mr. Zhang Youda, and three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wu Chi Keung (being
the Chairman of Audit Committee), Mr. Yen Yuen Ho, Tony
and Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok, who together have the relevant
accounting and financial management expertise, industrial
knowledge, legal and business experience to discharge
their duties. The Audit Committee has held 2 meetings
during the year ended 31 December 2017. During the year,
the Audit Committee reviewed and approved the interim
and annual results of the Company, reviewed and
recommended the internal control and risk management
matters and internal audit function of the Group, considered
and recommended the re-appointment and the
remuneration of the external auditors and reviewed the
continuing connected transactions of the Group and
discussed audit issues with the external auditors.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee are as follows:

. to review the interim and annual financial statements
before they are submitted to the Board for approval;

. to make recommendations to the Board on, the
appointment, the re-appointment and removal of the
external auditors, and approve the remuneration and
terms of engagement of the external auditors, and any
questions of resignation or dismissal of that auditors;
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. to review and monitor the external auditors’
independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of
the audit process in accordance with applicable
standards;

. to review the Company’s financial controls, internal
controls, and risk management systems;

. to review the Company’s financial and accounting
policies and practices;

. to report to the Board on the matters set out in the
CG Code as required by the Stock Exchange; and

. to review the terms and conditions of continuing
connected transactions of the Company.

Remuneration and Nomination Committee

The Company has established a Remuneration and
Nomination Committee with written specific terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code provisions. As
at 31 December 2017, the Remuneration and Nomination
Committee comprised five members, of whom one was
executive Director, namely Mr. Qiao Fugui, one was
non-executive Director, namely Mr. Chen Dexin, and three
were independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wu
Chi Keung (being the Chairman of Remuneration and
Nomination Committee), Mr. Yen Yuen Ho, Tony and
Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok.

The principal duties of the Remuneration and Nomination
Committee are to perform the remuneration and nomination
functions delegated by the Board.

Remuneration functions

In terms of the remuneration functions, the duties of the
Remuneration and Nomination Committee are as follows:

. to make recommendations with respect to the
remuneration of Directors and Senior Management of
the Company for approval by the Board;

. to review the remuneration package and recommend
salaries, bonuses, including the incentive awards for
Directors and Senior Management of the Company;

. to administer and make determinations with regard to
the Company’s long term incentive schemes,
embracing the share option scheme and share
incentive scheme (when appropriate); and
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. to administer and make determinations with regard to
the Group’s Key Performance Indicators (“KPI”)
system for short term incentive purposes.

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee sets out
annually its recommendations on the remuneration
packages of Directors and Senior Management. In
determining the packages for a Director and Senior
Management, the Remuneration and Nomination
Committee considers various factors, including market
comparability, complexity of duties, and performance.

In order to attract, retain, and motivate executives and key
employees serving the Company, the Company has
adopted a share option scheme on 20 June 2012 and a
share incentive scheme on 2 June 2015. Such incentive
schemes enables the eligible persons to obtain an
ownership interest in the Company and thus to reward the
participants who contribute to the success of the
Company’s operation.

Nomination functions

In terms of the nomination functions, the duties of the
Remuneration and Nomination Committee are as follows:

. to perform evaluation of the Board regarding the
structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board on a regular
basis and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy;

. to identify, select and nominate individuals suitably
qualified to become Board members and make
recommendations to the Board;

. to assess the independence of independent
non-executive Directors on its appointment or when
their independence is called into question;

. to review the Board diversity policy, as appropriate,
and review the measurable objectives that the Board
has set for implementing the Board diversity policy,
and the progress on achieving the objectives; and

. to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of the Directors and
their succession plans.
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The Remuneration and Nomination Committee has held 4
meetings in 2017. During the year ended 31 December
2017, the Remuneration and Nomination Committee
reviewed and recommended to the Board on the
compensation packages, policy and structure of the
Directors and the Senior Management of the Company,
reviewed the management structure of the Company and
the composition of the Board, considered and
recommended to the Board on the re-election of the retiring
Directors at the Company’s 2017 AGM, considered and
recommended to the Board on the change in compositions
of the Board and Board Committees during the year,
assessed the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors newly appointed during the year,
considered and recommended to the Board on the
remuneration packages for the directors newly appointed/
re-designated during the year.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the
annual remuneration of the members of the senior
management by band for the year ended 31 December
2017 is set out below:
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Remuneration band 2017
5 9 50 —e_tg
Number of
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Details of the remuneration of each Director for the year
ended 31 December 2017 are set out in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Other Committees

As at 31 December 2017, apart from Audit Committee and
Remuneration and Nomination Committee, the Company
has 2 other Board Committees, namely Risk Management
Committee and Strategy and Investment Committee.

As at 31 December 2017, the Risk Management Committee
of the Company comprised an executive Director, namely
Mr. Gao Tianpeng, two non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Chen Dexin and Mr. Zhang Youda, and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wu Chi
Keung and Mr. Yen Yuen Ho, Tony (being the Chairman of
Risk Management Committee).
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The function of Risk Management Committee is to oversee
the Group’s risk management activities and provide
recommendations to the Board on risk strategy and control
measures to mitigate the overall risk arise from market
fluctuation and other external factors.

The Risk Management Committee has held 3 meetings
during the year ended 31 December 2017. During the year,
the Risk Management Committee reviewed and enhanced
the risk management system of the Company, assessed
the potential risk of the significant trading contracts and
loan agreements, and made relevant recommendations to
the Board.

As at 31 December 2017, the Strategy and Investment
Committee of the Company comprised two executive
Directors, namely Mr. Gao Tianpeng and Mr. Qiao Fugui,
and three non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chen Dexin
(being the Chairman of Strategy and Investment
Committee), Mr. Zhang Youda and Mr. Zeng Weibing.

The functions of Strategy and Investment Committee is to
formulate the long term strategic development of the Group
and provide recommendations to the Board on the
acquisition and disposal of investments, as well as to
oversee the Company’s overseas assets and provide
advice and recommendations to the Board on managing
overseas assets in a sustainable manner and enhancing
better return.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS EXERBAE

ESERBEETAZRXAERTEEE
SAMEE W EMA] A ERERE -

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions with written specific terms of reference in
compliance with the CG Code provisions.

The duties of the Board in respect of the corporate governance  EREHBELXERBAE2BERMNT -
functions are summarized as follows:

to develop and review the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance;

to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and Senior
Management;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to Directors and employees;
and

to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report in the
Company’s annual report.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance. As such,
the Board has implemented a policy concerning diversity of
board members in accordance with A.5.6 of the CG Code. The
purpose of the policy is to set out the approach to achieve
diversity on the Board.

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced
development, the Company sees increasing diversity at the
Board level as an essential element in supporting the attainment
of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development. In
designing the Board’s composition as well as the selection of
candidates for directorship, Board diversity has been considered
from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The ultimate decision will be made by Board on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

During the year, the Board has reviewed its composition under
diversified perspectives and considered the Board to be
adequately diversified. The Board has also reviewed the Board
diversity policy and monitored the implementation of this policy.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2017. The Directors were not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions which may cast
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern. Accordingly, the Directors have prepared the
financial statements on a going-concern basis.

The Audit Committee and the Board have reviewed the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2017.

The responsibilities of the external auditor with respect to
financial reporting are set out in the independent auditor’s report
attached to the financial statements.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to establish, maintain
and review the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems. While, it is management’s role to
set the appropriate tone from the top and take charge of the
designing, operating and implementing an appropriate system of
internal control and risk management to manage risks.

Our Risk Management Framework

The Board has established on-going and responsive risk
management and internal control systems and processes, which
are designed to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure to
achieve strategic objectives, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss. Such processes involve:

- Understanding organizational objectives;

- Identifying risks associated with achieving or not the
organisational objectives and assessing the likelihood and
potential impact of particular risks; and

- Developing remedial action plans to address and monitor
identified risks.

Through the Chief Risk Officer, the Risk Management Committee
oversees the day-to-day risks of the major activities across the
Group. The business units of the Group, being the risk owners,
identify, evaluate, monitor and mitigate their own risks and report
to Chief Risk Officer on a monthly basis. The Chief Risk Officer
assesses and liaises with the risk owners at each scheduled
meeting, the results of their activities during the preceding period
pertaining to the adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls,
including but not limited to, any indication of failings or material
weaknesses in those controls. The Chief Risk Officer is
accountable to CEO, where the CEO is accountable to the Board
for the Group’s performance and the implementation of the
Board’s strategies and policies, including policies on risk
management and internal control.
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Internal Control

The Company has outsourced its internal audit function to an
independent external consultant. The independent external
consultant is responsible for conducting internal control reviews
on operational, financial and compliance controls of the major
operating entities and key business units in Africa using a
risk-based approach. Internal control reviews have been
conducted during the year according to the annual internal audit
plan approved by the Audit Committee. During the process of
internal audit reviews, the independent external consultant
identified internal control deficiencies and weaknesses, proposed
recommendations for improvements and remedial actions with
management and process owners. The management has taken
certain remedial actions accordingly and has planned to refine
certain internal control procedures in due course. The results of
the internal control reviews and the management’s remedial
actions have been reported to the Audit Committee.

Review of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

An overall review of the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems is conducted annually. Through the
Audit Committee, the Board has conducted an annual review of
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 and
considered the risk management and internal control systems
effective and adequate. The review covers all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls, risk
management functions and making any necessary updates to
the systems. The scope and quality of ongoing monitoring of risk
management and the internal control systems have been
assessed.

The Board has also reviewed and confirmed the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions, and
their training programmes and budget.

INSIDE INFORMATION

All employees are bound by the Group’s Code of Conduct to
keep all inside information strictly confidential until the disclosure
of such information is appropriately approved and refrain from
accepting personal benefits through the power or authority
derived from their positions. The Company will continue to review
the effectiveness of its internal procedures and internal controls
over handling and dissemination of inside information and update
its Code of Conduct and/or internal procedures from time to time.
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PROFESSIONAL TRAINING AND
DEVELOPMENT

Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as a director of the
Company and of the conduct, business activities and
development of the Company.

Directors participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. Internally facilitated briefings for Directors are arranged
and reading materials on relevant topics are provided to Directors
where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend
relevant training courses. During the year, the Company has
arranged in-house briefings or provided reading materials to all
of the then existing Directors, namely Mr. Gao Tianpeng,
Mr. Qiao Fugui, Mr. Chen Dexin, Mr. Zhang Youda, Mr. Zeng
Weibing, Mr. Wu Chi Keung, Mr. Yen Yuen Ho, Tony, Mr. Poon
Chiu Kwok, Mr. Yang Zhigiang, Mr. Zhang Sanlin, Mr. Zhang
Zhong and Mr. Neil Thacker Maclachlan, provided update to the
Directors on the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules
and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure
compliance and enhance the Directors’ awareness of good
corporate governance practices for the purpose of code provision
A.6.5 of the CG Code. All Directors have participated in
continuous professional development and provided a record of
training they received for the financial year ended 31 December
2017 to the Company.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary of the Company is currently Ms. So Yee
Kwan of Tricor Services Limited, an external service provider.
The primary contact of Ms. So at the Company is Ms. Sun Wei,
the General Legal Counsel and Head of Company Secretary
Department.

In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, the Company
Secretary of the Company has undertaken no less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training during the year ended 31
December 2017.

SHAREHOLDERS’ COMMUNICATION AND
RIGHTS

The Company is committed to ensuring the Group’s compliance
with its disclosure obligations under the Listing Rules and other
applicable laws and regulations. The Company would ensure all
shareholders and potential investors have equal opportunities to
receive and obtain the information published by the Company.
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The Company welcomes its shareholders to attend the general
meetings to express their opinions and encourages all Directors
to attend the general meetings to get into direct communications
with shareholders. The external auditors are also required to
attend the annual general meeting to assist the Directors in
answering any pertinent questions from shareholders. The
Company regularly releases information to its shareholders such
as annual and interim reports, circulars and notices of general
meetings in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Set out below are procedures for shareholders of the Company
to convene an extraordinary general meeting, put enquiries to
the Board and put proposals at shareholders’ meetings. These
procedures are generally governed by the articles of association
of the Company and applicable laws, rules and regulations,
which prevail over the below information in case of any
inconsistencies.

a) Procedures for shareholders of the Company to convene
an extraordinary general meeting

1. One or more shareholders of the Company holding,
at the date of deposit of requisition, not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all time have the right, by written
requisition, to require an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction
of any business specified in such requisition.

2.  The requisition must be deposited at the principal
office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event
the Company ceases to have such a principal office,
the registered office.

3. The requisition must specify the objects of the
meeting and be signed by the requisitionist(s). The
signature(s) of such requisitionist(s) will be verified by
the Company’s principal share registrars or branch
share registrars (where applicable).

4. On the condition that the requisition from the
requisitionist(s) is proper and in order, the Board
will within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed to convene an extraordinary
general meeting and such meeting for transacting the
business specified in the requisition shall be held
within 2 months after the deposit of such requisition.
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5. If the Board fails to proceed to convene an
extraordinary general meeting within 21 days from
the date of deposit of a valid requisition, the
requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them may
convene an extraordinary general meeting in the
same manner as that in which extraordinary general
meeting is to be convened by the Board, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.

b) Procedures for shareholders to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders of the Company who have enquiries for the
Board are most welcomed to contact the Company at any
time and such enquiries will be forwarded to the Board. The
contact details are as follows:

Address: Unit 3101, 31/F, United Centre, 95 Queensway,
Hong Kong

Facsimile: (852) 3919 7208

E-mail: info@jinchuan-intl.com

c) Procedures for shareholders to put proposals at general
meetings

Shareholders of the Company are advised to follow article
12.3 of the articles of association of the Company for
including a resolution through a valid requisition of an
extraordinary general meeting. Details are set out in
paragraph a) above.

During the year under review, the Company has not made any
changes to its articles of association. An up-to date version of the
articles of association of the Company is available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. Shareholders
may refer to the articles of association for further details of the
rights of shareholders.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Updated information of the Company is available to investors via
the Company’s website www.jinchuan-intl.com. All material
information such as circulars, annual and interim reports and
procedures for nomination of directors for election can be
accessed via the Company’s website.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Group’s external auditor is Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu,
Certified Public Accountants. The auditor’'s remuneration for the
year ended 31 December 2017 is US$439,000 out of which
US$370,000 was related to audit services for the consolidated
financial statements and US$69,000 was related to non-audit
services regarding the review of interim results and other
professional services.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFELSREERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
HITES

GAO Tianpeng (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Gao Tianpeng, aged 46, BEng and EMBA, was appointed
as the Chief Executive Officer and an executive Director of
Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd. since
August 2017. During his 25-year career in Jinchuan, he has
been working as the non-executive Director of the Company
for the period from 30 November 2010 to 21 March 2014, and
overseeing various matters including cost management,
financial management, international trading management, risk
management, foreign exchange business, capital operation
and equity division reform of Jinchuan Group and daily affairs
of the board of directors. He was also a manager of the Cost
Branch of Financial Department of Jinchuan Group, manager
of Financial Department of International Trading, general
manager of Risk Management Department, general manager
of Capital Operation Department, the general manager of
International Department of Resources Capital, vice general
manager of China Jinchuan Investment Holding Limited and
the director of Metorex successively. He has extensive
experience in financial cost management, risk management
and asset management.

QIAO Fugui

Mr. Qiao Fugui, aged 52, was appointed as an Executive
Director since August 2017. Mr. Qiao graduated in 1988 from
Central South University of Technology (now Central South
University) majoring in Mineral Exploration. He then obtained
his MSEE in 2005 from Kunming University of Science and
Technology majoring in Geological Engineering. Mr. Qiao is
currently the assistant of the president of Jinchuan Group and
the chairman and general manager of Metorex (subsidiary of
Jinchuan Group). During his 29-year career, Mr. Qiao has
served in various positions including acting as a
non-executive Director of the Company for the period from 30
November 2010 to 1 January 2014, and working in Jinchuan
as the vice manager of the Mining area 3 of Jinchuan Group,
vice director of the Mine Department (responsible for the
overall work), vice director of the Planning and Development
Department, general manager of the Mineral Resources
Department, manager of the Mining area 3 of Jinchuan
Group, Chairman of Gansu Jin Ao Mining Limited (a joint
venture of Jinchuan Group and BHP) (resigned in 2015) and
director of GobiMin Inc.* (resigned on 1 March 2018)
successively. He is a technical professional with extensive
operational management experience in mineral exploration
and development.

* The share of GobiMin Inc. listed on the TSX Venture Exchange
and the symbol of which is GMN.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFELEREERE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
FHUTES

CHEN Dexin (Chairman of the Board)

Mr. Chen Dexin, aged 48, professorate senior engineer,
completed his postgraduate studies in Economics and
Management. He is currently a director, the general manager
and the deputy party committee secretary of the Jinchuan
Group. He was an executive Director of the Company from
January 2014 to August 2017 and he was the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company from June 2016 to August 2017.
Mr. Chen was appointed as a non-executive Director and the
chairman of the Board since August 2017. Mr. Chen joined
the Jinchuan Group in July 1994 and since then has been
consecutively responsible for the mining technology and
management of Jing Hang Engineering Company ( #&I2
A 7] ) of the Jinchuan Group, No. 2 Mine ( = #& & ) of the
Jinchuan Group and No. 1 (Longshou) Mine ( BEE#& ) of the
Jinchuan Group. He was the acting chief executive officer
and the chairman of the board of directors of Metorex. He has
extensive operation and management experience in the
mining industry. He was also a non-executive director and the
deputy chairman of the board of Wesizwe Platinum Limited, a
company listed on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange in the
Republic of South Africa (the “South Africa”). He is the
chairman of the board of directors of Tibet Tian Yuan Minerals
Exploration Ltd since 2011.

ZHANG Youda

Mr. Zhang Youda, aged 44, started his career in 1991 after
getting his master degree of business administration. He was
appointed as a non-executive Director since August 2017. He
is a senior accountant, senior economist, leading talent in
accounting both in Gansu province and in China at large,
expert consultant of Internal Standards-Controlling Committee
of China’s Ministry of Finance, AAIA (Associate Member of
The Association of International Accountants) and CGMA
(Chartered Global Management Accountant). He is now the
general manager of Financial Department of Jinchuan Group,
and director of Gansu Bank as well as Gansu Province
Materials & Industry Group. He was the financial manager
and cost branch manager of Financial Departments of several
basic units, financial manager of construction site of Pakistan
35KM Highway Project, vice director manager of Financial
Department of Jinchuan Group. He is a finance professional
with extensive operational management experience in
financial management. He currently serves as non-executive
director of Bank of Gansu Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the
Stock Exchange; stock code: 2139).
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ZENG Weibing

Mr. Zeng Weibing, aged 48, holds a PhD and is a researcher of
engineering application technology. He was appointed as a
non-executive Director since April 2017. Mr. Zeng is currently the
legal representative and general manager of Shandong
High-Speed Investment Holding Co., Ltd.* ( LU SEIREZERE
PR 2 7l ), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Shandong Hi-Speed
Group Co., Ltd. (1 R & #& & B & PR 2 7 ), which is an
international conglomerate specialising in the investment,
construction, operation and management of highways,
expressways, railways, bridges ports and airports. Mr. Zeng
joined Shandong High-Speed Group Co., Ltd. in 1997 and since
then he has held several key positions in a number of important
projects. He has extensive experience in merger and
acquisitions, investment, asset management, project
management and development, market development and
operation management. Mr. Zeng currently serves as a member
of the supervisory board and the chairman of the Remuneration,
Nomination and Governance Committee of the Toulouse-Blagnac
Airport in France. Also, he serves as an executive director of
China Smarter Energy Group Holdings Limited (a company listed
on the Stock Exchange; stock code: 1004) from 16 August 2017.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
BYKHITES

WU Chi Keung

Mr. Wu Chi Keung, aged 61, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company since January 2011. He
graduated from Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as Hong
Kong Polytechnic University) in 1980 with a Higher Diploma in
Accountancy. He has more than 30 years of experience mainly in
financial audit and specializes in providing auditing and
assurance services, financial due diligence reviews, support
services for merger and acquisitions, corporate restructuring and
fund raising engagements. Mr. Wu’s prior experience in finance
mainly includes working with international accounting firms until
he retired as a partner from Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu in 2008.
Mr. Wu is currently the managing director of a family-owned
private company in Hong Kong engaging in property and other
investment activities. He is an independent non-executive
director of China Medical System Holdings Limited, Zhong Fa
Zhan Holdings Limited, Huabao International Holdings Limited,
YuanShengTai Dairy Farm Limited, Huajin International Holdings
Limited and Zhou Hei Ya International Holdings Company
Limited (the shares of these companies are listed on the Stock
Exchange). Mr. Wu was also an independent non-executive
director of COFCO Meat Holdings Limited from 23 June 2016 to
12 December 2017. Mr. Wu is an associate member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in
the United Kingdom.
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YEN Yuen Ho, Tony

Mr. Yen Yuen Ho, Tony, aged 70, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company since
August 2010. He is a solicitor of Hong Kong and the United
Kingdom. He is also a barrister and solicitor of Australia, and was
a member of The Law Reform Commission of Hong Kong.
Mr. Yen has been practicing law in Hong Kong since 1983 and
was the Law Draftsman of the Department of Justice in Hong
Kong from 1995 to 2007. Currently, Mr. Yen is an Adjunct
Professor of the Beijing Normal University and an Honorary
Court Member of the court of the Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology. He was an Adjunct Professor of the
City University of Hong Kong from July 2011 to June 2014. He is
a Director of the Hong Kong Institute for Public Administration
and an Honorary Legal Adviser to the Friends of Scouting, Scout
Association of Hong Kong. Additionally, Mr. Yen serves as the
Director of two secondary schools, the Chairman of the
Neighbourhood Advice Action Council and a Member of Heep
Hong Society’s Executive Council. He is also an Honorary
Adviser to the Pok Oi Hospital, Honorary Adviser to the Hong
Kong Academy of Nursing and the Honorary Legal Adviser to the
Shanghai Fraternity Association. Mr. Yen was appointed as an
Honorary Fellow of the School of Education, University of Hong
Kong in 2014. In the past years, he was appointed by the
HKSAR Government as a member of the Education Bureau’s
Panel of Review Board on School Complaints and as the
Vice-Chairman of the Social Welfare Lump Sum Grant
Independent Complaints Handling Committee. Mr. Yen also
serves as a guest speaker to various universities in Hong Kong.
He is an independent non-executive director of Panda Green
Group Limited, Alltronics Holdings Limited and WWPKG Holdings
Company Limited (the shares of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange). He was also an independent non-executive director
of Link Holdings Limited (the shares of which are listed on the
Stock Exchange) from June 2014 to October 2014. Mr. Yen was
in October 2015 appointed by China Minsheng Jiaye Investment
Co. Limited as an independent director.
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POON Chiu Kwok

Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok, aged 55, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director since March 2017, holds a master’s
degree in international accounting, a post-graduate diploma in
laws, a bachelor’s degree in laws and a bachelor’s degree in
business studies. He has years of experience in regulatory
affairs, corporate finance, listed companies governance and
management. He is an executive director, vice president and
company secretary of Huabao International Holdings Limited,
whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange. He currently
serves as an independent non-executive director of the following
companies listed on the Stock Exchange: AUX International
Holdings Limited, Changan Minsheng APLL Logistics Co., Ltd.,
Greentown Service Group Co. Ltd., Sany Heavy Equipment
International Holdings Company Limited, Sunac China Holdings
Limited, Tonly Electronics Holdings Limited, TUS International
Limited,Yuanda China Holdings Limited, Honghua Group Limited
and Yanzhou Coal Mining Company Limited. He also serves as a
non-executive director of Chong Kin Group Holdings Limited.
Mr. Poon is a fellow member of CPA Australia, The Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators, The Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and a member of its Technical
Consultation Panel,Mainland China Focus Group, Audit
Committee and Professional Development Committee. He is also
a fellow member and Associate Instructor of Hong Kong
Securities and Investment Institute.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

GAO Tianpeng

For details of Mr. Gao Tianpeng’s biography, please see the
sub-section headed “Executive Directors” on page 67.

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
HAN Xiao Qing

Ms. Han Xiao Qing, aged 49, was appointed as the Chief
Financial Officer of the Company since May 2017. Ms. Han
graduated from Beijing Polytechnic University with a Bachelor of
Science degree in Electronic Engineering and a Bachelor of
Science degree in Foreign Trade. She has studied at The
Securities Institute of Australia with major in Applied Investment
and Finance. Ms. Han has more than 20 years of experience in
the sector of natural resources. She has served as the Risk
Control Manager of China Nonferrous Metals Import & Export
Corporation, the Chief Financial Officer of China United Copper
Co., Ltd., Investment Manager of Minmetals Group, Head of
China Metals and Mining of ABN AMRO Bank N.V., China Metals
and Mining coordinator of UBS, Executive Director of the
Investment Bank Department (China) of Goldman Sachs, and
Senior Vice President of Shougang Fushan Resources Group
Ltd. Ms. Han was responsible for the initiation and execution of
several projects which have become the milestones in the history
of China’s metal and mining industry.

CHAIRMAN OF METOREX
QIAO Fugui

For details of Mr. Qiao Fugui’s biography, please see the
sub-section headed “Executive Directors” on page 67.

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER OF METOREX
YIN Weiwu

Mr. Yin Weiwu, aged 44, auditor. He was appointed as the CFO
of Metorex (Pty) Ltd since January 2018. He joined Jinchuan
Group in July 1997 and duties involved risk control, auditing and
financial management. Former financial manager of Jinchuan
Group Co. Ltd. Nickel Smelter and Jinchuan Group Marketing
Company.
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The Directors of the Company present their report and the
audited financial statements of the Company and the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 41 to the
consolidated financial statements. During the year, there were
no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal
activities.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group’s business and a description of the
principal risks and uncertainties being faced by the Group are
provided in the “Chairman’s Statement”, “CEO’s Report” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” sections of this annual
report. Particulars of important events affecting the Group
that have occurred since the end of the year, and indication
of likely future development in the Group’s business can also
be found in these sections and this “Report of the Directors”.
An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using
financial key performance indicators is set out on page 3 and in
“Management Discussion and Analysis” section. A discussion
on the Company’s environmental policies and performance
can be found in the “Sustainable Development Report” on
pages 21 to 37. An account of the Group’s relationship with its
shareholders and investors can be found on pages 64 to 66.
These discussions from part of this “Report of the Directors”.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Event After The
Reporting Period”, during the year ended 31 December 2017,
as far as the Board is aware, there was no material breach of
or non-compliance with the Cayman Islands Companies Law,
Listing Rules, SFO and other applicable laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group’s business and
operation by the Group.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 December 2017 and
the state of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date
are set out in the financial statements on pages 88 to 191.

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2017.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities
and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five
financial years, as extracted from the Group’s audited financial
statements and restated as appropriate, is set out on page
192. This summary does not form part of the audited financial
statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Company and the Group during the year are set out in note
15 to the consolidated financial statements.

BANK BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 December
2017 are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO RULE 13.21
OF THE LISTING RULES

On 29 May 2014, Kinsenda Copper Company SA (as borrower),
a 77% owned subsidiary of the Company, and Jinchuan Group
(as guarantor) entered into a facility agreement (“Facility
Agreement 1”) with China Development Bank Corporation
(“CDBC”) (as lender) in relation to a term loan facility in an
amount of US$225,000,000. The final repayment date of the term
loan facility will be the date falling 10 years from the date of the first
utilization of such facility, which had taken place on 30 May 2014.

On 27 May 2016, Metorex (as borrower), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a facility
agreement (“Facility Agreement 2”) with CDBC (as lender),
whereas Jinchuan Group acted as guarantor, in relation to a
loan facility for the purpose of funding its working capital and
operations in an amount of US$25,000,000. The final repayment
date of the loan facility will be the date falling on the last day of
a 12-month period from the date of the first utilization of such
facility, which had taken place on 6 June 2016. The loan facility
was fully repaid.

On 9 November 2016, Metorex (as borrower) entered into
a facility agreement (“Facility Agreement 3”) with CDBC (as
lender), whereas Jinchuan Group acted as guarantor, in relation
to a loan facility for the purpose of funding the working capital
and operations of Metorex and its subsidiaries in an amount of
US$100,000,000. The final repayment date of the loan facility will
be the date falling on the last day of a 36-month period from the
date of the first utilization of such facility, which had taken place
on 14 November 2016.
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Pursuant to the Facility Agreement 1, Jinchuan Group, the
controlling shareholder of the Company, is required, at all times,
to (directly or indirectly) own more than 50% of the shares of
Kinsenda Copper Company SA (the “Specific Performance
Obligation”). However, for sake of future development, the Group
had obtained a waiver of the Specific Performance Obligation
from CDBC in August 2017.

Pursuant to the Facility Agreement 2 and Facility Agreement 3,
Jinchuan Group, the controlling shareholder of the Company,
is required, at all times, to (directly or indirectly) own not less
than 51% of the shares of Metorex. Breach of the specific
performance obligation stated in each of the above facility
agreements will constitute an event of default of the previous
facility agreement(s). Upon the occurrence of such event of
default, the relevant bank may declare the loan facility to be
cancelled and all outstanding amounts may become immediately
due and payable.

SHARE CAPITAL

The Company issued new ordinary shares during the year upon
completion of subscription of new shares, details of which are
disclosed in the section headed “Issue of New Shares” under
“Management Discussion & Analysis” of this annual report.
Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during
the year are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as (i) the Company’s share option scheme disclosed in
the section headed “Share Option Scheme” and note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements, (ii) the subscription agreement
entered into between the Company and the Subscriber
disclosed in the section headed “Issue of New Shares” under
“Management Discussion & Analysis” of this annual report and
note 30 to consolidated financial statements, (iii) the Company’s
share incentive scheme disclosed in the section headed “Share
Incentive Scheme”, and (iv) the Convertible Securities disclosed
in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements, no equity-
linked agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares were entered into by the Company during the year and
subsisted at the end of the year.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance has been entered into between
the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling
shareholder or any of its subsidiaries during the year.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEWE

REMEGR1 AAREZERRES)IKEEE
B P 7B BHR B 2k B 2 % B Kinsenda Copper
Company SAEB50%K M ((HEBHNE
1) - A ZEIRREE  FAEER=-Z
—tENARBEXHARBTINEFERNE
ENERR -

REMEDZ2RBERH RS NATERRK
Re)IEEERFTEREEEREERES
Metorex 2 A51% M 11 o B il B DR E
WERAIAZIEERBNERSBRER LA
FIVHRERE EENEHRAER  BFER
TAEEFHERERRE  MABEKRER
SEEASENES R HA AT -

g

ARARTERABBIHIRORRFEANEITT H
BEBR FRERAFERIEEBNWE D]
RIBTHRD | —BARKE - A2AREFER
ZRABEFEHRN S M BERRMEEI0

iR B8 4 200 165 5

BR()R [ BB AR BB B | — B R AR S A RS SRR YT
STRRE 2 AN A BIRERTE S ()R F ;|
[EEERNWR D IR BTHRMD | -8 K
REMBHRMAI0AKE < A DB HEFZBA
Z BRI R 5 ()R IR B &
— B A DT RD BB E  R(v)REF
BB RM 2RI E 2 AT HRKRE S
WERFRTLAERFES B FE 2 RESH
RS ERAESAD T RTRED

EXREHN

AT HEAEMME D BN EF NI HEE R R
BRRIEEMAMBRRTLETEREL -

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 =& — t £ #§

4]



16

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEWE

PURCHASES, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 December 2017.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 42 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to
shareholders as at 31 December 2017, representing the
aggregate of share premium account, contributed surplus and
accumulated losses, amounted to nil (2016: nil).

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. GAO Tianpeng (Chief Executive Officer)!

Mr. QIAO Fugui'

Mr. YANG Zhigiang (Ex-Chairman of the Board)?

Mr. ZHANG Sanlin (Ex-Deputy Chairman of the Board)?
Mr. ZHANG Zhong?

Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. CHEN Dexin (re-designated as a non-executive Director from
an executive Director with effect from 23 August 2017)
(Chairman of the Board')(Ex-Chief Executive Officer?)

Mr. ZHANG Youda'

Mr. ZENG Weibing?

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. WU Chi Keung

Mr. YEN Yuen Ho, Tony

Mr. POON Chiu Kwok*

Mr. Neil Thacker MACLACHLAN?®

Appointed with effect from 23 August 2017.
Resigned with effect from 23 August 2017.
Appointed with effect from 28 April 2017.
Appointed with effect from 21 March 2017.
Resigned with effect from 31 January 2017.
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Pursuant to article 16.18 of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Chen Dexin, Mr. Wu Chi Keung and Mr. Poon
Chiu Kwok shall retire from office as Directors by rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. All of the
above three retiring directors, being eligible, will offer themselves
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
Company’s forthcoming annual general meeting has service
contracts with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is
not terminable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2017, none of the Directors or chief
executive of the Company had any interest or short position in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) which were required: (a) pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (b) to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”
and “Share Incentive Scheme” below, neither at the end of nor
at any time during the year there subsisted any arrangement
to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or its parent
companies or its fellow subsidiaries was a party and the
objectives of or one of the objectives of such arrangement are/is
to enable the Directors, their respective spouse or children under
the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Except for those disclosed in the section headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions” below, no contracts, transactions
or arrangements of significance, to which the Company, its
subsidiaries, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries was a
party and in which a Director or entity connected with a Director
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group
were entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December
2017.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company’s articles of association state that every Directors
is entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a
Director in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal,
in which judgment is given in his favour, or in which he is
acquitted. The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance
cover for potential liabilities of Directors and officers of the
Company to third parties arising out of their corporate activities.
All Directors have the benefit of directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance.

This permitted indemnity provision was in force for the benefit of
the Directors during the financial year ended 31 December 2017,
and remains to be in force as at the date of this “Report of the
Directors”.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Further details of the Scheme are disclosed in note
31 to the consolidated financial statements.

There were no share options of the Company outstanding at the
end of the year ended 31 December 2017.

SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME

A share incentive scheme (the “Share Incentive Scheme”)
was approved by the then shareholders at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 2 June 2015 (the “Adoption
Date”). The purpose of the Share Incentive Scheme is to provide
incentive or reward to Directors or employees of the Group
for their contributions to, and continuing efforts to promote the
interests of, the Group and its business. Pursuant to the Share
Incentive Scheme, performance-based shares of the Company
may be granted to eligible persons. The Share Incentive Scheme
permits the granting of the performance-based shares to the
eligible persons that are either new shares of the Company or
existing shares of the Company that are purchased pursuant to
the terms of the Share Incentive Scheme.

The aggregate number of the performance-based shares which
may be allotted and issued and/or purchased upon vesting of the
performance-based shares granted under the Share Incentive
Scheme is limited to 10% of the total number of shares of the
Company in issue as at the Adoption Date. Pursuant to the
Share Incentive Scheme, the maximum aggregate number
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of shares of the Company which may be allotted and issued
or purchased upon the vesting of performance-based shares
granted under the Share Incentive Scheme and yet to be vested
in relation to shares of the Company or options granted under
other long-term incentive schemes of the Company (including
the Scheme) must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the total
number of shares of the Company in issue from time to time.

At the 2017 AGM held on 18 May 2017, a scheme mandate was
granted to the Board to exercise the powers of the Company
to issue new shares of the Company not exceeding 2% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at the date of 2017
AGM. Such mandate has not been used and will lapse at the
conclusion of the 2018 annual general meeting of the Company.
It is expected that the Company will continue to seek granting of
similar scheme mandates from the shareholders at future annual
general meetings of the Company during the term of the Share
Incentive Scheme so as to enable the Company to allot and
issue new shares to satisfy the grant of the performance-based
shares under the Share Incentive Scheme.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN THE
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF
THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2017, so far as is known to the Directors, the
following persons (i) had interests or short positions in the shares
and/or underlying shares of the Company which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under section
336 of the SFO; or (ii) were, directly or indirectly, interested in
5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital
carrying the right to vote in all circumstances at general meetings
of the Company or any options in respect of such capital.

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company:
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converted from  of shares in issue

Number of shares PSCS (Note 3) (%) (Note 2)

Capacity/nature of interested KRR EEBTRA

Name of shareholder Note interest BERERZ RESA B BYCEIL

RREB ME 56/ EEtE RO#E RO BB M3 (%) (Kt3£2)

Jinchuan Group Co., Ltd* (1) & (3) Interest of controlled 2,981,205,857 8,466,120,000 236.82%
IEERBAERLF corporation
TREERER

Jinchuan Group (Hongkong) (1) & (3) Interest of controlled 2,981,205,857 8,466,120,000 236.82%
Resources Holdings Limited corporation
KB (FB)ERERERAT REEE#ER
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Number of shares  Percentage of the
which may be total number
converted from  of shares in issue
Number of shares PSCS (Note 3) (%) (Note 2)
Capacity/nature of interested KARB A EEBTRA
Name of shareholder Note interest EERERZ REST B BYZEIY
RRAB Mz S50/ REEtE RO#E RO BB ME3) (%) (Ff£2)
Jinchuan (BVI) Limited (1) & (3) Interest of controlled 2,981,205,857 8,466,120,000 236.82%
£)II(BVI) BRAH corporation/
Beneficial owner
SEEERE/
BEREBA
Jinchuan (BVI) 1 Limited (1 Beneficial owner 1,888,449,377 N/A 39.07%
2NEBVINERAF BREAA TER
Jinchuan (BVI) 2 Limited (1 Beneficial owner 557,834,372 N/A 11.54%
2JI(BVIRBRAF ERERA TEA
Jinchuan (BVI) 3 Limited (1 Beneficial owner 534,922,108 N/A 11.07%
2JIBVI3ERAF BREAA TER
Taikang Asset Management Co., Ltd* (4) Interest of controlled 483,000,000 N/A 9.99%
RREEEEBREALT corporation TER
REEEER
Shandong Hi-Speed Urbanization 4) Interest of controlled 483,000,000 N/A 9.99%
Fund Management Centre (Limited corporation TEA
Partnership)* STERLEES
LWREEBELESERD L
(BERE)
SD Hi-Speed Huanbohai (Tianjin) (4) Interest of controlled 483,000,000 N/A 9.99%
Equity Investment Fund (Limited corporation TER
Partnership) STRIEES
WRERRHE (RE) REREES
BRLE (BREH)
SD Hi-Speed Investment HK Limited (4) Beneficial owner 483,000,000 N/A 9.99%
IWRBERHERE (FE)ERAA BRBEBA TER
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Notes:

Save

Jinchuan Group Co., Ltd* directly owned 100% of the issued share
capital of Jinchuan Group (Hongkong) Resources Holdings Limited
which in turn owned 100% of the issued share capital of Jinchuan
(BVI) Limited which owned 100% of the issued share capital of each
of Jinchuan (BVI) 1 Limited, Jinchuan (BVI) 2 Limited and Jinchuan
(BVI) 3 Limited. Therefore, Jinchuan Group Co., Ltd*, Jinchuan
Group (Hongkong) Resources Holdings Limited and Jinchuan (BVI)
Limited were deemed to have interests in the 1,888,449,377 shares,
557,834,372 shares and 534,922,108 shares of the Company held by
Jinchuan (BVI) 1 Limited, Jinchuan (BVI) 2 Limited and Jinchuan (BVI)
3 Limited respectively under the SFO.

The calculation is based on the number of shares and/or underlying
shares of the Company as a percentage of the total number of issued
shares of the Company (i.e. 4,833,753,051 Shares) as at 31 December
2017.

Jinchuan (BVI) Limited directly held PSCS in the amount of
US$1,085.4 million (equivalent to approximately HK$8,466.1 million)
which may be converted into 8,466,120,000 shares of the Company at
an initial conversion price of HK$1.00 per share. Based on the relations
set out in note 1 above, Jinchuan Group Co., Ltd* and Jinchuan Group
(Hongkong) Resources Holdings Limited were deemed to be interested
in the 8,466,120,000 underlying shares of the Company held by
Jinchuan (BVI) Limited under the SFO.

Taikang Asset Management Co., Ltd* owned 99.17% of the issued
share capital of Shandong Hi-Speed Urbanization Fund Management
Centre (Limited Partnership)* which in turn owned 99% of the issued
share capital of SD Hi-Speed Huanbohai (Tianjin) Equity Investment
Fund (Limited Partnership) which owned 100% of the issued share
capital of SD Hi-Speed Investment HK Limited. Therefore, Taikang
Asset Management Co., Ltd*, Shandong Hi-Speed Urbanization
Fund Management Centre (Limited Partnership)* and SD Hi-Speed
Huanbohai (Tianjin) Equity Investment Fund (Limited Partnership) were
deemed to have interest in the 483,000,000 shares of the Company
held by SD Hi-Speed Investment HK Limited under the SFO.

as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, so far as

is known to the Directors, no other person (i) had interests
or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company which were recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or (ii) were,
directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the nominal

value

of any class of share capital carrying the right to vote in

all circumstances at general meetings of the Company or any
options in respect of such capital.

*  For identification purposes only
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for 81.0% (2016: 77.2%) of the total sales
for the year and sales to the Group’s largest customer accounted
for 33.9% (2016: 21.4%) of the total sales for the year.
Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted
for 50.6% (2016: 67.7%) of the total purchases for the year and
purchases from the largest supplier accounted for 26.1% (2016:
36.4%) of the total purchases for the year.

At no time during the year did a Director, a close associate
of a Director, or a shareholder of the Company (which to the
knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s
number of issued shares) had any beneficial interest in any
of the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers for the year
ended 31 December 2017, save that a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of Jinchuan Group was the largest customer of
the Group (2016: save that Jinchuan Group was the largest
customer of the Group).

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group strictly complies with the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance in making mandatory contributions
for its staff in Hong Kong, and also make contributions to staff
retirement fund for those staff in the South Africa, the DRC and
Zambia. Details of the Group’s retirement benefit schemes for
the year ended 31 December 2017 are set out in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association, or the laws of the Cayman
Islands, where the Company is incorporated, which oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

COMPETING INTERESTS

Save as disclosed in this report, none of the Directors and their
respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had an
interest in a business which competes or is likely to compete
with the business of the Group throughout the year ended 31
December 2017.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set
out by the Board on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.
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The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Board,
having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics as well as
the recommendations of the Remuneration and Nomination
Committee of the Board.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 20
June 2012 and a share incentive scheme on 2 June 2015 as
an incentive to directors and eligible employees of the Group.
Details of the share option scheme adopted on 20 June 2012 are
set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
report, the Company has maintained sufficient public float not
less than 25% of the Company’s total number of issued shares
as required under the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

As the corporate bonds issued by Jinchuan Group (the
“Corporate Bonds”) offer a stable return on cash for the
Group, Golden Harbour, a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, purchased Corporate Bonds in a series of on-market
transactions conducted between 30 June 2016 and 7 July 2016
with a total nominal value of RMB27,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately US$4,049,008) at an aggregate consideration of
RMB25,661,250 (equivalent to approximately US$3,848,245). All
of the Corporate Bonds have been redeemed upon maturity in
2017.

As Jinchuan Group is the controlling shareholder of the
Company, Jinchuan Group is therefore a connected person
of the Company under the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the
abovementioned purchases of Corporate Bonds constituted
connected transactions of the Company. These transactions
were subject to reporting and announcement requirements
pursuant to the Listing Rules, but were exempt from the
independent shareholders’ approval requirement.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year under review, the Group had the following
continuing connected transactions which were subject to
reporting and announcement requirements pursuant to
the Listing Rules, but were exempt from the independent
shareholders’ approval requirement.

(i)

Through subleasing the licensed premises to Golden
Wealth International Trading Limited (“GWL”) in return for
license fee payable to Golden Grand Investment Limited
(“GGL”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
the Company could reduce the financial burden on the
rental expenses. Therefore, the Company entered into the
following agreements. On 16 May 2016, GWL (as licensee)
entered into a licence agreement (the “2016 Licence
Agreement”) with GGL (as licensor), a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, pursuant to which GGL has
agreed to license to GWL the non-exclusive right to use
and occupy the office premises located at Unit 3101, 31/F,
United Centre, 95 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong for a
term form 16 May 2016 to 31 March 2019. On 1 November
2017, GGL and GWL entered into a supplemental
agreement (the “Supplemental Agreement”) to amend
certain terms of the 2016 Licence Agreement, including
reducing the licensed area granted to GWL with effect from
1 November 2017 and reducing the licensed fee with effect
from 1 December 2017. GWL is an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of Jinchuan Group, the controlling shareholder
of the Company, and thus a connected person of the
Company. The transactions contemplated under 2016
Licence Agreement as supplemented by the Supplemental
Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions
of the Company under the Listing Rules. In such respect,
the Group received rental income of approximately
HK$2,566,000 (equivalent to US$329,000) for the year
ended 31 December 2017 which did not exceed the then
annual cap for 2017 of HK$3,240,000 (equivalent to
US$416,452). From 1 November 2017 to 31 December
2017, the Group received rental income of approximately
HK$304,000 (equivalent to approximately US$39,000)
which did not exceed the annual cap for the said period
of HK$428,000 (equivalent to approximately US$54,872).
Details of these continuing connected transactions were
set out in the announcements of the Company dated 16
May 2016 and 1 November 2017.

During the year under review, the Group had the following
continuing connected transactions which were subject to
reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’
approval requirements pursuant to the Listing Rules.
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(ii)

In order to align with the business strategy of the Group,
on 29 November 2016, the Company entered into an
agreement (the “2016 CCT Agreement”) with Jinchuan
Group in respect of the trading of Mineral and Metal
Products between the Group and the JCG Group for
three years commencing 1 January 2017 up to 31
December 2019. As Jinchuan Group is the controlling
shareholder of the Company, Jinchuan Group is therefore
a connected person of the Company. Accordingly, the
transactions contemplated under the 2016 CCT Agreement
constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company under the Listing Rules. In such respect, the
Group recorded transaction amounts between the Group
and JCG Group amounted to US$209.6 million for the
year ended 31 December 2017 (the “2017 Transaction
Amount”) which exceeded the approved annual cap for
year ended 31 December 2017 of US$165 million (the
“2017 Approved Annual Cap”). Details of these continuing
connected transactions were set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 29 November 2016, 11 January
2017, 9 February 2018 and the section headed “Events
After The Reporting Period” section on page 87.

For sake of the Company’s business needs, on 10 March
2017, Ruashi Mining entered into an agreement (the
“2017 Copper Agreement”’) with Gécamines SA, pursuant
to which Gécamines SA has agreed to sell, and Ruashi
Mining has agreed to purchase copper ores on the
stockpiles of Lupoto situated in Kalumines, a copper mining
property invested by Gécamines SA, for a period of 18
months.

Ruashi Mining is a subsidiary of the Company which is
held as to 75% indirectly by the Company and as to 25%
by Gécamines SA, and therefore Gécamines SA is a
connected person of the Company at the subsidiary level.
The transactions contemplated under the 2017 Copper
Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions of
the Company under the Listing Rules. In such respect, the
Group recorded purchases of US$26.2 million for the year
ended 31 December 2017 which did not exceed the annual
cap for period from 10 March 2017 to 31 December 2017
of US$70.0 million. Details of these continuing connected
transactions were set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 10 March 2017.

All the above continuing connected transactions for the
year ended 31 December 2017 have been reviewed by the
independent non-executive Directors. The independent non-
executive Directors have confirmed that the continuing
connected transactions have been entered into:

(@)

in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
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(ii)
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(b) either on normal commercial terms or better; and

(c) in accordance with the respective agreements governing
them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with the Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews
of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to
Practice Note 740 “Auditor’'s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor
has issued a letter containing their findings and conclusions in
respect of the continuing connected transactions for the year
ended 31 December 2017 in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the
Listing Rules. The conclusions of the auditor are set out below:

(@) nothing has come to auditor's attention that causes the
auditor to believe that the transactions have not been
approved by the Company’s Board of Directors;

(b) for transactions involving the provision of goods or services
by the Group, nothing has come to auditor’s attention that
causes the auditor to believe that the transactions were
not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Group;

(c) nothing has come to auditor's attention that causes the
auditor to believe that the transactions were not entered
into, in all material respects, in accordance with the
relevant agreements governing such transactions; and

(d) with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the
continuing connected transactions, except for the total
sales of Mineral and Metal Products to the JCG Group
of US$209,619,000 under the continuing connected
transactions set out in item (i) above, nothing has come
to the auditor’s attention that causes the auditor to believe
that the transactions have exceeded the annual cap as set
by the Company.

Except that the total sales of Mineral and Metal Products to the
JCG Group under the continuing connected transactions set out
in item (i) above has exceeded the 2017 Approved Annual Cap,
the Company complied with the requirements under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules during the year.

A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company
to the Stock Exchange.

(b) REFREENBEEERRET R
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Save as disclosed above, no contracts, transactions or
arrangements of significance to which the Company or any
of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director or any
entity connected with a director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

The Directors confirmed that the material related party
transactions as disclosed in note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements fall under the definition of connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions. The Directors confirmed that
those transactions complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

As disclosed by the Company in its announcement dated
9 February 2018, the Company discovered that the 2017
Transaction Amount exceeded the 2017 Approved Annual Cap.
The 2017 Approved Annual Cap was exceeded mainly due to
an unexpected surge in the price and demand for cobalt and
the oversight of the sale figure of copper blister to Sky Hero for
2017.

As the 2017 Transaction Amount exceeded the 2017 Approved
Annual Cap, the Company would need to re-comply with the
requirement under Rule 14A.54 of the Listing Rules. The
Company convened an at extraordinary general meeting on
16 April 2018 and obtained the approval from the independent
shareholders to confirm and ratify the 2017 Transaction Amount.
Please refer to the poll results published by the Company on 16
April 2018.

AUDITOR

During the year, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) were
the auditor of the Company. A resolution for the re-appointment
of Deloitte as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Chen Dexin

Chairman

27 March 2018
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
JINCHUAN GROUP INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES CO. LTD
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”) set
out on pages 97 to 191, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2017, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS BRETSE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional HEETSEESRERMNEXHE 5
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the AEGEHNERENBITZEBEENSHE -
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These ELEBERERMBIBERESUKERR
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the HEERNETREN - RMAFEHELS
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our THIEHEBWER -

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

REEER BANESTNAHERETSHETER

Depreciation/amortisation of property, plant and equipment and mineral rights for mining operations
(“Mining Assets”)
HREBEBTAYE BERZEARBER ([FREBEZE]) WITE  #5

We identified the depreciation/amortisation of Mining Our procedures in relation to depreciation/

Assets calculated using the units of production (‘UOP”) amortisation of the Mining Assets included:

method as a key audit matter due to the significance ISt IRBEEENITE, BHEITHREFEE

of the balance to the consolidated statement of profit

or loss and other comprehensive income, combined

with the significant management judgement and * Working with our internal industry expert to

estimation associated with determining the mineral examine the mining plan prepared by the Group’s

reserves. experts on extraction of estimated proved and

HRRIESEEAGABEREMEERERNE probable ore reserves throughout the life of the

REBERE MEtEBEEEHESLEEEBRNERHAE R mines, and checking the consistency of estimated

st MERPIAAHIEEENITE i (REEE mineral reserves, notably changes in the geology

VL (TUOP]) Z5TE) B BEEETEIE - of the reserves and assumptions used in
determining the economic feasibility of the

reserves used in the mining plan to these
reserves estimates.
BEMABNTEERBEEEREEEER
RIEBSHRBABREZERBOBAMGREEM
MENEIESTE TRERZSBAMTTRER
Bt B8P EEET L AN - FHEN
1 B RO K PR LATE TE et 8 Y AR R AT AT 1 P A VAR
%‘Q o
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Key audit matter

REETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMWETNAHBERENEHETRE

Depreciation/amortisation of property, plant and equipment and mineral rights for mining operations

(“Mining Assets”) (Continued)

REEBIAY¥ BERRBEURBER (([RELE))WITE ## (&)

As explained in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, the depreciation and amortisation of the
Mining Assets for the year ended 31 December 2017
amounted to US$43,377,000 and US$7,030,000
respectively. The management of the Group assesses
the UOP rates against the estimated reserve base and
operating and development plan regularly, taking into
account the recent economic production and technical
information about each mine from the Group’s experts.
The UOP rates of depreciation and amortisation can
fluctuate from initial estimates when there are
significant changes in any of the factors or
assumptions used in estimating mineral reserves.
MFEEMBRRMTATHE RBEEENTE B
HENRBE-ZE—tF+-RA=+T—BLFEIIR
43,377,000% 7T % 7,030,000% T - EEBEEES Z
EEEERBREESIRENTIHSELEERRIE
B EHFEATTREERRLEMETENUOPLL
o AU BEERENEMTEERSIRREREKR
28 WERBHENUOPLL R sEB UL (LT BE T
EJ o

Assessing the Group’s ability to achieve the
production level by reference to the Group’s
historical performance and future outlook of the
mining industry.

SZEEEMNBEV BRI RRE RN KRR R
M b EREEREEKFHED -

Assessing the reasonableness of the management’s
UOP rates and recalculating the depreciation and
amortisation of the Mining Assets.
TEEEEAMEMNUOPLL RS BN BEHE
RBEEEMNNEREHESE -
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BARETER BMWETNAHBERENEHETRE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment, mineral rights and exploration and
evaluation assets (“Non-current Assets”)

WFE BERZE BEBURBERTFIEEE ([HABEE]) B EFE

We identified impairment assessment of Non-current Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment
Assets as a key audit matter due to the significance of of Non-current Assets included:

the balances to the consolidated financial statements F ¢ ¥ IEREBEENREFTHATNEFERE -
as a whole, combined with the significant management

judgement and estimation associated with determining +¢ Understanding the Group’s impairment

the recoverable amounts in the impairment assessment process, including the impairment
assessment. assessment model adopted, CGU allocation and
HRERBEELEHRAERRBGSMKBRRNEKNER - assumptions used.

MEEEREFANITRESESIREEENE XA THEEBMNRENLER  BRERMNEET
B R s MBEMRRERDEENRETERER HER REELEBEVNIERFAARE -
ERTEIE

«  Working with our internal industry expert to carry
The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, out, among others, the following procedures:
minerals rights and exploration and evaluation assets as ERPMABHITEERBENT (HFEHE) T
at 31 December 2017 amounted to US$671,077,000 BF:
US$488,057,000 and US$212,332,000 respectively and

are allocated to five cash generating units (“CGUSs”) in — evaluating the appropriateness of the model
respect of the Group’s mining operations in Zambia and used to calculate the recoverable amounts:
Democratic Republic of the Congo as per note 4 to the WA ETWELENER NS HER
consolidated financial statements. E

ME - -BERSKE BEERURBDRRIGEER=
E-tF+ZA=1—HWNREESD B %671,077,000
% JT - 488,057,0003 T }212,332,000% T * W4 & . L

S ERAF L EEEE RS REEEENE ;e:t? by benchmarking against independent
B ((REELEM] TR e

— assessing the reasonableness of the discount
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Key audit matter

REETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMWETNAHBERENEHETRE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment, mineral rights and exploration and
evaluation assets (“Non-current Assets”) (Continued)

WFE BERZE BEBURBERFEEE ([HFRBEE]) KB ETE (F)

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the
management of the Group performed an impairment
assessment of these CGUs due to recovery in copper
and cobalt prices, successful implementation of a
cost-saving plan as well as the current mine plan and
production reserves, details of which are set out in
note 8 to the consolidated financial statements. The
recoverable amounts of these CGUs are determined
using value in use calculations based on the
management’s cash flow forecasts in which key
assumptions on future production level, future copper
and cobalt prices and discount rates can significantly
affect the discounted cash flows.
BE-Z—tHF+-A=+—HLFE BAREER
$HERFA - R E KA N5 i AR E RIS T2
REERE HEEBEEEBUHZSRLELENY
TRES  FERERRGESMBRERMES - ZER
SELABENVNATRESRENDEREEENREREM
B (BRSPS REARREENKTF - RREE R #HE &
BEREHBRRR HUHBERRSREBHUEAR
8)RERAEEFEEE -

Based on the impairment assessment on each of the
CGUs, as described in note 8 to the consolidated
financial statements, the management of the Group
reversed an impairment loss of US$17,080,000 on
mineral rights during the year ended 31 December
2017.

REBFEEMBRRMASTAN BT BEREEESENH
WENE  RBE-ZT—tF+-A=t—BLFE.
BEEEEEEEERRSRERE17,080,000% 7T

evaluating if the management’s estimate of
future production level is consistent with the
reserve estimates and mining plan prepared
by the Group’s internal expert; and
HEBBRARREEKFENMGETEBSMET
RESEBANERRBRET S — M
fEHRTE R

assessing the appropriateness of estimated of
future copper and cobalt prices by reference
to entity-specific historical information and
market data.
SZERNBERBEGERT S HBRTM
RARRMGEFZHERHENREME

Evaluating the historical accuracy of the
management’s cash flow forecasts by comparing
the historical cash flow forecasts with the actual
performance.
ZRHBELIRERERAEERRBNHLER - &
EEEBAENRERNEFNEREFELTE -

Re-performing the sensitivity analysis on the key
inputs performed by the Group to evaluate the
magnitude of impact on the recoverable amounts.
ENSTESREHIERN A AHBETHNHRE
D UTRATNESENSIRERE -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B IR BENH &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT
EAVEEY (GRS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
VR Gk

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the
independent auditor’s report is Mak Chun Bon.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 March 2018
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FeBEn M AEMEE R mR

For the year ended 31 December 2017

BE-Z—tH5+-A=1+—-HLEFE

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RE
Notes US$°000 US$'000
M & FER x5
Revenue I & 5 549,188 364,845
Cost of sales SHER A& (433,025) (362,488)
Gross profit EF| 116,163 2,357
Other gains and losses Hiblhm K &8 7 (12,527) (2,273)
Selling and distribution costs HER D #HERAK (31,257) (23,440)
Administrative expenses THAX (20,587) (20,925)
Reversal of impairment loss REEEERD 8 17,080 53,748
Finance income BRI A 986 686
Finance costs B 75 R AR 9 (8,673) (6,832)
Profit before tax R A Al 10 61,185 3,321
Income tax (expense) credit FrE% (AX)ER 12 (7,750) 2,993
Profit for the year FrimAl 53,435 6,314
Other comprehensive income: Hh2mEUW A :
Item that may be reclassified HEWREHIEE
subsequently to profit or loss: BmzER
Fair value change on cash flow HeEREBE P2 A FE
hedges, net of income tax 28 HRTEH - 270
Other comprehensive income AEEHMEERA
for the year - 270
Total comprehensive income AEEZHEHKALEE
for the year 53,435 6,584
Profit (loss) for the year THALTEEFR
attributable to: wmA (E1E)
Owners of the Company KABEBA 41,624 8,347
Non-controlling interests IR ER 11,811 (2,033)
53,435 6,314
Total comprehensive income THALTEMZEUA
(expense) attributable to: (Fx) &% :
Owners of the Company KABEBA 41,624 8,617
Non-controlling interests FEERER 11,811 (2,033)
53,435 6,584
Earnings per share BRER 13
Basic (US cents) EAR (EAL) 0.89 0.19
Diluted (US cents) 58 (Z4L) 0.32 0.07
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AR TR IR

At 31 December 2017
R-ZE—tF+=-A=+—H

2017 2016
—E—+F —E-RE
Notes US$’000 US$’'000
FfaE FEx ES
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERZE 15 671,077 688,100
Mineral rights EEE 16 488,057 478,007
Exploration and evaluation assets ~ ®)#F & iF L EE 17 212,332 181,630
Other non-current assets HMtERBEE 18 16,602 18,578
1,388,068 1,366,315
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 19 172,093 109,066
Trade and other receivables B 5 R HMERFIE 20 146,808 104,395
Held for trading investments BEEERE 23 - 3,705
Derivative financial instruments TTESMTE 24 - 219
Bank balances and cash RITESRRES 25 75,162 96,402
394,063 313,787
Current liabilities REAE
Trade and other payables B RHMENTRIE 26 87,787 71,764
Amount due to an intermediate FEAT A R 1R AR D R FRIE
holding company 22 119,815 4,331
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary ~ FE{t[E Z i B A T 5018 22 5,974 744
Amount due to a non-controlling FEATH B A T FE AR
shareholder of a subsidiary B R FKIE 22 418 =
Bank borrowings RITEK 27 133,881 83,333
Short-term provisions SRR g 28 10,000 5,416
Tax payable P& S % 18 2,392 338
360,267 165,926
Net current assets RBEEFE 33,796 147,861
Total assets less current BMEERRBERE
liabilities 1,421,864 1,514,176
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Bank borrowings RITER 27 231,415 311,222
Long-term provisions REpEE 28 28,772 27,303
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEEE 29 291,195 288,107
Amount due to an intermediate R B A R RKIE
holding company 22 - 115,000
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary  FE{SE R B A B FKIE 22 - 5,000
551,382 746,632
Net assets EERE 870,482 767,544
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
ARE MBI

At 31 December 2017
R-ZE—tF+=-A=+—H

2017 2016
—E—tF —T-REF
Notes US$°000 US$'000
M &E FEx FER
Capital and reserves AR fE
Share capital &N 30 6,197 5,578
Perpetual subordinated K ROR AR 0] 2 IR 7
convertible securities 32 1,089,084 1,089,084
Reserves e (303,571) (394,079)
Equity attributable to owners of the R F#HHE AELER
Company 791,710 700,583
Non-controlling interests e 78,772 66,961
Total equity e AR 870,482 767,544

The consolidated financial statements on pages 97 to 191 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
27 March 2018 and are signed on its behalf by:

GAO Tianpeng
PN
DIRECTOR
EZ

BREITE1NENGESUBHRRECKESS
REZZB-NFZAZ T+ BHAEREETE

LU TALRBEE :
CHEN Dexin

B
DIRECTOR

%
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FEEREER

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tF+-A=1t—HLHFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RAAREARG
Perpetual
stbordinated Non-
convertible Share ~ Translation Hedging Other  Accumulated controlling
Share capital ~ securities premium reserve reserve TESErVes losses Total intgrests Total
KARR

Br URRER:  RBER  BERR  HMGR  AMRE TS 8 FERRE L
US5000 US5000 US5000 US5000 US5000 US5000 US5000 US5000 US5000 US5000
i i i i T T i i i T

(Note)
lig)
Ay 206 HoE-RE-A-R 0 SEB (MM W% (B T R I T R )
Prof (oss) for the year il (8) - - - - - - 8341 847 (20%) 6314
Othercomprehensve income REREBRENA
for the year - - - - m - - 0 - m
Tota comprehensive income REERENA
(expense) forhe year (Ex)48 - - - - m - 8347 8617 (2083 6584
R-B-RE1ZR
At 31 December 2016 Er=f 5578 1,089,084 294,19 (23.844) - (00721) (263710) 700,583 6,961 767,544
Proftand ftalcomprehensive REERARAE
income or the year hALE - - - - 4164 4164 11811 534%
Ordinary shares issued (Note 30) B2 EBR (M) - 4919 - - - 495% - 195%
Transacion coss aliutablelo  EAHEBRTES
issue of new ordinary shres LRBHA - (%) - - - (%) - (%)
HoB-tE12R
A3 December 2017 -7 BT 00 M0 (B S w7 (e ™0 T 04
Note: Other reserves comprised (i) the excess of the nominal value of e : HtREEEE(OIN S =FERBEEEE

#H(TE) FMREBHBARRMDZEE
BEAQAGIMEARBREFRZTRAZEE
HNEERIR=-ZE—=F+—BA+mA%T
1,595,880,0004% 2 ¥ {& %206,646,0003% 7T #Y
KA T PR U K 34T A F {8 51,089,084,000
ETUHARA TK AR R TR 5 ([ E
%)) MNBSRBEREERAR (£
ZEBRAER  UREBESRERNSTEE
BREERAT ([£F]) WHIEREERRER
7N € %89,193,369,0007 B 45 ([FA @45 D)
(#8'E $4895,000,000% 7T ) °

the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to a group
reorganisation (“Combination”) in 2013 over the nominal value of
the Company’s shares issued in exchange therefor and (ii) the
issue of 1,595,880,000 shares of the Company with a fair value
of US$206,646,000 and the issue of perpetual subordinated
convertible securities (“Convertible Securities”) of the Company
with a fair value of US$1,089,084,000 on 14 November 2013 in
exchange for the entire equity interests in Jin Rui Mining
Investment Limited (“Jin Rui”) and the settlement of all
shareholder’s loans outstanding by Jin Rui to Jintai Mining
Investment Limited (“Jintai”) amounting to the principal amount of
South African Rand (“ZAR”) 9,193,369,000 (equivalent to
US$895,000,000).
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FEHESRER

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tH5+-A=1+—-HLEFE

2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RE
US$’000 US$'000
FER TER
OPERATING ACTIVITIES K&
Profit before tax R A & A 61,185 3,321
Adjustments for: FEE
Finance income UE 3 ON (986) (686)
Finance costs B 75 R AR 8,673 6,832
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME  BERSKZESE
equipment - 98
Change in fair value of derivative financial f{TA£E€BMTENFEEZE
instruments, net FER 219 1,113
Change in fair value of held for trading BHIEFEEREATEEZD
investments (275) 143
Provisions for rehabilitation and BERRREAZINEE
environmental expenditure 6,696 2,830
Depreciation of property, plant and ME- - BERREINE
equipment 43,422 46,888
Amortisation of mineral rights T R 6 7,030 10,973
Reversal of impairment loss recognised in © 2B E &
respect of mineral rights VEREY SEi=E{E (17,080) (67,765)
Decrease in royalty prepayment BREFEREEARBERD 912 2,446
Impairment loss recognised in respect of ERRBHFEKLTFEEE
exploration and evaluation assets BB R - 14,017
Operating cash flows before movements in KT &BESHEF 2 KL
working capital RERE 109,796 20,210
Increase in inventories FEEM (63,027) (6,105)
(Increase) decrease in trade and other B RHMmEBWAKIE
receivables (48 in) iR 2> (42,413) 14,377
Redemption (purchase) of BE (BE)FIEFEERE
held for trading investments 3,980 (3,848)
Increase (decrease) in trade and other B RHEHMEMNKIE
payables 290 G ) 15,988 (21,143)
Increase in rehabilitation trust fund EEETESEM (14) (12)
Cash generated from operations REXKFBES 24,310 3,479
Income tax paid ENEH (2,608) (3,802)
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) EEERRE (BR)RETE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 21,702 (323)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FRRERER

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tF+-A=1t—HLHFE

2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RE
US$’000 US$’000
FER TER
INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETEE
Repayment from a Democratic Republic BERIREEHLFA
of Congo (“DRC”) state-owned power (TBIR()DBEABEHLF
company ZIER 1,078 1,183
Interest received 2 WF & 986 686
Expenditure on exploration and evaluation &hi% R ¥ (EEER X
assets (30,702) (22,962)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEY ¥ - MEKRE (12,938) (32,519)

BERRRBERER

Payment made on rehabilitation and

environmental provision (643) (4,581)
Decrease in restricted cash deposits ZREBEEIRD - 4,182
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEW% - BER

and equipment BB FIE - 365
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING REZTHSHAESTFE

ACTIVITIES (42,219) (53,646)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES ALEEE
New bank borrowings raised FIIRITER 3,667 207,789
Increase (decrease) in trade invoices ESRZEMRME

discounting facility i G 2) 44,553 (3,871)
Proceeds from issue of new shares BT R iS58 49,538 =
Advance from an intermediate holding REFBEZERAA

company Z B 484 1,716
Advance from a non-controlling REWBARZ

shareholder of a subsidiary IR IR 2 B 418 -
Advance from a fellow subsidiary REBRRNBARZ

B 230 —
Repayments of bank borrowings BERTER (77,479) (82,800)
Interest paid [EEREEES (22,134) (19,885)
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM FINANCING E&5E 8 (B F) i8R & T8

ACTIVITIES (723) 102,949
NET (DECREASE) INCREASEINCASH ®RE&RRLZEER (BY)

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS EIFEE (21,240) 48,980
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FNREFREEEER

AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 96,402 47,422
CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END FRESLEEER

OF THE YEAR 75,162 96,402
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH ReRkEAEESEEBIW

EQUIVALENTS,
represented by bank balances and cash  $R{T& &R RIE S 75,162 96,402
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tH5+-A=1+—HLEFE

GENERAL

Jinchuan Group International Resources Co., Ltd. (the
“Company”) is a public limited company incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
Its parent is Jinchuan (BVI) Limited (incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands) and its ultimate holding company is
&I EERBAER2AT (Jinchuan Group Co., Ltd) (*JCG”)
(incorporated in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”)). The addresses of registered office and principal
place of business of the Company are disclosed in the
Corporate Information in the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are mining
operations and the trading of mineral and metal products.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
United States dollars (“US$”), which is also the functional
currency of the Company.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSs”)

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to IFRSs issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) for the first time:

Amendments to IAS 7 Disclosure initiative

Amendments to IAS 12  Recognition of deferred
tax assets for unrealised
losses

Amendments to IFRS 12 As part of the annual
improvements to IFRSs
2014-2016 cycle
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= o

RRARBREZERDT c ARFRHEM
BOR (BB AKE]) 2 EBXBEHIR
BEBRABEEMLEBEERES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRIH T

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tF+-A=1t—HLHFE

104

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSs”)
(Continued)

Except as described below, the application of the
amendments to IFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial performance and
positions for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to IAS 7 “Disclosure initiative”

The Group has applied these amendments for the first time
in the current year. The amendments require an entity to
provide disclosures that enable users of financial
statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. In addition, the amendments also require
disclosures on changes in financial assets if cash flows
from those financial assets were, or future cash flows will
be, included in cash flows from financing activities.

Specifically, the amendments require the following to be
disclosed: (i) changes from financing cash flows; (ii)
changes arising from obtaining or losing control of
subsidiaries or other businesses; (iii) the effect of changes
in foreign exchange rates; (iv) changes in fair values; and
(v) other changes.

A reconciliation between the opening and closing balances
of these items is provided in note 40. Consistent with the
transition provisions of the amendments, the Group has not
disclosed comparative information for the prior year. Apart
from the additional disclosure in note 40, the application of
these amendments has had no impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

2,

F& PR R] B ASAS 5T B PR Bt 1S 3 o5
2R ([ EIFR R #5352 B 1) (A7)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tH5+-A=1+—HLEFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2. FERFTRKETBERETERE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL ZR ([ BRI EmEER ) (&
REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSs”)

(Continued)

© 98 i {B 1) R 4 Rz #7 RT B B Bt 3
=R K BRI 3R R 2 4B FT

REE R RERAT 52 EME R K
EMBVHR] R S R] BIFR B 3R 5 2 A

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not
yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to IFRSs that have been issued but are not

yet effective:

IFRS 9 Financial instruments’ @]g&ﬂ?}ﬁiﬁ%ﬁﬂﬂ SRIA
9%

IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with B BT IR EER  EERFINEEZBEMN
customers and the related 155 KB EE
amendements’ .

IFRS 16 Leases? ﬁ%ﬂﬁ?iﬁ%ﬁﬂﬂ NG

%16“/[’
IFRS 17 Insurance contracts* @ﬁ%ﬁﬁj}fi&%iﬁﬂﬂ RBREH
E175E

IFRIC 22 Foreign currency ERmKGERE  HMIZRESRE
transactions and advance ZEEREERN
consideration’

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over income tax @]gﬂ?ﬁﬁé%ﬁf FIEREE 2 FHE M2
treatments rEER 235

Amendments to IFRS 2  Classification and ﬁ%ﬂfﬁi‘%i{ﬁﬁfg—ﬂﬂ LXHQ@%%EE@N%BE%
measurement of 2% 255 ZABEREE
share-based payment
transactions' ‘ .

Amendments to IFRS 4  Applying IFRS 9 ERRBEREEN —EREREEREE
“Financial instruments” LA H) %%ﬁ%ﬁiﬂgﬁéﬁf
with IFRS 4 R B TG 3R 2 22 B BB 455
“Insurance contracts”’ [REEEH ]

Amendments to IFRS 9 Prepayment features with ERMBEREER ABARHEZRAIER
negative compensation? F9 2B 5T 312

Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or contribution of assets EEMEREEN  REERABENFHS

and IAS 28 between an investor and its FIORRERES EEEHrEEHED

Amendments to IAS 19
Amendments to IAS 28

associate or joint venture?
Plan amendment, curtailment
or settlement?
Long-term interests in
associates and joint

2 B 5285 2 B 5]
B E 2RI 195

A+
B S 2 RIE285%
PACEH]

EAS ‘
sT BB ~ BURSIAS

REENEREEREL
RAER

ventures?
Amendments to IAS 40  Transfers of investment EREERF0F RENECER
property’ H

Amendments to IAS 28

As part of the annual
improvements to IFRSs

A H|
EIPR S 5 AU 5285

4

fERHERMBRE%ER

ZE-MEEZT-RX

2014-2016 cycle' Sﬂﬁﬂ LEENEZ—
EiPN
Amendments to IFRSs  Annual improvements to EIFREI IR EER  EBMERSEN=-Z
IFRSs 2015-2017 cycle? A HI \_EflE:Et:g\_JCEF
B FEHE
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January g Eﬁ‘%g—)\ﬁ—ﬁl —HRZEBRZEE
2018 HEEXR
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2 REB-—NF-A-BARZEBBZFE
2019 BRI A
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to E REEERPR 2R FERBEN

be determined

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January g RE-B-—F-A-ARZEBBZFE
2021 HA R 4 3K

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 —ZE—t 5% 109



106

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRIH T

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tF+-A=1t—HLHFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSs”)
(Continued)

IFRS 9 “Financial instruments”

IFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification
and measurement of financial assets, financial liabilities
and impairment requirements for financial assets.

Key requirements of IFRS 9 which are relevant to the
Group are:

All recognised financial assets that are within the
scope of IFRS 9 are required to be subsequently
measured at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically,
debt investments that are held within a business
model whose objective is to collect the contractual
cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal outstanding are generally measured at
amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting
periods. Debt instruments that are held within a
business model whose objective is achieved both by
collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial
assets, and that have contractual terms of the
financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding, are
measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income. All other financial assets are measured at
their fair value at subsequent accounting periods. In
addition, under IFRS 9, entities may make an
irrevocable election to present subsequent changes
in the fair value of an equity investment (that is not
held for trading) in other comprehensive income, with
only dividend income generally recognised in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSs”)
(Continued)

IFRS 9 “Financial instruments” (Continued)

. In relation to the impairment of financial assets, IFRS
9 requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed
to an incurred credit loss model under IAS 39. The
expected credit loss model requires an entity to
account for expected credit losses and changes in
those expected credit losses at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.
In other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit
event to have occurred before credit losses are
recognised.

Based on the Group’s financial instruments and risk
management policies as at 31 December 2017, the
directors of the Company anticipate the following potential
impact on initial application of IFRS 9:

. All financial assets and financial liabilities will continue
to be measured on the same bases as are currently
measured under IAS 39.

Impairment

In the opinion of the directors of the Company the
probability of default payment of the financial assets that
are subject to impairments (including loan receivables,
trade and other receivables and bank balances) is very low.
Hence, the directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of the expected credit loss model of IFRS 9 will
not have material impact on the Group’s future consolidated
financial statements.

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tH5+-A=1+—HLEFE
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSs”)
(Continued)

IFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with
customers”

IFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single
comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. IFRS 15 will
supersede the current revenue recognition guidance
including IAS 18 “Revenue”, IAS 11 “Construction
contracts” and the related interpretations when it becomes
effective.

The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity should
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods
or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the
standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue
recognition:

. Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

. Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

. Step 3: Determine the transaction price

. Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contract

. Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity
satisfies a performance obligation

Under IFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when ‘control’ of
the goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer. Far more
prescriptive guidance has been added in IFRS 15 to deal
with specific scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures
are required by IFRS 15.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2017
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSs”)
(Continued)

IFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with
customers” (Continued)

In 2016, the IASB issued Clarifications to IFRS 15 in
relation to the identification of performance obligations,
principal versus agent considerations, as well as licensing
application guidance.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of IFRS 15 in the future may result in more disclosures,
however, the directors of the Company do not anticipate
that the application of IFRS 15 will have a material impact
on the timing and amounts of total revenue recognised in
the respective reporting periods.

IFRS 16 “Leases”

IFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting
treatments for both lessors and lessees. IFRS 16 will
supersede IAS 17 “Leases” and the related interpretations
when it becomes effective.

IFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the
basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by a
customer. Distinctions of operating leases and finance
leases are removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced
by a model where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability have to be recognised for all leases by lessees,
except for short-term leases and leases of low value
assets.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSs”)
(Continued)

IFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain
exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease
liability. The lease liability is initially measured at the
present value of the lease payments that are not paid at
that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for
interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of lease
modifications, amongst others. For the classification of
cash flows, the Group currently presents lease payments
as investing cash flows in relation to prepaid lease
classified as finance lease and accounted for as property,
plant and equipment, while other operating lease payments
are presented as operating cash flows. Upon application of
IFRS 16, lease payments in relation to lease liability will be
allocated into a principal and an interest portion which will
be presented as financing cash flows by the Groups.

In contrast to lessee accounting, IFRS 16 substantially
carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in IAS
17, and continues to require a lessor to classify a lease
either as an operating lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by IFRS
16.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of US$1,201,000 as
disclosed in note 35. A preliminary assessment indicates
that these arrangements will meet the definition of a lease.
Upon application of IFRS 16, the Group will recognise a
right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability in respect of
all these leases unless they qualify for low value or
short-term leases.

In addition, the Group currently considers refundable rental
deposits paid of US$516,000 as rights under leases to
which IAS 17 applies. Based on the definition of lease
payments under IFRS 16, such deposits are not payments
relating to the right to use the underlying assets,
accordingly, the carrying amounts of such deposits may be
adjusted to amortised cost and such adjustments are
considered as additional lease payments. Adjustments to
refundable rental deposits paid would be included in the
carrying amount of right-of-use assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSs”)
(Continued)

IFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

Furthermore, the application of new requirements may
result in changes in measurement, presentation and
disclosure as indicated above.

Except for the new IFRSs mentioned above, the directors
of the Company anticipate that the application of the other
amendments to IFRSs and Interpretations will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in
the foreseeable future.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for derivative financial
instruments and held for trading investments that are
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period,
as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for leasing transactions that are within
the scope of IAS 17 “Lease”, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as
net realisable value in IAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in
IAS 36 “Impairment of assets”.

2,
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For the year ended 31 December 2017
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the
entity can access at the measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the

asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset

3.
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The principal accounting policies are set out below. FESFTBEREIIAOT
Basis of consolidation mEREE

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:
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involvement with the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the
date the Group gains control until the date when the Group
ceases to control the subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated
customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the
goods are delivered and titles have passed, at which time
all the following conditions are satisfied:

. the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant
risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

. the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

. the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

. it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the transaction will flow to the Group; and

. the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

For all sales of minerals, revenue is recognised initially at a
selling price that is determined on a provisional basis. The
final selling price is subject to the grades of copper and
cobalt in the Group’s copper and cobalt products and
movements in copper and cobalt prices up to the date of
final pricing, normally 30 days to 90 days after initial
booking. The adjustment in respect of the final grades
based on the third party examination is included within the
“revenue” line item. The adjustment to the final prices that
is part of the fair value through profit or loss measurement
of the trade and bill receivables (see the accounting policy
in respect of financial assets at FVTPL) is also included
within the “revenue” line item.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time
basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (other than freehold land
and construction in progress) are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at historical cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Freehold land is stated at cost and is not depreciated.

Construction in progress, which represents assets under
construction, is stated at cost less impairment loss, if any.
When the assets are completed and ready for intended
use, the carrying amount of the assets will be reclassified
to the appropriate categories of property, plant and
equipment. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as the appropriate categories of property, plant and
equipment, commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.

Mining assets, including buildings and infrastructure, shafts
and mine development costs, are depreciated to their
residual values based on estimated proved and probable
ore reserves using the unit of production (“UOP”) method.
For mine development costs, please refer to ‘stripping
costs’ section below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation for other property, plant and equipment (other
than freehold land, mining assets and construction in
progress) are depreciated using the straight-line method
over their estimated useful lives to their residual value,
which vary between 4 to 10 years.

The estimated mineral reserves, useful lives and residual
values are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on
a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Stripping cost

Stripping costs incurred in the development phase of a
surface mine are capitalised as mine development costs.
Depreciation of the stripping costs, on the same basis as
the related mines, commences when the mines commence
production. To the extent that stripping costs incurred in the
production phase of a surface mine (“production stripping
costs”) provide improved access to ore, such costs are
recognised as a non-current asset (“stripping activity
asset”) when certain criteria are met:

. it is probable that the future economic benefit
(improved access to the ore body) associated with
the stripping activity will flow to the Group;

. the Group can identify the component of the ore body
for which access has been improved; and

. the costs relating to the stripping activity associated
with that mine can be measured reliably.

Stripping costs are capitalised as mine development costs
and are subsequently depreciated based on estimated
proved and probable ore reserves using the UOP method
once the mine comes into commercial production. The
costs of normal ongoing operational stripping activities are
accounted for as inventories.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRIH T

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tF+-A=1t—HLHFE

116

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Mineral rights

Mineral rights represent the rights to conduct mining
activities:

Mineral rights are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses. Mineral rights
include the cost of acquiring mining licences. Mineral rights
are amortised based on estimated proved and probable ore
reserves using the UOP method.

Mineral rights are derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an
intangible asset, measured as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible
assets other than exploration and evaluation
assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible
assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at
least annually, and whenever there is an indication that
they may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future
cash flows have not been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible
assets other than exploration and evaluation
assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its
fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in
use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated
to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the
unit. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a
cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Exploration and evaluation assets

Exploration and evaluation assets are recognised at cost
on initial recognition. Subsequent to initial recognition,
exploration and evaluation assets are stated at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Costs of exploration
are capitalised pending a determination of whether
sufficient quantities of potential mineral reserves have been
discovered.

Exploration and evaluation assets include the cost of
exploration rights and the expenditures incurred in the
search for mineral resources as well as the determination
of the technical feasibility and commercial viability of
extracting those resources. Once the technical feasibility
and commercial viability of the extraction of mineral
resources in an area of interest are demonstrated, any
previously recognised exploration and evaluation assets
attributable to that area of interest are first tested for
impairment and then reclassified to either mineral rights or
property, plant and equipment under the heading of
construction in progress.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRIH T

For the year ended 31 December 2017
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18

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets

The carrying amount of exploration and evaluation assets
is reviewed at least annually and whenever there is an
indication that they may be impaired. Impairment test is
performed in accordance with IAS 36 “Impairment of
assets” whenever one of the following events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable (the list is not exhaustive):

. the period for which the Group has the right to explore
in the specific area has expired during the period or
will expire in the near future, and is not expected to
be renewed; substantive expenditure on further
exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in
the specific area is neither budgeted nor planned;

. exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in
the specific area have not led to the discovery of
commercially viable quantities of mineral resources
and the Group has decided to discontinue such
activities in the specific area; or

. sufficient data exist to indicate that, although a
development in the specific area is likely to proceed,
the carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation
asset is unlikely to be recovered in full from
successful development or by sale.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss whenever
the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable
amount.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of exploration and evaluation assets
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for exploration and evaluation assets in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before tax” as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income because of items of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
current tax is calculated using the tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary difference
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of
the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRIH T

For the year ended 31 December 2017
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120

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss.
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
operation are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. US$) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of the reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the year,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity (the translation reserve).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Inventories

Consumable stores are valued at the lower of cost,
determined on a weighted average basis, and estimated
net realisable value. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price less all estimated costs of
completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling
and distribution. Obsolete and slow-moving consumable
stores are identified and are written down to their net
realisable values. Product inventories are valued at the
lower of cost, determined on a weighted average basis,
and net realisable value. Costs include direct mining costs
and directly attributable mine overheads.

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit
schemes are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.
Payments made are dealt with as defined contribution
plans where the Group’s obligations under the schemes
are equivalent to those arising in a defined contribution
retirement benefit plan.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRIH T

For the year ended 31 December 2017
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122

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Provisions (Continued)

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a
provision is measured using cash flows estimated to settle
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time value
of money is material).

Provision for rehabilitation and environmental
expenditure

Long-term environmental obligations are provided for
based on the Group’s environmental plans, in compliance
with current environmental and regulatory requirements.

Full provision is made based on the net present value of
the estimated cost of restoring the environmental
disturbance that has occurred up to the end of the reporting
period. The estimated cost is capitalised in property, plant
and equipment as decommissioning assets and amortised
based on estimated proved and probable ore reserves
using the UOP method. The estimated cost of rehabilitation
is reviewed annually and adjusted as appropriate for

3.

EXREHEKE)

BEE)

BARBREHARBSHRYBEIT
BREEMERNEZ&EM  LEZ
BEIABzERR TREMN - fHE1E
RABTRREE 2T RERES
B MEBKBEZLEER AIHRK
HEAZSREREZRE

BERRRAXRE

RPRREEDNERRTRAREER
ERBAEE 2R R EFTIREMR -

HEREHACRHRENRRETERE
BB DREMFRAFREFZEE
o AEtARYE  MERRBET
ERCAZREE  WRMAEFANEER
REAOTE O % 2 E BUOPASHZ #E 8K - 1
SHEERASERT - WRIEMIHRR
ZBEBUREBKEBE2RBEBES
BoMFRAZZEIMARNA LR

changes in legislation or technology and unwinding for the SEHREREE ZHA
time value of money. Changes in estimated costs are

added or deducted from the cost of the relevant assets in

the period such changes occurred.

Financial instruments ¢®MIA

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instruments.
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measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
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acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into the following
specified categories: financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL”) and loans and receivables. The
classification depends on the nature and purpose of the
financial assets and is determined at the time of initial
recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis
for debt instruments.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified at FVTPL when the financial
assets is either held for trading or it is designated as at
FVTPL on initial recognition.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

. on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

. it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

Financial assets held for trading are stated at fair value,
with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised
in profit or loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned
on the financial assets and is included in the ‘other gains
and losses’ line item.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL (Continued)

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for
trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial
recogpnition if:

. such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

. the financial asset forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is
managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair
value basis, in accordance with the Group’s
documented risk management or investment strategy,
and information about the grouping is provided
internally on that basis; or

. it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the
entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be
designated as at FVTPL.

Trade and bill receivables under provisional pricing
arrangements contain an embedded derivative in relation
to the London Metal Exchange ("LME") future commodity
prices (see the accounting policy in respect of embedded
derivatives below). The Group has designated the trade
and bill receivables containing the embedded derivatives to
be measured at FVTPL. The change in fair value is
included in the “revenue” line item.

Fair value is determined in the manner described in note
33.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. Loans and receivables (including loan
receivable, trade and other receivables and bank balances
and cash) are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any impairment losses.
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Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed
for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting
period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired
where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the
financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the
investment have been affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

. significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

. breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or

. it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial reorganisation.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade
receivables, assets are assessed for impairment on a
collective basis even if they were assessed not to be
impaired individually. Objective evidence of impairment for
a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the
number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the
average credit period, as well as observable changes in
national or local economic conditions that correlate with
default on receivables.

For financial assets that are carried at amortised cost, the
amount of the impairment recognised is the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXBHBKR(E
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) £®MIA(E)
Financial assets (Continued) THEE (&)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount
is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When
a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written
off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off are credited against the
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the
allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to
an event occurring after the impairment was recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed
through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount
of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed
does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been
had the impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a
group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity,
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

For the year ended 31 December 2017
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXESFHEE
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) £®MIE (&)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Perpetual subordinated convertible securities

Perpetual subordinated convertible securities are
convertible into a fixed number of ordinary shares of the
Company and include no contractual obligation for the
Group to deliver cash or another financial asset to the
holders or to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities
with the holders under conditions that are potentially
unfavourable to the Group. These securities are classified
as equity instruments and are initially recognised at their
fair value on the date of issuance and are not subsequently
remeasured.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities
at FVTPL or other financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the
financial liability is either held for trading or it is designated
as FVTPL on initial recognition.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

. it has been incurred principally for the purpose of
repurchasing in the near term; or

. on initial recognition it is a part of portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

. it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with
any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised
in profit or loss. The net gain or loss incorporates any
interest paid on the financial liability and is included in the
‘other gains and losses’ line item.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for
trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial
recogpnition if:

. such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

. the financial liability forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is
managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair
value basis, in accordance with the Group’s
documented risk management or investment strategy,
and information about the grouping is provided
internally on that basis; or

. it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the
entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be
designated as at FVTPL.

Trade payables under provisional pricing arrangements
contain an embedded derivative in relation to the LME
future commodity prices (see the accounting policy in
respect of embedded derivatives below). The Group has
designated the trade payables containing the embedded
derivatives to be measured at FVTPL. The change in fair
value is included in the “cost of sales” line item.

Fair value is determined in the manner described in note
33.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)

3.

ERETHBE(E)
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Financial liabilities (Continued) THREE (&
Other financial liabilities Hibcmasd

Other financial liabilities (including trade and other
payables, amounts due to an intermediate holding
company, a fellow subsidiary and a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary and bank borrowings) are

Hteme G (BRES R AMERR
HBAFEEZERLE BEME QR
Ko B8~ R FR R IR AR 3R iz SRR R AR 1T &
) HREBERF R R HE R ARG

subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 2o
effective interest method.
Effective interest method =S ES

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest
basis.

Derivative financial instruments

In the ordinary course of its operations, the Group may
enter into a variety of derivative financial instruments to
manage its exposure to commodity price and foreign
exchange rate risks.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date
when derivative contracts are entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of
the reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the
derivative is designated and effective as a hedging
instrument, in which case the timing of the recognition in
profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge
relationship.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Derivative financial instruments (Continued)
Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts are
treated as separate derivatives when they meet the
definition of a derivative, their risks and characteristics are
not closely related to those of the host contracts and the
host contracts are not measured at FVTPL.

Hedge accounting

The Group designates certain derivatives, which include
derivatives in respect of commodity price risk or foreign
currency risk, as hedging instruments for cash flow hedges.
Hedges of commodity price risk or foreign exchange risk
are accounted for as cash flow hedges.

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Group
documents the relationship between the hedging instrument
and the hedged item, along with its risk management
objectives and its strategy for undertaking various hedge
transactions. Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge
and on an ongoing basis, the Group documents whether
the hedging instrument is highly effective in offsetting
changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item
attributable to the hedged risk.

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of
derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow
hedges is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated under the heading of ‘hedging reserve’. The
gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised
immediately in profit or loss and is included in the ‘other
gains and losses’ line item.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity (hedging reserve) are
reclassified to profit or loss in the period when the hedged
item affects profit or loss, in the same line as the
recognised hedged item.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXREFBER(AE)
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(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Derivative financial instruments (Continued)
Cash flow hedges (Continued)

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes
the hedging relationships, when the hedging instrument
expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or when it no
longer qualifies for hedge accounting. Any gain or loss
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity (hedging reserve) at that time
remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast
transaction is ultimately recognised in profit or loss. When
a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the
gain or loss accumulated in equity is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the
Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable and the cumulative
gain or loss that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is
recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss. When equity
instruments are issued to extinguish financial liabilities, the
difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liabilities and the fair value of equity instruments, if any, is
recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified
as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, the directors of the Company
have identified the following judgements and key sources
of estimation uncertainty that have significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

The key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year are disclosed
below.

Mineral reserves

Technical estimates of the Group’s mineral reserves are
inherently imprecise and represent only estimated amounts
because of the subjective judgements involved in
developing such information. There are authoritative
guidelines regarding the engineering criteria that have to be
met before estimated mineral reserves can be designated
as “proved” and “probable”. Proved and probable mineral
reserves estimates are updated on a regular basis and take
into account recent economic production and technical
information about each mine. In addition, as production
levels and technical standards change from year to year,
the estimate of proved and probable mineral reserves also
changes. Despite the inherent imprecision in these
technical estimates, these estimates are used as the basis
for calculation of depreciation of property, plant and
equipment and amortisation of mineral rights and for
assessment of impairment losses as appropriate.

3.

EXREHRERGE

HE

ERE MR EREZERBD AR
ROBEBEZEEAR  HESEAR
EHE - EHMBASAsBAEEA
=

AR EEFEBABA

REeHEREUEFREENBHAER
RFX -

RSB R AT I RERER
ZEERIR

RERAEE S EE (FRHEES) B
B ANBEBSCHBUTHERS M
BRRZOCEIASHEBEALE 2
RfGst AEERRZEZRR

TXRRBEHREBEEATEEHT @Y
BREEEERABEZRABEFERAR
ST A RERR ZERHRIR °

BEME

ENHERBFEEREBES R EEFE
AEERERE 2 BMETASL B
B ERMGTHE EhAEEREN
EERIFE IR IHER  AEH
FEIERECZERMEES - FERE
MBRERBMLSDEHENR U AS
BRESHRECRBLEEERRMER -
AN HREEKFREMEERFE
EoHBERBOBEREZATTS
HIREE - WERMMAEFTTHART IR
B BNESEERESEYNERE K
EREBEHEZITEARBERE Z#HE - L
MEEERERRE

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 —Z&—+ &% 133



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRIH T

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tF+-A=1t—HLHFE

134

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
and amortisation of mineral rights

Mining assets included within property, plant and equipment
and mineral rights are depreciated and amortised
respectively using the UOP method. The calculation of the
UOP rate of depreciation and amortisation, and therefore
the annual depreciation and amortisation charge to
operations, can fluctuate from initial estimates. This could
generally result when there are significant changes in any
of the factors or assumptions used in estimating mineral
reserves, notably changes in the assumptions relating to
geology of the reserves and assumptions used in
determining the economic feasibility of the reserves.
Estimates of proved and probable reserves are prepared
by experts in extraction, geology and reserve determination.
Assessments of the UOP rates against the estimated
reserve base and operating and development plan are
performed regularly. Any change in estimates will increase
or decrease the inventories in the period in which the
changes occur. The depreciation and amortisation of the
mining assets are US$43,377,000 (2016: US$46,772,000)
and US$7,030,000 (2016: US$10,973,000) respectively for
the year ended 31 December 2017. The carrying amounts
of property, plant and equipment and mineral rights are set
out in notes 15 and 16, respectively.

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment, mineral rights and exploration and
evaluation assets

Property, plant and equipment, mineral rights and
exploration and evaluation assets are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may not be fully
recoverable. If an asset’s recoverable amount is less than
the asset’s carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. Future cash flow estimates which are used to
calculate the asset’s recoverable amount are based on
expectations about future operations primarily comprising
estimates about production and sales volumes, commodity
prices, reserves, operating and rehabilitation and
restoration costs. Changes in such estimates could impact
recoverable values of these assets. Estimates are reviewed
regularly by the management. Where the recoverable
amount is less than expected, a material impairment loss
may arise. As at 31 December 2017, property, plant and
equipment were at carrying amount of US$671,077,000
(2016: US$688,100,000), mineral rights were at carrying
amount of US$488,057,000 (2016: US$478,007,000) and
exploration and evaluation assets were at carrying amount
of US$212,332,000 (2016: US$181,630,000).

4,

RS HE R AT TRERER
ZEBERR (&)

ME - BERRBEZNEARBEERE
2 5

DRIFTFAE BMERRBURIEERE
ZIRBEET D B HHAUOPK TR T
ENEN - IEREBHENUOPLEERTIE
KREMEEANEEINERBHESTH 25
EERUBERN ST EREE - 28
—REBAUGEEREZEMREE
BBRRHEEAEE  LHRHRE
HWERREBEZBREALEEREL
BEATHERFTANBRREREE B8
MBARE AT TIHBEE B RRH
EfEERER - UOPLL RBEIR(ET
EERK LB EEHRERT G-
EAAT A 5T 2 2 B S = 12 N =R 2> 5 B 3%
LHEFE - BE=-ZE—t&+=A4
=+—BLEE RKBEEEZITERE
4 %5 Bl A43,377,000E T (ZE— <
F : 46,772,000% 7t) &% 7,030,000% T
(=ZZ— /"% :110,973,000E7T) © Y2 ~
MERZEUREEEZREESD B
AHEE158%16 °

KR {6 & & 2w E R E
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HERMEE @ AIREREREE - AR E
EETRESHE 2 RRRESREMET
DEREBBARLEZEHREE £
EZEREHEEENEEE BmERE -
HE KREREREEBERAEHE
et e WERFT 2 EEB s T EEHE
EEzZAREEE G5 DHEEE
EHMEt oMUk E £ 5EDATEE] - Al
AREEEARBERBE R-Z—t
F+=ZRA=1+—H 9% BEKRZE
2 BRHEE A671,077,000& T (=& — 5~
% : 688,100,000 ) s BEE 2R
H {E 5488,057,000% 7T (=& — /<~ F :
478,007,000 7t) U R BN IR R FE LB E
2 BREE £212,332,000% T (=& — /X
£ 1 181,630,000 ) ©

JINCHUAN GROUP INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES CO. LTD £ JI| & MERBRAQF



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tH5+-A=1+—HLEFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment, mineral rights and exploration and
evaluation assets (Continued)

The recoverable amount is determined on the basis of
value in use. Details of these are set out in note 8.

Provision for rehabilitation and environmental
expenditure

The provision for rehabilitation and environmental costs
has been determined by the directors of the Company
based on their best estimates. The directors of the
Company estimate this liability for final reclamation and
mine closure based upon detailed calculations of the
amount and timing of future cash flows spending for a third
party to perform the required work, escalated for inflation,
then discounted at a discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money, adjusted
for inflation and the risks specific to the liability, such that
the provision reflects the present value of the estimated
cost of restoring the environment disturbance that is
expected to be required to settle the obligation. However,
as the effect on the land and the environment from current
mining activities becomes apparent in future periods, the
estimate of the associated costs may be subject to change
in the future. The provision is reviewed regularly to ensure
that it properly reflects the present value of the obligation
arising from the current and past mining activities.

Recognition of revenue and inventories

Mineral and metal products are purchased and sold under
provisional pricing arrangements where final grades of
copper and cobalt in the Group’s copper and cobalt
products are agreed based on third-party examination and
final prices are set on the date of final pricing. Revenues
and inventories are recognised when title and risk of the
mineral and metal products are passed to customers and
from suppliers using history of grades of copper and cobalt
in copper and cobalt products based on internal
examination statistics and estimated average prices up to
the date of final pricing.

RS HE R AT TRERER
ZEBERR (&)

ME- -BERRE BERURBR
K EEE 2 E G (F

ARESEDIREERAEEET - 86
RS

BERRRARE

BERREREABBEIRADTESR
BHREMTETE - AQAESHIE
RREERMAH 2 EEELH MG T
ERHE=FREFMFIEMEARAZR
RRERBEEANKEZFRAE (HE
BIRER)  RAREBETRRHZENHE
WISEE (GLBRELAR) RZAER
ERM 2z AERE R KRR - UERE
RREEEERAE 2R ERRMEET
EEMANZEE - AT - BHRE ATRE
EBH T RRRECHEENERRB
WEBPAE MAERA 2T AR
BREs - BEDERELRE - LU
REEE KRB 51 R B ERBEEE AT
EEEEZRE-

BEkEE 2B

BENEBERRBEEEEEZHE
B MEREERFTASERARER
ezt RAMUNERE=ZT 28
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRIH T

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tF+-A=1t—HLHFE

136

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4. BERETHERMGTIRERE
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION ZEERR (&)
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Deferred tax assets EIERIBEE

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all temporary {HB R REE B AL B o] {1m EiE =58
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable ZERBEAN - BIF B S E88ER
profit will be available against which the deductible BIERIBEEE BRATESREHEOER
temporary differences can be utilised. Recognition primarily BIERIBEEZEEEAZRRREE
involves judgement regarding the future performance of the HY - ZEERBEGRIZEEHE
particular legal entity in which the deferred tax asset has AENRERAHALE TR EEL
been recognised. A variety of other factors are also MEBEER T2 EZEHEMEZ
evaluated in considering whether there is convincing a0 R 2R PE R i A & 28 2 B 75 3R B SR G
evidence that it is probable that some portion or all of the £ o I £ 7 Fi 18 718 59,860,000 7t (=
deferred tax assets will ultimately be utilised, such as the E—NF 57,824,000E t) ERIELE
amounts of the future taxable profit and tax planning MIBEE  REE&E 278K EFIE
strategies. No deferred tax asset has been recognised on oo IRIEFRIEE = 2 BREE S A MIEE29 ©
the tax losses of US$59,860,000 (2016: US$57,824,000)

due to the unpredictability of future profits streams. The

carrying amount of deferred tax assets is set out in note 29.

REVENUE 5. &=

Revenue represents revenue arising from sales of goods. WREHEERFIEE Z2W & - N&EE
An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is as FRZWHESFTUOT :

follows:

2017 2016

—E—+fF —E—RE

Us$’000 US$'000

FEx Ep

Sales of copper $HE 1 360,952 306,848
Sales of cobalt HES 186,226 57,997
Sales of zinc HES 2,010 =
549,188 364,845
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tH5+-A=1+—HLEFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

IFRS 8 “Operating segments” requires operating segments
to be identified on the basis of internal reports about
components of the Group that are regularly reviewed by the
chief operating decision maker (“CODM?”) in order to
allocate resources to the segment and assess its
performance.

The CODM has been identified as the executive directors
of the Company. They review the Group’s internal reporting
for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of

segment performance.

The Group’s operating and reportable segments are as
follows:

. Mining operations
. Trading of mineral and metal products
Segment revenues and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and
results by operating and reportable segments.

For the year ended 31 December 2017

6. 7EEHR
BRI R EERFSREE D IR
- RESBARAEEARD D 2R
MW|ERE  FEARRESEHEEE
BARE (TREBERRE) EHE
Bl - UoB o BMERKF LD ERR -

FTELERRELCREALDANTE
E-REEEEHAEE Z2RBREU
ETERIERTADERR -

FEBEERTHRETEMT ¢

. RIEE
- BERREBERES
DENERFE

UTAREEREERTRED EE D
ZWE KRR

BHE_Z2—tHF+-A=1+T—-HLFE

Trading
of mineral
Mining and metal
operations products Total
BERREE
RIEE EmES wat
US$’000 USs$’000 Us$’000
FER FER FTER
Segment revenues 2Bk 449,203 99,985 549,188
Segment results DEEE 63,413 (474) 62,939
Unallocated corporate income F N VNG N 986
Unallocated corporate expenses k2 Bl A B[ (2,740)
Profit before tax R A% A v ) 61,185
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e M RRIH T

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tF+-A=1t—HLHFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. 7EEH(E)
Segment revenues and results (Continued) THRNEREE ()
For the year ended 31 December 2016 BEZE—ARE+ZA=t+—HLEE
Trading
of mineral
Mining and metal
operations products Total
BEMREE
RIERH EmES st
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
FEx FET FERT
Segment revenues pa g 263,186 101,659 364,845
Segment results DEEE 6,886 (962) 5,924
Unallocated corporate income F N VNG N 217
Unallocated corporate expenses k2 Bl A T[S (2,820)
Profit before tax RRF A% T 3,321
Note: The accounting policies of operating segments are the same Mt RSB e hEEasEgestmE
as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment revenues and WHE e DEWS R BEEESNEER
Segment results comprise revenue from external customers ﬁﬁ;’g agbﬁgﬁ Z”&é&%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
and profit before tax of each segment (excluding finance EBRBEN (TEETBKRA - H
income, other gains and losses and other central R EER R R R THRRA) o

administration costs), respectively.
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e MBRRME

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and

For the year ended 31 December 2017

BE=Z—

6. DEEH(H)

THEEERER

tFET-A=t-RLEFE

UTAREEREERTRED EE D

liabilities by operating and reportable segments: ZEERBEDN:
Segment assets THEEE
2017 2016
—E—tF —E-REF
US$’000 US$’000
FEx FEx
Mining operations RIS 1,656,646 1,623,689
Trading of mineral and metal products RBERNEEBEREZS 72,564 49,339
Total segment assets DEEEHE 1,729,210 1,673,028
Unallocated corporate assets AOBATEE 52,921 7,074
Consolidated assets HREBE 1,782,131 1,680,102
Segment liabilities DHEEE
2017 2016
—E—+iF —E—REF
US$’000 US$’'000
FEx EpL
Mining operations RIBER 566,289 599,887
Trading of mineral and metal products BEERKEBERES 50,625 23,302
Total segment liabilities DEEEAE 616,914 623,189
Unallocated corporate liabilities RAOWATERE 294,735 289,369
Consolidated liabilities meaafE 911,649 912,558
Note: Segment assets and segment liabilities comprise total MizE: DEEERDPBEEEINEREESEZ

assets (excluding unallocated corporate assets) and total
liabilities (excluding tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and
other unallocated corporate liabilities) of each segment,

respectively.

EEABE(TEBERIBEAREE) RE
BERE(TRERMANE - EXHES
BEREMARIBEAREE) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-E—tF+-A=t—HLEFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. 7EEH(E)

pa
Other segment information HitpEER
For the year ended 31 December 2017 BE-Z—tF+=-A=+—HLEE

Trading

of mineral

Mining and metal
operations products Unallocated Total

BERREE
PR EmES Ll Bt
US$’000 US$°000 US$°000 US$°000
Txxn Txx Txx Txx

Amounts included in the STEPEEER

measure of segment results NEEER

and segment assets: FANESE:
Addition to non-current assets ~ FERBEERE

(Note) gD 57,101 - - 57,101
Finance income E 3 ON 548 5 433 986
Finance costs B 7 R AR 6,924 664 1,085 8,673
Reversal of impairment loss BRERER ZRE

recognised in respect of EERE

mineral rights (17,080) - - (17,080)
Depreciation of property, plant ~ #1% - BERRERE

and equipment 43,377 33 12 43,422
Amortisation of mineral rights BEREE 7,030 - - 7,030
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BE-Z—tH5+-A=1+—HLEFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. DEER (&
Other segment information (Continued) Hitb o EER (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2016 BE-ZE—XR"E+-A=+—HLEE
Trading
of mineral
Mining and metal
operations products  Unallocated Total
RERKEE
RRER EmE ROB st
US$'000 US$000 US$000 US$000
TEn TERn TEr TEn
Amounts included in the SAEPEEER
measure of segment results NEEER
and segment assets: FANSH:
Addition to non-current assets ~ FERBEERE
(Note) (iE:3) 67,933 - 601 68,534
Finance income BEWBA 593 92 1 686
Finance costs g/ 3% 6,583 112 137 6,832
Impairment loss recognised in G EIR K FFEEE
respect of exploration and BRZEEEE
evaluation assets 14,017 - - 14,017
Reversal of impairment loss BREEERERZ
recognised in respect of REEBRLE
mineral rights (67,765) - - (67,765)
Depreciation of property, plant ~ #1%¥ - BERREFE
and equipment 46,772 39 7 46,888
Amortisation of mineral rights EEREHE 10,973 = = 10,973
Loss (gain) on disposal of HENE - BER
property, plant and equipment  :R{EEE (W) 126 (28) = 98

Note:
rehabilitation trust fund.

Non-current assets excluded loan receivable and

M FRBEETEERRERREBET

Ego
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRIH T

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tF+-A=1t—HLHFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. DEER (&
Geographical information i EE R
Information about the Group’s revenue from external BRAXAEBNIREFRBZ2ERTIER
customers is presented based on geographical location of EFMEHEZS - BEAEEFERE
the customers. Information about the Group’s non-current EE (TEBEREWERREEETIES)
assets (excluding loan receivable and rehabilitation trust ZERDEREERMEHERT -

fund) are based on geographical location of the assets.

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets
HIREE Z WS ERBEE
2017 2016 2017 2016

“E—tF ZT-RF ZFE—tHF ZE-AKF
US$’000 Us$'000 US$’000 uUs$000

FER YA FEx Yy
Hong Kong 5B - - 576 628
Africa FEM 70,341 52,813 1,385,652 1,362,783
Mainland China 5] A 3 358,345 159,655 - =
Switzerland BRE 118,492 152,377 - =
Others Hih 2,010 = - =
549,188 364,845 1,386,228 1,363,411
Information about major customers ERXEEFZER
The following is an analysis of revenue from customers of BUT 235475 B8 4 1 16 25 55 [ &5 B 10% 2
the corresponding year contributing over 10% of the total rBRWRz2EF2REmD M :
revenue of the Group:
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—AE
Us$°000 US$'000
FER FER
Customer A (notes a and b) EFA (fiztakb) 186,226 45175
Customer B (notes a and c) % FB (fizFakc) 74,144 N/AT3E A
Customer C (notes a and c) EFC(MaFake) 70,341 N/AT 38 A
Customer D (notes a and d) EFD (MzFakd) N/ATEA 77,899
Customer E (notes a and d) B FE (Ktztakd) N/ATIE A 72,961
Customer F (notes a and d) B PF (f&Fakd) N/ATIERA 52,288
Notes: izt :
(@) Revenue from the above customers is arising from mining (@) UEEFERZWETIRBERESRE -
operations.
(b)  The customer is an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of (b) ZEBEFAARATRRAKERATZEEES
the ultimate holding company of the Company. EMfBAR -
(c)  The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of (c) HMHEWZENR-_ZT—RFUEAREBLAL
the total revenue of the Group during 2016. B RE10% A £ °
(d)  The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of (d) HEWEAR-Z—tFEWEEAREBAI
the total revenue of the Group during 2017. = ERIM0% M L o
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BE-Z—tH5+-A=1+—HLEFE

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 7. HRERER
2017 2016
—E-tF —ZT—-REF
Us$°000 US$'000
FER £
Other exchange (loss) gain, net HMEY (5E) Wis 0 F8 (13,686) 126
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEWME BERREBEESE
and equipment - (98)
Change in fair value of derivative PTEEMIAEATEEZE
financial instruments, net THER (219) (1,113)
Others H it 1,378 (1,188)
(12,527) (2,273)
REVERSAL OF IMPAIRMENT LOSS 8. BEFSERRD RERIR)
(IMPAIRMENT LOSS)
2017 2016
—B—tF —EF_E
USs$°000 US$°000
FEn TER
Reversal of impairment loss recognised FhIEE R 2
in respect of mineral rights (note a) BB B E R E
(FftEEa) 17,080 67,765
Impairment loss recognised in respect  FLENR K EEERR
of exploration and evaluation assets 2R EEE (MaEb)
(note b) - (14,017)
17,080 53,748
Notes: Mi=E :

For the purpose of impairment testing, the Group’s property, plant
and equipment, mineral rights and exploration and evaluation
assets were allocated to five cash-generating units (“CGUs”),
compromising two operating mines, one developing project and
two exploration projects in Zambia and DRC, within mining
operations segment. Details of the impairment assessment are set
out below:

(@) As a result of the recovery in the copper and cobalt prices
and the successful implementation of the cost-saving plan
for the two operating mines during the year, the impairment
review led to a reversal of impairment loss of
US$17,080,000 for one of the operating mines during the
year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: reversal of
impairment loss of US$67,765,000 for two operating mines).
The recoverable amount of the relevant assets has been
determined on the basis of their value in use. The
recoverable amount was determined based on the cash flow
projections derived from the current mine plan, production
reserves and estimated future copper and cobalt prices. The
pre-tax discount rate used in measuring value in use was
13.3% and 14.9% (2016: 13.3% and 14.9%) for Zambia and
DRC respectively.

BETRELNR  ANEMZYE  BERSRE
BERURBERIGEEC )R RBER
PETHEERSEESEN(REEELEN]) -
BEMEEERS —ERXEE RWERE
B  HURBR (L) KRBT - BEFGEZ
HBEOT

(@) HRMERGEEEFREARERNRIIR
MELERSERKAHTNER  HE
BEFERE  RBE=ZF—-—t&+=A4
=+ —-HALEFEGREP - EEERSHE
R I B 5 [E117,080,000E 7T (ZF — X
F RMEEERSHRESHESBERER
67,765,000 7T) - HEEE 2T E £
HENREFHEEEE - TRESENE
RERESTE - EERERMGFTRRE
SHERBHREREBMEEE 28
LhERREIR (£) 2FBEERAZRE
AIBRIRZR S B 513.3%8%14.9% (ZZF—7x
£ :13.3%K%14.9%) °
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e M RRIH T

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tF+-A=1t—HLHFE

8. REVERSAL OF IMPAIRMENT LOSS
(IMPAIRMENT LOSS)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

During the year ended 31 December 2016, despite the
recovery in copper and cobalt price towards the end of
2016, the production plan of a developing project of the
Group has been delayed mainly due to additional work
performed. The additional work is neither budgeted nor
planned. The recoverable amount of the relevant assets
has been determined on the basis of their value in use.
The recoverable amount was determined based on the
cash flow projections derived from the current mine plan,
production reserves and estimated future copper and
cobalt prices. The pre-tax discount rate used in measuring
value in use was 14.8%. Accordingly, an impairment loss
in respect of exploration and evaluation assets of
US$14,017,000 for the related CGU is recognised in profit or
loss during the year ended 31 December 2016. During the
year ended 31 December 2017, the mine commenced the
trial-production stage and there is no impairment recognised
or reversed after impairment assessment has been
performed as at 31 December 2017.

Given the nature of the Group’s activities, information on
the fair value of an asset is usually difficult to obtain unless
negotiations with potential purchasers are taking place.

Apart from disclosed above, there is no impairment
recognised or reversed for the other CGUs during both

MERERE CREBE) (&

BYEE (&)

(b)

BE-_E—XE+-A=+—HIEE
BEREREESA-ZS—RERGHE
Fo BAREE—EFEZER 2 ETEF
%> FEERHARNFRETTENIIR I
BRENIRIEFTEESRELRE - 48
BEECIWESENZEFRERSE
E e ANEEENENERIESTE £
EFERMGTRREHERSEZES
FEMEEE tEFAEERMAZR
BAIBEIRZE5148% c At » REBE=Z
—~NE+ZA=1+—HILEE  SHiiEE
BEeELENREREIABERIGEE
EZREREE14,017,000E7T - BE=Z
—tE+ZA=+—RHILEFEE BHEA
REERE  METRESER  R=
Z—tF+ZA=1+—BUEERERNER
EARE °

BERAEE 2 EBMNE  BEHURE
BHEELATEZER BRIERREE
EERMHE 2 BRME -

BrECRBEEN  RMEFELERE
BN R EELEE VR NBERE -

years.
9. FINANCE COSTS Bt 7 R AR
2017 2016
—B-tF —B-AF
US$°000 US$°000
FEn TER
Interest on UT&EEBEZRE
Convertible securities CIE:Y e 1,094 135
Bank and other borrowings RITERREMEES 17,772 15,733
Loan from an intermediate holding REFBEERATZER
company 2,274 3,057
Loan from a fellow subsidiary REBRMBARZER 994 960
22,134 19,885
Less: Amounts capitalised in the cost W EBEREEEREEZ
of qualifying assets RAEEE (13,461) (13,053)
8,673 6,832
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10. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

10. BRBE AR F

2017 2016
—g—tF —B-AH
US$’000 US$'000
FER FEx
Profit before tax has been arrived BREE A F 2 HBR (BT A)
at after charging (crediting): THIER :
Staff costs BIRA
Directors’ emoluments (note 11) EE=ME (1) 252 1,118
Other staff costs Hh8 T4
— Salaries and other benefits —FHEe R EMEF 38,791 40,408
— Retirement benefits schemes —BRIRERIFT I
contributions 3,984 2,538
43,027 44,064
Auditors’ remuneration Z B G BN & 370 355
Depreciation of property, plant and ME- - BERREINE
equipment 43,422 46,888
Amortisation of mineral rights EEREHSE 7,030 10,973
Change in fair value of derivative TEESRMIA AT EES -
financial instruments, net HEE 219 1,113
Change in fair value of held for trading F{FEERE QA FEHEH
investments (275) 143
Operating lease rentals in respect of RE MERREZ
equipment, premises and vehicles KEHERS 1,120 1,044
Interest income FE WA (986) (686)
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For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-E—tF+-A=t—HLEFE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND 1. EE - EETBRAEREEME
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EBEREFTBRAEMS
For the year ended 31 December 2017 BE-F—tF+=-A=t—AHL
FE
Retirement
Salaries and  benefits schemes
Fees allowances contributions Total
RAEH
ik HeREg g [ @it
Us$000 Us$000 Us$000 Us$000
iR i1 Tin Tin
Executive directors #7Es
Gao Tianpeng (note c) HBRIE (W) - 6 - 6
Qiao Fugui (note d) FEE (Wita) - - - -
Yang Zhigiang (note ) CEEA(IRE) - - - -
Zhang Sanlin (note ) R (W) - - - -
Zhang Zhong (note ) RR (M) 20 144 2 166
Non-executive directors FHTES
Chen Dexin (note b) 1 (Witb) - - - -
Zhang Youda (note h) RHE (With) - - - -
Zeng Weibing (note i) BEE (1) - - - -
Independent non-executive directors ~ BUFHTES
Wu Chi Keung PRt 28 - - 28
Yen Yuen Ho, Tony Bk 2 - - 2
Poon Chiu Kwok (note k) ERE (Bk) 2 - - 2
Neil Thacker Maclachlan (note g) Neil Thacker Maclachlan
(o) 2 - - 2
100 150 2 252
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11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND 1.

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(@) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

(Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2016

EE  BETBAERESMS
(#&)

(a) EERBRETRAEME (&

BE-Z-A"F+=ZA=+—-HL
FE

Retirement
Salaries and  benefits schemes
Fees allowances contributions Total
BIER
e HoREY L a3
US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000
ES E E E
Executive directors HTES
Yang Zhigiang (note a) B (ita) - - - -
Zhang Sanlin (note ) R (HE) - = = =
Chen Dexin (note b) RG{E (ko) - = = =
Zhang Zhong (note ) A (W) 30 183 2 215
Peter Geoffrey Albert Peter Geoffrey Albert
(note ) (GED) 2 796 2 819
Independent non-executive directors ~ BUFHTES
Wu Chi Keung pintc 28 - - 28
Yen Yuen Ho, Tony Bk 2 = = 2
Neil Thacker Maclachlan Neil Thacker Maclachlan
(note g) (Hitg) 28 - - 28
135 979 4 1,118

The executive directors’ and chief executive’s
emoluments shown above were mainly for their
services in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company and the Group. The
non-executive directors’ and independent
non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly for their services as directors of the

Company.

LRHITEERRSITHRASKH
TERERERARARASEEE
HEREHREERE - LBk
BITESHNMETEARSEES
RAEBZME -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRIH T

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tF+-A=1t—HLHFE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(@) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

(h)

(i)

)

(k)

This director resigned as an Executive Director on 23
August 2017. His emoluments were borne by the
ultimate holding company.

This director was an Executive Director and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company up to 23 August
2017 and re-designated as a Non-executive Director
on 23 August 2017. He waived his director fees for
both years.

This director was appointed as an Executive Director
and Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 23
August 2017. He waived his director fees for this year.

This director was appointed as an Executive Director
on 23 August 2017. His emoluments were born by the
ultimate holding company.

This director resigned as an Executive Director and
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 13
June 2016.

This director resigned as an Executive Director on 23
August 2017. His emoluments were born by the
ultimate holding company.

This director resigned as an Independent
Non-executive Director on 31 January 2017.

The director was appointed as a Non-executive
Director on 23 August 2017. His emoluments were
born by the ultimate holding company.

The director was appointed as a Non-executive
Director on 28 April 2017. His emoluments were born
by the ultimate holding company.

The director was resigned as an Executive Director on
23 August 2017.

The director was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director on 21 March 2017.

There was no arrangement under which a director or
the chief executive, except Mr. Chen Dexin and
Mr. Gao Tianpeng, waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration for both years.

JINCHUAN GROUP INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES CO.LTD £ JI| & MERBRAQF

(&

=

1. B BSTHRABREEME

(a) EERRETRAEME (&)

o

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

()

(9)

(h)

0)

(k)

ZEENR=ZE—tHENA=+=H
BERTES - WeHNEhRRKE
IR BRI o

ZESEEEARDAHTESRT
BERZE=Z—tFNA=+=
B ¥YR=_ZE—tFNA=+=H
AERFRITES - KEHEEW
BEEESHRE -

ZEER-_E—tFNA=+=H
BZEBARQPAHITESERITHA
H o FEREERFE2EEWES °

ZEER=ZE—tHENA=+=H
BZERITES - ReMEhR
KRR QBRI -

ZEER-ZE—XREAAT=HA#
EARRDTESRITHEAH -

PEEN=F—LENA=+=A
BEHTES - 2B HRAD
B2 AR -

ZEENR=ZE—tF—HA=t+—8H
BHEBMIEHITES -

ZEER-ZE—tHENA=+=H
BZERFHTES - RzBEhH

BAERA BRI -
ZESR-_ZE—tFWA=1tN\AH
BZERIPTES - HzBMEH
B AR IR D BRI o

ZEER=-ZE—tFNA=+=H
EHIBITES -

ZEER=-ZE—tF=A=1+—H
BEEABUFHITES -

BREEFRIGE R EREBRMETES -
VEITITRESHIRSITHRAR
HESRZNRERBMEFEZE
Az 25 -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tH5+-A=1+—HLEFE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND 1. EE - EETBRAEREEME

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) (#&)
(b) Employees’ emoluments (b) EEME
The five highest paid employees in the Group during AEEAEELERSHEEN
the year included none of the directors (2016: one BAFES(ZE—F: —FE
director), details of whose emoluments are set out in 2) HMSHFBER EX ()& °
(a) above. Details of the remuneration for the year of WHAARESRTHARNG T
the remaining five (2016: four) highest paid EE(ZE—RE NR)BESHE
employees who are neither a director nor chief EXRFEHMERBUT :
executive officer of the Company are as follows:
2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RF
US$'000 US$'000
TER FTERT
Salaries and allowances Hra R E 1,205 933
Retirement benefits schemes RREFGT B
contributions 391 101
Performance related incentive BEME N RS
payments 206 157
1,802 1,191
The performance related incentive payment is SRS 2 R ) S IRAREE A
determined with reference to the financial BRARBARREE -
performance of the Group and the performance of the
individuals.
The number of the highest paid employees who are iﬁé'Eﬁ’é@_i;%%ﬂ@ﬂﬁﬁ?M
not the directors of the Company whose remuneration TEHENESHEEAHNT :
fell within the following bands is as follows:
2017 2016
—E—tF —RE
No. of No. of
employees onees
EE A 1%
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) 2,000,001 T ((Bx]) &
$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,500,0005%71: (HZER
(equivalent to US$256,411 to 256,4113% ;t £320,513%
US$320,513) 7) - 2 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,0015%71:@3,000,000_
(equivalent to US$320,513 to BT (85 1320,513% T
US$384,615) 3‘5384,615;_%775) 2 3
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000_,0015%75?;3,500,000_
(equivalent to US$384,616 to BT (% 1384,6165% 7T
US$448,718) 3‘§448,718%7‘E) - =
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,0005%75?;4,000,000_
(equivalent to US$448,718 to Bt (& 18448,718% T
US$512,821) £512,821%5T) 1 -
5 4
No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors of AEEMEQA AR EENABESH
the Company or the five highest paid individuals as an AT EAHE > ERMAEXEES
inducement to join or upon joining the Group. TIAREB % ZEE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRIH T

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tF+-A=1t—HLHFE

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CREDIT) 12. FiBBiBx (ER)

150

2017 2016
—B—tF —B-AF
Us$’000 US$’000
FEx FTEx

The tax expense (credit) comprises: WIERX (Ke) B8F :

Current taxation BN BB I8

Hong Kong Profits Tax BEBREH - =
Corporate income tax in DRC MR (£) LEFREHR 3,130 2,134
Corporate income tax in Zambia B EER 1,248 34
Corporate income tax in South Africa R EMBR 279 =
Underprovision in prior years BEFERETR 5 45
4,662 2,213
Deferred taxation (note 29) IEFERLIE (FEE29) 3,088 (5,206)
7,750 (2,993)

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as
the Company does not have assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong for both years.

Corporate income tax in Mauritius, South Africa and the
DRC are calculated at 15%, 28% and 30% (2016: 15%,
28% and 30%) on the estimated assessable profits for the
year, respectively.

Corporate income tax in Zambia is calculated at 30% in the
current year (2016: 30%). The tax rate applicable to the
assessable profits arising in Zambia for the year ranged
from 30% to 45%. The applicable tax rate is determined on
a number of factors including the revenue of respective
subsidiaries and the average copper price of the year.

HRZMEFERRALEREBELE
ZERBURA - MR RE BRI EH R
e

EERE  BHERRBR () Z2EMSE
FRoRRBEFAMGTTERFERNZ
15% ~ 28%%30% ( —ZZFE—7XF : 15% »
28%K%30%) ZFLEFTE o

B T2 hEMEHFERKEI0N (ZF
—RF 1 30%) 2BEHE - BARFER
RELELTELENERBENZBHENF
30%FE45% c AR EENRZEHREZE
E BEEAEMBARZWARERTF
IER1E -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CREDIT)

(Continued)

The tax expense (credit) for the year can be reconciled to
the profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit

BE=Z—

tFET-A=t-RLEFE

12. FRIEHAX (ER) (&)

REEWHREMX (KR) TRESER
K H b2 [ Y R IR T B BRTEADE R

or loss and other comprehensive income as follows: BRIV
2017 2016
—E—+fF —E—REF
USs$°000 US$’000
FEx Ey
Profit before tax R B & F 61,185 3,321
Tax credit at Hong Kong Profits Tax #£16.5% (= ZF—RF :
at 16.5% (2016: 16.5%) 16.5%) st EE BRI EH
BB & (455) (548)
Tax charge (credit) at income tax REL D BB E30%
rate in Zambia for operation at 30% (— T —RF 1 30%) 5 E
(2016: 30%) EEHIEHIR (KR) 994 (4,566)
Tax charge (credit) at income tax ZHR (£) rEHE30%
rate in DRC for operation at 30% (ZZ—7RF 30%)5tE
(2016: 30%) SEB AR (ER) 4,875 (15,720)
Tax credit at income tax rate in REBERIAEHE15%
Mauritius for operation at 15% (ZE—RF 15%) &
(2016: 15%) EEMIER R 1) (2)
Tax charge at income tax rate in Rk TS E28%
South Africa for operation at 28% (ZZ—RF 1 28%)5t&E
(2016: 28%) BB IENR 1,875 17,650
7,288 (3,186)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible FHNBEZ2HETE
for tax purposes 153 134
Tax effect of income not taxable for BERBRBAZHREZE
tax purpose (32) (439)
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses BRABEREIARIESE
previously not recognised ZHKTE (60) -
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ~ RHERF EEIE 2 I/ & 396 453
Underprovision in prior years BEFERETR 5 45
Income tax charge (credit) for the year ~ FRAF B ER) 7,750 (2,993)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4= A

e TR R

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tF+-A=1t—HLHFE

13.

14.

EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. SRER
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share ARNBBEBEAEMEBREARBERR
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the TIREBTIEEE -
following data:
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RE
Us$’000 US$’000
FEx FTEx
Earnings B
Earnings for the purpose of basic RAETESRELRRR
earnings per share ZBF| 41,624 8,347
Added: Interest expense on Convertible il : A[{2 IR E % 2 X 25X
Securities 1,094 135
Earnings for the purpose of diluted REtESREBBERR
earnings per share ZBF| 42,718 8,482
2017 2016
—E—tF —E-REF
Number of shares RO E
Weighted average number of ordinary ~ A{EIESREARR
shares for the purpose of basic B AR b AE 9 B

earnings per share

Effect of dilutive potential
ordinary shares:

BEMEEEERZTE

4,682,898,256 4,350,753,051

Convertible Securities AR S 8,466,120,000 8,466,120,000
Weighted average number of ordinary ~ F{EstEER#ERF
shares for the purpose of diluted EREBRINEFEEE

earnings per share

13,149,018,256 12,816,873,051

There were no other potential ordinary shares outstanding

as at the end of both reporting periods.

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders
of the Company during the year and no dividend has been
proposed since the end of the reporting period (2016:

USSNil).

AATRMERSHRFEAMESHIT

WEEEER -

14.

iz 2

FRGERENEZZRERETAQF
BEERBRR  BREPRURTEES
KBERE (ZB-—RF TXT) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017

BE-Z—tH5+-A=1+—HLEFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. 1% - BMERRE
Plant, Mine
Buildingsand ~ machineryand ~ development  Construction in
Freehold land  infrastructure shafts costs progress Others Total
KARR 5 88 L ELE
4 BFREE REH A ERIR it it
US$'00_0 US$’00_0 US§000 US§000 USS000 US§000 US5000
e e e e e e e
(Nok)
(H&E)
At1 January 2016 RZE-7E-A-8
Cost TS 6,488 2912 648,131 112,666 214392 LR 1,086,320
Accumulated depreciation EERNAE
and impement - w0 ) (1956 - QU (%)
Carrying amount T 6,480 16,782 306,379 93,150 14392 52,688 689,679
At 1 January 2016, netof W=E-7E-B-R
accumulated depreciation and HRZHERHE
impairment 6,488 16,782 306,379 93,150 214,39 52,688 689,879
Depreciafion provided during the year ~ ERHENE - (1,743) (33,143) (8.930) - (3072) (46,888)
Addtions HE - 106 541 - 25,680 19,046 45572
Dispoel be - o) () - - %) (#)
At 31 December 2016, netof RZB-RELZAZt-R
accumulated depreciaion HRZHERHE
and impairment 6,488 14934 203776 84,220 20272 68410 688,100
At 31 December 2016 RoE-7E+2AZt-H
Cost B 6,488 29807 648,671 112,666 20272 93,52 1131429
Accumulated depreciation ZifERNE
and impaiment - ey (3 (28446 - G5 (33)
Carrying amount RAf 6,488 14,934 23776 84,220 20272 68410 688,100
At 1 January 2017, netof WoE-tE-p-A
accumulated depreciafion and HBZHFERRE
impairment 6,488 14934 23776 84,220 210212 68410 688,100
Depreciaton provided during the year ~ ER;HEAE - (1,391) (27.059) (7,242) - (1730) (342
Addtions e 23 548 14,485 - 1014 4129 26,399
Transfer &2 - - %1 - (1,007) 10,056 -
At 31 December 2017, netof RoB-tE{-A=+-R:
accumulated depreciaion IREHRERAE
and impaiment 6,711 14091 262,153 16,978 236,279 74,865 671,077
At 31 December 2017 RZB-tE+2R=1-H
Cost A 6,711 30,355 664,107 112,666 236,279 107,710 1,157,628
Accumulated deprecation and BHHERNE
impaiment - (628 ({01954 (%680) - mys) (T
Carrying amount RAE 6,711 14091 262,153 16,978 236,219 74,865 671,017
Note: Included in others are pollutant treatment plant and related Mzt : HtEESRNEERRAEEERERR
equipment and facilities and decommissioning assets, motor BREEEE AR FEMRES W
vehicles, furniture and fixtures, office equipment and other DNERBEREARME -
equipment.
The Group’s freehold land is situated in DRC and Zambia. AREFBMKAEETHVRBR (£) K
BlLbaE o
Impairment assessment is performed for the years ended REBEZ-ZE—tFR_ZE—X~F+=A
31 December 2017 and 2016, details of which are set out =+—HLEFEHE ﬁmﬂifﬁ&fﬁ =)
in note 8. BB E A M EES ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRIH T

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tF+-A=1t—HLHFE

16. MINERAL RIGHTS 16. TEERE
US$°000
FEx
(Note)
(g &E)
At 1 January 2016 R-ZEBE-XRE—HF—H
Cost A 995,243
Accumulated amortisation and impairment Rt #ERRE (574,028)
Carrying amount BREE 421,215
At 1 January 2016, net of accumulated RZE—XRE—HF—A8 >
amortisation and impairment R 25T 85 RRE 421,215
Amortisation provided during the year FREHIREHE (10,973)
Reversal of impairment loss recognised in RIBEABRBEBERE
profit or loss (see note 8 for details) (F1E R HIzE8) 67,765
At 31 December 2016, net of accumulated R-ZZBE-—XRE+=ZA=+—8"
amortisation and impairment HNBRESTEERBE 478,007
At 31 December 2016 R-ZBE-AF+ZA=t+—H
Cost B AR 995,243
Accumulated amortisation and impairment Rt RRE (517,236)
Carrying amount BREE 478,007
At 1 January 2017, net of accumulated R=-ZE—tH&—HA—8"
amortisation and impairment MR EFTEERBE 478,007
Amortisation provided during the year FRETREH (7,030)
Reversal of impairment loss recognised in REZAERRESERD
profit or loss (see note 8 for details) (FBERKIzE8) 17,080
At 31 December 2017, net of accumulated R-E—+tF+-A=+—H"
amortisation and impairment MR BT RRE 488,057
At 31 December 2017 R=-Z2-—+tHF+=-A=+—H
Cost 2N 995,243
Accumulated amortisation and impairment Rt EERRE (507,186)
Carrying amount BREE 488,057
Note: The mineral rights represent the rights to conduct mining Mzt : BEREAEENBLTIRAIE (£)H
activities in the Group’s two operating mines, one developing MEZEERES - —EXRPEERME
project and two exploration projects in Zambia and DRC. BRIEEERSESHE TS 2R Zm{E
The mineral rights for the two operating mines are granted CERESERBERG T FHA2KN6F
for the remaining terms of 2 and 6 years (2016: 3 and 7 (ZZB—RE 3RTE)
years).
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17. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION

18.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tH5+-A=1+—HLEFE

17. IR RFAREE

ASSETS

US$'000
E
At 1 January 2016 R-B—AE—A—H 172,685
Additions mE 22,962

Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss REZANERREEBE
(see note 8 for details) (FBERMEES) (14,017)
At 31 December 2016 R-E—RFE+=-A=+—H 181,630
Additions nE 30,702
At 31 December 2017 R-ZE—+tF+=-A=+—H 212,332

Exploration and evaluation assets represent the cost
incurred for evaluating the technical feasibility and
commercial viability of extracting mineral resources in the
Group’s exploration mines. The management considers
that the determination of commercial viability is still in
progress at the end of the reporting period.

HRRFEEEESFEERKREE R
BEARMRBREER ZRMRBEETT
MMEEZRA - EEERA  RI|E
HR MEBEEBEATHE-

OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 18. HtiERBEE
2017 2016
—E—+fF —E-RE
US$’000 US$'000
FEx E3
Loan to a DRC state-owned power BRIR(2)EEENRAF
company (Note a) RS (Mza) 3,746 4,824
Less: Amount to be recovered within &l : 5T AZE 5 R E B
1 year included in trade and B —FRE
other receivables (note 20) 2 7R (Fia£20) (2,000) (2,000)
1,746 2,824
Royalty prepayment to non-controlling  [E1fft /& 2 &) JE $2 AR A% R 78 1+
shareholders of subsidiaries (Note b) BREFEAE (M) 14,762 15,674
Rehabilitation trust fund (Note c) EIEETES (Mate) 94 80
16,602 18,578
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=B

e TR R

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tF+-A=1t—HLHFE

18. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

19.

18. HtbFERBEE (&

(Continued)

Notes: MiaE :

(@) It represents a loan provided to a DRC state-owned power (a) E-2RH#T-HAR (£) A_%ji‘
company for the construction and commissioning of a ’/'-\‘E?ZE%’\  ARBIR () —ESEBRE
high-voltage powerline and substation in DRC to secure the BREBUINEZRAE  UREAEEH
future power supply to the Group. The loan carries interest HEBEESHE ZERRGRBRITEE
at London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) plus 2% (2016: wE (RBBTRERLE]D M2E (=
LIBOR plus 2%) per annum. It is unsecured and has no TR F  RBRITEEFREN2E) 2
fixed repayment term. The management considers that FRERFE  REBEEARLEETERN
US$2,000,000 of the total amount will be settled within one H - S ER A E2,000,000% TR
year. —FREN

(b) It represents an advance to the non-controlling shareholders (b) BREMTFERR () BREEEZHBA
of subsidiaries operating in DRC. The directors anticipate RMEERBRR 2MIE  ESFHEF AR
that it will be recovered through royalties to be charged in & LA BB RE G R B 2 FZ I o
the future.

() Payments are made to rehabilitation trusts or investment (c) ERITHBRE 2 EBEREIRERP
accounts held by banking institutions with the intention of SARE EEREFBNZREEH
fully funding those liabilities as required by the governments BUCHERAES 286 -
in South Africa for the mines that have been closed.

INVENTORIES 19. &

2017 2016

SF Sy e

Us$’000 US$'000

FTER EY

Consumable stores Z¥Em 39,493 35,489
Product inventories EmFE 132,600 73,577
172,093 109,066
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tH5+-A=1+—HLEFE

20. EZ R HABEUFRIR

2017 2016

—E—+tF —E—RE

Us$’000 US$'000

FEn TERn

Trade and bill receivables BESZRWRIEREREE 60,886 39,363
Less: Impairment A ORE - (310)

60,886 39,053

Other receivables H{thfE U 18 14,083 9,116

Prepayments A RIE 3,396 2,790

Loan to a DRC state-owned power iR (2)BEEEH AT

company — current (note 18) RIEEFR B (HEE18) 2,000 2,000

Value-added tax recoverable AT Y [ 12 {5 66,443 51,436

146,808 104,395

Included in trade and bill receivables as at 31 December
2017 was an amount due from a fellow subsidiary of
US$21,161,000 (2016: US$6,631,000), which was of trade
nature. The Group provided this fellow subsidiary with a
credit period of 60 days.

The Group provided customers (other than its fellow
subsidiaries) with a credit period ranging from 15 days to
90 days. Before accepting new customers, the Group uses
a credit bureau to perform a credit assessment to assess
the potential customers’ credit limit and credit quality.

As at 31 December 2016, the amounts of trade and
bill receivable under provisional pricing arrangements
had been adjusted for US$572,000 (2017: USS$Nil),
being the difference between the average London Metal
Exchange (“LME”) future commodify prices for the
duration up to the date of final pricing and the quoted
price on the date of recognition of revenue when title
and risks and rewards of the mineral and metal products
are passed to customers.

RIBE—tHFE+-A=1+—HZESE
WRIEBRERZEBEER—BRE R
B D 8§ 1821,161,000% T (=& — 5~
% 16,631,000 ) EEAREBE S
ME o REEMZEZRK B LD AIRM60
BZiEEH -

AEEGOEF (TEEARRKEAR)
RENFI5EE0H 2 FEH - M
PR ARBZEFEENUMREE
b LR EBEEF ZEERBERE
E8%-

RIE—RE+ZA=+—8 BRE
EEZHCEZRRREREVRZER
FEES72,000E T (ZE—LF X
) B ERAEEALZRBEE
REF ([mEFT]) KRR RBFIER
HEERRkEBERZEEREARE
REEEZEFHEAREZE A Z2RERD
ZERE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRIH T

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tF+-A=1t—HLHFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20. EZ REMEWRIE(AE)

158

(Continued)

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management.
The Group has significant concentration of credit risk where
a debtor, being a fellow subsidiary of the Company,
constitutes 35% (2016: 17%) of trade and bill receivables.

The following is an aged analysis of trade and bill
receivables, net of impairment, presented based on invoice
date at the end of the reporting period.

REBDREREBRYGRERTBRE
B USEERREZERE - BHE
HESREEEEHRNY - BA—REH
A (AR BRRMEAR) HEZEW
FIEREWEE 235% (ZF—RF:
17%) - AEBEBEREEEPER -

UTHARBERRRBEEZZAH252
B RWRERERRE (HKRRE) 2
SRER D4 o

2017 2016

—E—+iF —E—RF

US$’000 US$’000

FETX Ep

Within 3 months =EBR 60,886 36,768
4 to 6 months Mz xEA - 2,285
60,886 39,053

As at 31 December 2016, included in trade receivables is a
receivable of US$1,627,000 (2017: US$NIl) which was past
due as at the end of the reporting date and was regarded
as not impaired as there had not been a significant change
in the credit standing of the debtor. The Group did not hold
any collateral over the receivable.

R-ZE—-RE+=-A=+—H E5E
WAREEERBERRC B 2 E W
11,627,000 T (ZE—tF X
L) HRERAZEARREEELES
REH  ZERBHEREARBERE -
AEBEWERZERVEFTEEMIR
e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tH5+-A=1+—HLEFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20. EZ R HMEWRIE (&
(Continued)
Movement in provision for impairment BERESH
2017 2016
—E-tF —ZT—-REF
Us$’000 US$'000
FERx EY
1 January —HA—H 310 310
Amount written off as uncollectible WHEATAWE 2S5 (310) -
31 December +=A=+—8 - 310
As at 31 December 2016, included in the above provision R-ZB-—RE+ZA=+—H  LHE
for impairment of trade receivables was a provision for Z W IERER AR EREERRE 2
individually impaired trade receivables of US$310,000 with B 5 W FIE (B &A1 BREE £310,000
a carrying amount before provision of US$310,000. The E7t) 2 #1%5310,000E T - ZEFHED
amount was written off in 2017. R-ZT— L FH -
The individually impaired trade receivables related to ERRE 2 B 5 EYIEE X #ER
customers that were in default or delinquency in principal AEBFNEFER BZERWNIE
payments and none of the receivables was expected to be FEEABE A AT UL [E] o
recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRIH T

For the year ended 31 December 2017

BE_Z—tHF+-A=1+—HLEE
21. TRANSFER OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 2. BEEEMEE
The following were the Group’s trade receivables that were UTAXREBEZETRITZEZERX
transferred to banks by discounting those trade receivables B EFEFANAREIEEREERRZ
on a fully recourse basis. As the Group has not transferred ZLZEZRKFIE HRAEE L RERZ
the significant risk and rewards relating to these trade HEBSRBRUAREBEZ2EXREKREER -
receivables, it continues to recognise the full carrying WEEL YA EREE ﬂfﬂ A
amount of these trade receivables and has recognised the KEzReBRABERFER kES
cash received on the transfer as a secured borrowings. MEERNTEB ARG M KRR ERAIER
These financial assets are carried at amortised cost in the 4 8H A A B BR o
Group’s consolidated statement of financial position.
Trade invoices discounted to
banks with full recourse
MIRFROVATZERE
ZESRE
2017 2016
—E—tF —E-REF
Us$’000 US$'000
FER EYH
Carrying amount of transferred assets ~ Fri#EE &E 2 REE 48,533 3,980
Carrying amount of associated liabilities 0B & &2 BREE (48,533) (3,980)
22. AMOUNTS DUE TO AN INTERMEDIATE 22, EAHEEZERAT  BREA

JINCHUAN GROUP INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES CO.LTD #

HOLDING COMPANY, A FELLOW
SUBSIDIARY AND A NON-CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER OF A SUBSIDIARY

As at 31 December 2017, included in the amount due to an
intermediate holding company is a term loan amounting to
US$115,000,000 (2016: US$115,000,000). The term loan
carries interest at floating interest rate of LIBOR plus 0.70%
to 2.25% (2016: LIBOR plus 0.70% to 2.25%) per annum
and is repayable within one year (2016: over one year).

As at 31 December 2017, included in the amount due to a
fellow subsidiary is a term loan amounting to US$5,000,000
(2016: US$5,000,000). The term loan carries interest at
floating interest rate of LIBOR plus 4.5% (2016: LIBOR plus
4.5%) per annum and is repayable within one year (2016:
over one year).

The remaining amounts are unsecured, interest free and
repayable on demand.

All the balances are non-trade in nature.

BN B B X B IR R R R 2 TR

n= +tE+=-BA=+—8B EfN
EPF'W*H&"?Z‘#\I FE-—ZTH
& 7%115,000,000% 7T (=& — X :
115,000,000% 7T) ° ZEHEFIR G
$RITEIZEIFBEMO.70E E2.25E (=&

—A"E mBEBRTEEREMO7T0ER

|
]

225/8) ZFBERIER B « AR —F
AEE(—B— AT —FH) o
R=B—tE+=A=+—0 B

?Bﬁ%’z}iz RIEFRE—ZEEHER
5000000%7‘5(_;—/# 5,000,000
E7) c ZEHEFIRGIIRITRIERE
M45E (ZF—XNF : REBRTEER
BE458) 2 FBHERMERFE - AR
—FREEBE(ZZ—RE: —F%) -

iJﬁ% RIBREIKT - REAHIRERE

FiERGIBHEZ MG
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tH5+-A=1+—HLEFE

23. HELD FOR TRADING INVESTMENTS 23. BIEEERE
Held for trading investments comprise: BEEEREBRE:
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-REF
Us$’000 US$'000
FER FEx
Listed investment: tmiRE:
Bonds with fixed interest of 4.75% B EFFERA4.75EL
per annum and maturity date on R=-ZE—t&+tA
17 July 2017 listed on the Stock +t B 2 2 B A B
Exchange (note) tHES (M) - 3,705
Note: The issuer of the bond is the ultimate holding company of M BEFRTARRARZERERAG A
the Company. The bond was disposed of during the current BESFERALFELE -
year.

24. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 24. fTHEE€WMIA

Assets
BE

2017 2016

—E—tHF —E-REF

Us$’000 US$'000

FEx EYH

Foreign currency forward contracts RENEERN - 13

Commodity derivative contracts BERITEEN - 206

- 219

P
25. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 25. RITHEHRRER

Bank balances comprising cash and short-term deposits ﬁEﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁ%ﬁ;&Fﬂfﬂ H 3.%;1)5]
with an original maturity of three months or less carried ES_?, oA Wft& IE_TT m 5 17 7K *ﬂﬁ E—_|'E~ 2
interest at prevailing market deposit rate. As at 31 ﬁﬂﬁﬁ/’f’f\ ° Bﬁ‘—%—‘tiﬂ';ﬁ =t-
December 2017, the effective interest rate of bank balances H- ﬁE{T,%_E%ZEI%Z FF=RSF0.001E
ranged from 0.001% to 1.55% (2016: 0.001% to 0.01%) per F1.55F (=F — /% 1 0.001E £0.01

annum. E) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRIH T

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tF+-A=1t—HLHFE

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 26. EF R EMENTIE

162

2017 2016

—B—tF —B-AF

Us$’000 US$'000

FEn TERn

Trade payables B S EARIE 43,375 53,516
Other payables and accruals HthEARIBERESTER 44,412 18,248
87,787 71,764

Included in other payables and accruals are accrual for
freight charges, export clearing charges, provision for
unpaid import duties and related surcharge in DRC, and
other general operation related payables.

As at 31 December 2016, the amounts of trade
payables under had been adjusted for US$572,000
(2017: US$NIl), being provisional pricing arrangements
the difference between the average LME future
commodity prices for the duration up to the date of final
pricing and the quoted price on the date of recognition
of purchase when title and risks and rewards of mineral
and metal products passed from suppliers to the Group.

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables based
on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period.

HttENFER B EHRERSAER
RHEABAE  REBR(£) AOBRR
HEEMINE 2 BE - AR Et—REE
R FRE o

R-Z-—AR"E+ZA=+—-HB B
BEERHFCEZRNREANARES
572,000t (ZF—tF : FXx) » #
BEGREERRLZREMRRER
FHER AREMREBERZESR
EXEREREHENEREAEE K
BRABEERZHREB2EZH -

UTARBERRRBEZRZALE252
B 5 BN REREK DT ©

2017 2016

—E—+fF —E—RF

Us$’000 US$’000

FEx EP

Within 3 months =@EAR 34,850 40,263
4 to 6 months mZEAMEA 4,875 10,470
7 to 12 months tZ+=@EA 3,390 2,550
Over 1 year —F Lk 260 233
43,375 53,516

The credit period on purchases of goods ranges from 0 to
90 days.

ki
il
il
a0
N
i)

EHNFOEI0HFE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tH5+-A=1+—-HLEFE

27. BANK BORROWINGS 27. RITIER
2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RE
Us$’000 US$'000
FER FTERT
Term loans EHER 316,763 390,575
Trade invoice discounting facility BESEFRHARME 48,533 3,980
365,296 394,555
Secured BEA 316,763 283,168
Unsecured IR 17 48,533 111,387
365,296 394,555
The Group’s bank borrowings are repayable as follows: NEBETEFRZERBUNT :
2017 2016
—E—tE —E-RE
Us$’000 Us$'000
TER EY
Within one year and repayable on demand ~ —F R Kk EERENEFER 133,881 83,333
More than one year, but not exceeding two  —F £ ERBBERME
years - -
More than two years, but not exceeding five ~WE L BERBBAEF
years 197,415 245,222
More than five years HEUE 34,000 66,000
365,296 394,555
Less: Amount due within one year shown HoNARBEBEZ—FR
under current liabilities ZIEA SRR (133,881) (83,333)
Amount due after one year shown IAERBEBL —F&
as non-current liabilities | HAFE 231,415 311,222
As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s bank borrowings of NR—ZEBE-—+tE+=-_A=+—-H8 K
US$316,763,000 (2016: US$382,000,000) are guaranteed £ [316,763,000E 7T (=B — N F ¢
by the ultimate holding company. As at 31 December 2017 382,000,000 7t) ZRITBRIIBAHKA
and 2016, the bank borrowings carried floating rate interest ERATREER RZE—tFK=
ranging from LIBOR plus 1.75% to 4.50% (2016: LIBOR E-REFE+ZA=1+—8 " RITERY
plus 1.0% to 4.5%) per annum. The effective interest rate AEE  BAEBBITEEREM75E
on the Group’s borrowings ranged from 3.30% to 5.93% BA50E (ZF—RF  mBERTEER
(2016: 1.65% to 5.36%) per annum. BEIMMOEZE45E) 2 FREGFE - XE

BERZEBRER RN F3.30E £5.93
E(=ZZ—F : 1.65EE5.36E) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRIH T

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tF+-A=1t—HLHFE

28. PROVISIONS 28. & 1E
2017 2016
—E-tF  —E-AE
US$’000 US$’000
FEx FER
Long-term provisions REE B
Rehabilitation and environmental BERRREE (ME)
provision (note) 28,772 27,303
Short-term provisions EHARE
Termination benefits BEER AR A 2,007 1,026
Rehabilitation and environmental BIERRREBE (M)
provision (note) 820 820
Leave pay and bonuses PRABR 57 Bl 2 FE AL 4,173 3,570
Other Hith 3,000 —
10,000 5,416
Total provisions B4R 38,772 32,719
2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RE
Us$’000 US$'000
FEx Epv
At 1 January K—A—8 32,719 34,470
Utilised during the year FAEA (643) (4,581)
Provided during the year FREE 6,696 2,830
At 31 December R+=-ZB=+—8H 38,772 32,719
Note: The Group is exposed to environmental liabilities relating to Mzt AEEREEEFBEEKEEZRRE

& - RRREMFHRTRE (NEE - BH
REAE AR5 3RF508) 2 A THAR 1B 1R
52 TR S SR MGG

its mining operations. Estimates of the cost of environmental
and other remedial work such as reclamation costs,
close-down and restoration and pollution control are made
on an annual basis, based on the estimated lives of the
mines.

DEREH 2 EERRARBERENRE
RGN —FREEZFIE -

Rehabilitation and environmental provisions classified as
short-term represents the amount estimated to be settled
within one year at the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tH5+-A=1+—-HLEFE

29. DEFERRED TAXATION 29. IRIEFLIE
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated MEVNGFEMBEMRAEMS » B TEL
statement of financial position, certain deferred tax assets HEEEREBCI/EHE - AT HAEH
and liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis Al Z IEFER T A5 BR D AT ¢
of the deferred tax balances before offsetting:
2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RE
US$’000 US$'000
FEx S
Deferred tax assets EEHBEEE (11,516) (11,441)
Deferred tax liabilities EEREEE 302,711 299,548
291,195 288,107
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRIH T

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-E—tF+-A=t—HLEFE

29. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued) 29. EFERLIE (&)
The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets) J,,L T ARAFERBEFEARR ZE
recognised and movements thereon during the current and ELEMEEE (EE) RES2H
prior years:
Property,
plant and
equipment,
mineral
rights, Foreign
and exchange
exploration difference
and arising
evaluation from
rights Leave pay Other intra-group
% BE provisions provisions  activities Taxlosses  Others Total
R
BER SER
954 R
BRER  AEEHM 3 A

HER BfF AtBFE EXZE HEEB Eft @zt
US$'000  US$'000  US$'000  US§'000  US§'000 - US§'000  US$000
T Txn e % Txn T%n Txn

(Note)
(Htat)
At1 January 2016 WB-RE-A-B 260567 (03)  (4465) 15635 (4914) 26724 293313
Charge (credit) to profitor loss ~ FABE R (5T A)
(note 12) (rt12) 22834 226 2,246 - (43000 (26212)  (5206)
At 31 December 2016 R=B-~E
+=B=t-H 283401 ®) (29 15835 (9214) 512 288,107
Charge (credit)to profitorloss AR HIER (T A)
(note 12) (H3H12) 3675 8 492 S 10% (2143 3088
At 31 December 2017 RZB-tf
+=A=1-8 287,076 - (7 15635 (3158)  (1631) 291,195
Note: Others include tax deduction on qualified capital Mz : HthBEAEREARES HHhIAR
expenditures, hedging instruments and others. Hhg B 2 o
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29.

30.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

As at 31 December 2017, the Group has unused tax losses
of US$87,060,000 (2016: US$88,159,000). A deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of US$27,200,000
(2016: US$30,335,000) of such losses. No deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining
US$59,860,000 (2016: US$57,824,000) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. The tax losses may
be carried forward indefinitely.

SHARE CAPITAL

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tH5+-A=1+—-HLEFE

29, IRIEFIE (&

RZE—tE+=-A=+—R0 &x5H
B ARE AR 1EEI887,060,000% T (=F
— 7N : 88,159,000% ) - #ABRIET 12
ERIELER B E 27,200,000 7T (=
T — X4 : 30,335,000 7t) ° BARKE
FFAFAIFE8 - #2T59,860,0003 7T (=
T — X5 : 57,824,0003E 7T) W EFERE
EERIBEE - BIEEE T ERRLE o

30. lgA

Number
of shares Amount
REA EA ]
HK$'000
TERT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each SREEOIBTZEER
Authorised: ERE
At 1 January 2016, 31 December 2016, R-Z-R"¥-A—-8"
1 January 2017 and 31 December 2017 —E-R"E+ZA=t-8"
ZE-tF-A-HR
—E-tFt+=ZB=t—H 20,000,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: BRITRME
At 1 January 2016, 31 December 2016, R=—Z-x"§—-HF—-8-
1 January 2017 “E-RETZA=T-HK
—E2—tF¥-A—H 4,350,753,051 43,508
Issue of new shares by the way of URBRABTHRS (M)
subscription (Note) 483,000,000 4,830
At 31 December 2017 R-ZE—tF+=-A=+—H 4,833,753,051 48,338
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRIH T

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tF+-A=1t—HLHFE

30. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

31.

Shown in the consolidated financial statements as:

30. BRA& (&)

REEUBRRPERS

Amount

£ 5

US$'000

FET

At 31 December 2016 RZE—XRE+ZA=+—H 5,578
At 31 December 2017 R-ZE—tHF+=-A=+—H 6,197

Note: On 28 April 2017, the Company issued 483,000,000 new
ordinary shares by the way of subscription at the price of
HK$0.80 per ordinary share to SD Hi-Speed Investment HK
Limited an independent third party, and raised gross
proceeds of HK$386,400,000 (equivalent to
US$49,538,000). The subscription shares were allotted and
issued under a specific mandate sought from the
shareholders at an extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on 25 April 2017. Details of the subscription
are disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated
20 March 2017 and 28 April 2017 and circular of the
Company dated 6 April 2017.

SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME

On 20 June 2012, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the “2012 Scheme”). The purpose of the 2012
Scheme is to provide incentives and rewards to the eligible
participants for their contribution and continuing efforts to
promote the interests of the Group. Eligible participants of
the 2012 Scheme include the directors (whether executive
or non-executive, including any independent non-executive
director) and employees (whether full time or part time) of
the Group. The 2012 Scheme, unless otherwise terminated
or amended, will remain in force for a period of 10 years
from 20 June 2012.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the 2012
Scheme, any other new share option scheme and existing
scheme of the Company shall not, in aggregate, exceed
10% of the ordinary shares in issue as at the adoption of
the 2012 Scheme or any other new share option scheme of
the Company. The Company may seek approval of its
shareholders in a general meeting to refresh the 10% limit
under the 2012 Scheme. The total number of shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of the share options
granted under the 2012 Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Group (including both exercised and
outstanding options) to each participant in any 12-month
period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the
ordinary shares in issue at the date of grant. Any further
grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting of the
Company.
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31. BREETE

AABTRZBE—ZFERAZ+HRMNE
BEE(ZZE—Z—F5&8] - ==&
— —F 58l aT‘éEﬂ&éE BEWXS Eﬁi
%%{Ezﬁzlﬂﬁlﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁth NERIRF
BEH  _E—_—FitElzE5EKSH
%@?EZIKEI%% (BITRIEHT B
EABLFHTES) REE (ERIFE
B) o RUEM A XK IEHERT I =&
——FFEERBE-E——F~A=+
HE+FHREFEN

RIBE-T——F5H 8 - ADEEMHA
HBRESIRRA A TRE 2P
ﬁ%&%ﬁ'ﬁﬁﬂ%%ﬁZ%%&@
#E SHASEBERA-ZT——F5f
g A QA EMEMmIFERESSES
BITEBRZ210% ° A2 B AT RIRE K
SLrERARRMUEEHF T —_F5t
£ 210%MR %) - REE&RH B HILEM
T-EAHE RE-FT-—_-Fi8R
AEEEAEMBERESEIDSZSESE
R BRE (BFEETERERITEZ
BRE)BITEMESRT RS TEITZR
R T EEBEALARKEAHE
BATEERZ1% © &% A H R
ZBRESEHRREADARRAE
Lt BRBM -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tH5+-A=1+—-HLEFE

31. SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME (Continued)

Any share option granted under the 2012 Scheme to a
substantial shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) or
an independent non-executive director (or any of their
respective associates) of the Company, in excess of 0.1%
of the ordinary shares of the Company in issue at the date
of grant and with an aggregate value (based on the closing
price of the Company’s shares as quoted on the Stock
Exchange at the date of each grant) in excess of HK$5
million, within any 12-month period up to and including the
date of such grant, are subject to recommendation from the
independent non-executive directors of the Company
(excluding any independent non-executive director who is
also the grantee of the options) and shareholders’ approval
in a general meeting of the Company.

A share option may be accepted by a participant within 14
days from the date of the offer for grant of the option. The
exercise period of the share options granted is
determinable by the directors in accordance with the terms
of the 2012 Scheme, and commences from the date of
acceptance of the offer of grant of the share options and
ends on a date which is not later than 10 years from the
date of grant of the share options. At the date of offer of the
option, the directors of the Company may specify any
conditions which must be satisfied before any option may
be exercised.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by
the directors of the Company, but must not be less than the
highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the
date of the offer for grant, which must be a business day;
(i) the average closing price of the Company’s shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of
the offer of the grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the
ordinary share.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to Share
options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or
to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

No options were granted or exercised during the years
ended 31 December 2016 and 2017 and no share options
were outstanding as at 31 December 2016 and 2017.

3. BRERTE (&

REBEEREAH (BFEZA) LEM
TEAHE  RE-F—--F5t8 [
ARBAEBRRR(ERR EHARA) HE
MFHITES (RREEENEMBEA
1) REZBREBHAQXTNK L BH
ERTEER201% REAEBE S
B H B EEE AP P AN A R R4 2 W
BfE)BHsEEB T EABA LT

ZAEMBMFHITESBRIN) 2HEBERZE
ERRRARARRAE LAE . 7T

1FE -

SHEETRESERHBREZNE L
SFTHBRERBRE - FIREBRE
ZOIEHHAESRE-_T-—-F582
RAEE  FHEARHBEREZRVHE
HEERHERERNET T IEBRTF
ZBLE RREBREZEVER A2
B E 5 7] RS TE T L (R A3 IR A i &%
AE R IR o

BRETFEERAQAESEE  BF
BENRTI=EBZEEE (28K
PREERHBH(EAEEB) EBX
FIERRERAMRZBAE (ii)E2D
ARMRBEREEREBHATAEEE
BEBXAEARERAMTZFIK
g R(iiNZEBEREE -

BRELERTEAEARBRERER
RRELREZER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRIH T

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tF+-A=1t—HLHFE

32. PERPETUAL SUBORDINATED 32. KARRAAREH

170

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES

On 14 November 2013, the Company issued the
Convertible Securities with an aggregate principal amount
of US$1,085,400,000, being part of consideration for the
Combination. The fair value of the Convertible Securities,
which was determined based on a valuation carried out by
Asset Appraisal Limited, an independent valuer not
connected with the Group, on the date of completion of the
Combination amounted to US$1,089,084,000.

The Convertible Securities are convertible into a maximum
of 8,466,120,000 ordinary shares of the Company at an
initial conversion price of HK$1 per share, subject to
anti-dilutive adjustments. On or at any time after three
years after the date of issue of the Convertible Securities,
the Company may, at its sole discretion, elect to convert
the Convertible Securities in whole or in part into ordinary
shares of the Company. At any time when a holder of the
Convertible Securities is not a connected person of the
Company, a principal amount of the Convertible Securities
which upon conversion will result in the holder holding in
aggregate under 10% of the issued share capital of the
Company shall be automatically converted into ordinary
shares of the Company.

The Convertible Securities shall not bear any distribution
for the first three years from the issue date but shall bear
distribution at 0.1% of the principal amount per annum
thereafter payable annually in arrears on 31 December
each year and can be deferred at the discretion of the
Company. The Convertible Securities have no fixed
maturity and are redeemable at the Company’s option at
their principal amounts together with any accrued, unpaid
or deferred distributions. While any distributions are unpaid
or deferred, the Company may not, inter alia, declare or
pay any dividends or distribution on any ordinary shares of
the Company or redeem or buy-back any ordinary shares
of the Company, for so long as any distributions which are
due and payable have not yet been paid in full.

R-ZE—=F+—B+TWIH xAFE
TR &4 %851,085,400,000% T 2 7] 2
BRES EFAEHZHIRE TR
BHEZAFE(BREREHE R —BEK
EEVEBE B GEMPBEEE
TEEBERAAETZHEEEE) A
1,089,084,000% TT ©

RS A RRERESRIETE
78 %8,466,120,0001 R A 2 A1 & B R
(AFHRBERE) -RuUBRESZ
BRITABR=FERIAEREMERE
AR AZEMBFRESTRRESZ
BHABLBERAARN QAT ZER - IMEM
R il TR ESFFEALFADF
BMEAL MERRTRREZZ2AS
BREHZFEAGHEELA LT CH#
TIRA10%UT » BIZAEBEEBE
BARRNAEER -

THRRESERTHHBE=ZFRT
MHEEMDIK EEREFEASEZ
0.1%:t &K IREBF+ZR=+—
ARFERIAXN MAXFATHIFESE
HIEH 73 Tk o T R R R 25 3 4 B E A RR -
AARAREREASSES ME - R
TEIELE 2 7k B B AT R IR 8 35 o fil {E
A7k i R BGE R A - Bl RZAEA 2
RN 2D IKEREZHIAN - NAF
A (AR AR ZEMER
BRERSKAEFARERDIK » IR A]
BosERAQEEAERER -

JINCHUAN GROUP INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES CO. LTD £ JI| & MERBRAQF



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to maintain a balance
between continuity of cash flows from operating activities
and the flexibility through the use of borrowings. The Group
also monitors the current and expected liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending covenants
regularly to ensure that sufficient working capital and
adequate committed lines of funding are maintained to
meet its liquidity requirements. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts,
which include the borrowings disclosed in note 27 and
amounts due to an intermediate holding company and a
fellow subsidiary disclosed in note 22, net of bank balances
and cash; and equity attributable to owners of the Company
and non-controlling interests, comprising issued share
capital and reserves.

The management reviews the capital structure on a regular
basis. As part of this review, the management considers
the costs of capital and the risks associated with each class
of capital, and will balance its overall capital structure
through the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing
debt.

For the year ended 31 December 2017
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For the year ended 31 December 2017
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 33.€4MIAE (&
Categories of financial instruments SRITEER
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-—RE
Uus$’000 Us$'000
TER TER
Financial assets THEE
Loans and receivables ER KR EWHE
Loans and receivables (including cash ERRERTE (BERER
and cash equivalents excluding trade BeZ@EER > T8
and bill receivables under provisional EREEERECES
pricing arrangements) BWHREREREE) 92,989 98,948
FVTPL BATESAER
Trade and bill receivables under EEREERHECES
provisional pricing arrangements RWRERERRE 60,886 39,053
Held for trading investments KEBERE 3,705
Derivative financial instruments TEERMIA 219
Financial liabilities EtHERE
At amortised cost (excluding trade payables IR SEEA (T EEEKE
under provisional pricing arrangements) EERHZESENRIE 494,025 523,606
Trade payables under provisional pricing EREEERHZES
arrangements FE{SRIB 43,375 53,516

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include loan
receivable, trade and other receivables, restricted cash
deposits, bank balances and cash, derivative financial
instruments, held for trading investments, trade and other
payables, amounts due to an intermediate holding
company, a fellow subsidiary and a non-controlling
Shareholder of a subsidiary and bank borrowings. Details
of the financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and
commodity price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

BEREEREERRERBEXR

AEECTESRIABDERERRER
ESRAEMERNRE ZIRHIRESF
MOMTERRRE - TEESRMTIA
RHEERERE -ESREMEBEMARKE-
B FEERAT - RN B8R
BLARAFERRRAE  URIETHE
RoERMTREZHBREBEMERE -
LEEMTACHBERREER SR
B (E¥ER - -MZEARBRERESR
)~ FERBRRBESER o FEL
ZRBCBRENTX EEEREE
BRERLEEME - UHEERSE R
HITEE N -
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For the year ended 31 December 2017
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 33.2®ITE (&
Financial risk management objectives and MEEKREEEEREE (Z
policies (Continued)
Market risk 5 B B
Currency risk B E R
The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and REBEBRR  REBELINE (IBEEEE
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, i.e. currencies BOREEMUNICE) FHECEREE
other than the functional currency of the respective group FEE (FEARFEERE -EFZRHE
entities, which mainly represent held for trading investment, EWFIBUARIBITESRRES) 2RE
trade and other receivables and bank balances and cash at BT :

the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2017 2016
—E—tHF —E—RE
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
EE =L BE =L

UsS$’000 Us$’000 US$000 US$000
FEx FEx FERT FET

Renminbi (“RMB”) ARBTARYD 41 - 4,035 -
ZAR R kS 2,335 - 1,831 -
HK$ BT 501 - 598 =
Zambian Kwacha (“ZMK”) #Hh o mRE

BT RmRE] 11,824 - 11,895 -
Congo Franc (“CDF”) Ml R 5% BP

(IR SR5ERR D) 50,057 - 39,575 -
The Group manages its foreign currency risk by closely RNEBEB R EERHINEE RS BN
monitoring the movements of foreign currency exchange EIEEHIERE o BRMTEE4TIRE 2 &
rates. Other than the foreign currency forward contracts as HANE S AN » ANEBIRI EET S {F
disclosed in note 24, the Group currently has not entered (A3 B HNBE & 249 LU S I e [ B o

into any foreign currency forward contracts to hedge
against foreign currency risk.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 3.2/ I A (&

11

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to fluctuation against foreign
currency of RMB, ZAR, ZMK and CDF relative to US$.
Under the linked exchange rate system, the financial
impact on foreign exchange difference between HK$ and
USS$ is expected to be immaterial and therefore no
sensitivity analysis has been prepared. The following table
details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% increase in functional
currency against the relevant foreign currencies. 5%
represents management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation
at the end of the reporting period for a 5% change in
foreign currency rates. A positive (2016: positive) number
below indicates an increase in profit (2016: profit) for the
year where functional currency of each group entity
strengthens 5% against the relevant foreign currency.

BEEREEBREREEK (A

m5EkE (E)

B (E)

BRED

FEEFTERZARY BFEE B
e RERBIR AR N T2 ERK
BEkE ENBESE  BLHEXTE
ECvUBEERBIAER  HALER
HYPREDH - TRALAEBEHRY
RERABENEAENZHRE -
S%RERBHERSEAREEIE
ZEHE c MRE S ESEUININETE
ZARGEBERIRE  WRIBEBHRRS%
ZERZEEHBERE - AT ZEH
(ZE2-—AF  ERHBHSEEER
ZIEEEB S BREINETHESY - FRE
M (ZZ—RF &R S -

2017 2016

—B-tF ZB-XFE

uUs$’000 US$000

FEx Fxx

RMB AR 2 168
ZAR e kS 84 76
ZMK BhTREE 414 416
CDF il 58 5% BB 1,752 1,385

For a 5% weakening of functional currency of each group
entity against the relevant foreign currency, there would be
an equal and opposite impact on the profit (2016: profit) for
the year and the balances above would be positive.

In the opinion of directors of the Company, the sensitivity
analysis is unrepresentative of inherent foreign exchange
risk as the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure
during the year.

MESEER 2 NWEERZABRMNER
1B5% @ B8 FRERN (ZB—RF:
wmA) FREREAR 2ZE R LEER
ASHBER -

RRABRESRR  BREIMFRUR
REBZERE - RERFRZ AR
Wi O 3F A f BREF 9 BT O 2 R B i O o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to floating-rate loan receivable and borrowings with
reference to LIBOR. The management continuously
monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging
interest rate risk should the need arise.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily to
variable rate borrowings and amount due to an intermediate
holding company and a fellow subsidiary. It is the Group’s
policy to keep its borrowings at floating rate of interest so
as to minimise the fair value interest rate risk.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of LIBOR arising from the
Group’s US$ denominated borrowings.

The Group’s bank balances have exposure to cash flow
interest rate risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing
market interest rate on bank balances. The directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s exposure of the
short-term bank deposits to interest rate risk is not
significant as interest bearing bank balances are with short
maturity period.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for floating-rate interest bearing
loan receivable and borrowings. The analysis is prepared
assuming those balances outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. A 50
basis point increase or decrease which represents the
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in interest rates is used.

If the interest rate on loan receivable, borrowings and
amount due to an intermediate holding company and a
fellow subsidiary carried at floating-rate had been 50 basis
points higher/lower and all other variables were held
constant, the profit for the year ended 31 December 2017
would have decreased/increased by US$1,318,000 (2016:
profit for the year would have decreased/increased by
US$1,819,000).

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tH5+-A=1+—-HLEFE

33.8R TR (&

BEEBEREBREREEK (A

FEmE ()
FIEES

REMES TS EUERRER (BRH
HRTREFLHE) 2B RBFER
B SEESEERFEABKA X
BEREBBBE AR RER -

AEENRSHANEAREBAETH
FIREESR AR — KR RIER A AR
ARNBAR 2508 - AEBHEE L
BHEEROFEIDAE UBER
SAFERIEREE o

REENRERFNZEBEZEHRAE
SEUETHEZBRREBRBRT
BFEZKE -

REEZRITHEREAZERTHERZR
THENRRBMELENRESRERN R
Bk ARNBEBRA  AEHEFEHR
TEAZANZERBALFER - RE

=T BRITAERZEPREERE -
HRED

HREIMDERZERRERRE
ROFEERBOEE - wEZIBAD T
B BERRBEEHRZREESHNE
BFEBAREE - 2 RAEER 2
BE - RREEREANRSE RS
Fr4E 2 54 ©
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 3.2/ I A (&

116

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

In the opinion of directors of the Company, the sensitivity
analysis is unrepresentative of inherent interest rate risk as
the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during
the year.

Commodity price risk

The Group is also exposed to commodity price risk arising
from commodity derivative contracts and the Group’s sales
and purchases which are subject to provisional pricing
arrangements, predominantly copper price. The Group has
appointed a special team to monitor the price risk and will
consider hedging the risk exposure should the need arise.

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event
of the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations at
the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of
recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of those
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position. In order to minimise the credit risk, the directors of
the Company has delegated the management to be
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In
addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of
each individual trade debt at the end of the reporting period
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The credit risk for bank deposits and bank balances
exposed is considered minimal as such amounts are
placed with various banks with good credit ratings and
there is no significant concentration of credit risk for bank
deposits and bank balances. Details on concentration of
credit risk on trade receivables are shown in note 20.

BEEREEBREREEK (A

FIEm b (&)
R E Bz ()
HRBED W (&

ARAESRA  JREIMAEUR
REAZFERRERE  REARFRZER
Wil O 3% S fz BR EF 29 P O 2 R B il O o

7 i 1B 15 /L e

REBTAZERITESHORAIEEZ
mEFEERH L EEMEENEM
BERER(EERRE - AEEEEE
BB AR ERER  TRSEES
ZEE AR -

FEmRE

RBEHR - AEERRZHF RET
HEAZBERT  BRECEIERNE
ERBzRAFERREBO  RESH
BHRRKAI 2 ZEEEREE - B
FERRBEERE  ARAESCEE
EREEEBEECERE  FEMER
HMERERF » UBERRINRETEY
ElEHER - I AEBMRKEHK
BYZEENES B 2 TREEHE
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e MBRRME

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group’s
copper and cobalt sales are allocated between ten (2016:
nine) customers all of whom have a good track record with
respect to settling receivables within the agreed credit
period.

Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management monitors the utilisation of
borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants, if
any.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities.
The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date
on which the Group can be required to pay. The maturity
dates for other non-derivative financial liabilities are based
on the agreed repayment dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows
except for trade payables under provisional pricing
arrangements. To the extent that interest flows are floating
rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate
curve at the end of the reporting period.

For trade payables under provisional pricing arrangements,
the amount is derived from the estimated future cash
payments with reference to the LME future commodity
prices at the end of the reporting period.

For the year ended 31 December 2017
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 33. &I A (&)

118

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

In addition, the following table details the Group’s liquidity
analysis for its derivative financial instruments. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual
net cash inflows on derivative instruments settled on a net
basis. The liquidity analysis for the Group’s derivative
financial instruments is prepared based on the contractual
maturities as the management considers that the
contractual maturities are essential for an understanding of

the timing of the cash flows of the derivatives.

BREBEEBBEREEK (A)

REBELEE (&

o TRFIAKEBZOTEERTIA
ZRBES DM FIRTDIBEBELUFEE
EHEEBZMTETAKRBESHNEESRA
FHEMEN - AEBITEERMIAEZR
BESOMORBESNIBEHERE T
AREEERRGHNIGBHERITE
TEBEEREZEKEEMETI2EE -

Over
one year
Weighted ~ On demand but not Total
average  and within  more than Over undiscounted Carrying
interest rate oneyear  fiveyears  fiveyears  cash flows amount
ETH ER —-F4(E AERRE
Gk -£R BER BBILE b= BEE
% Us§'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 Us§'000
% TEn TEn TEn Tin Tin
As at 31 December 2017 RZB-tE+ZA=1-A
Non-derivative financial liabilities FTELHAR
Trade and other payables (excluding B REMEMFUE(FEEE
trade payables under provided pricing ~ BREEZ 2 & HEFFE)
arrangements) - 2,522 - - 2,522 2,522
Amount due to an intermediate B E2RARNE
holding company 3.62 124152 - - 124,152 119,815
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary EBAEZKBARHE 5.45 6,300 - - 6,300 5,074
Amount due to a non-controlling EARBAAFERRRTE
shareholder of a subsidiary - 418 - - 48 48
Bank borrowings - floating rate BOBT—FE 514 139,086 207,562 38,250 384,898 365,296
2M478 207,562 38,250 518,200 494,025
Trade payable under provisional pricing  EEREBEZ 2 EZENZE
arrangements - 43315 - - 43,375 43,375
M5853 207562 38250 S61665 537400
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For the year ended 31 December 2017
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 33.&WM IR (&
Financial risk management objectives and MEEKREEEEREE (Z
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REHELEE (E)
QOver
one year
Weighted ~ On demand but not Total
average  andwithin ~ more than Over  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate one year five years five years  cash flows amount
mE¥s  REXR -FEE AERRS

Gk —ER RER BBDE REAE REE
% US§000 US§'000 US§'000 US§'000 US§'000
% SE SE S Tin Tin

As at 31 December 2016 R=B-RETZR=1-H

Non-derivative financial liabilities HTESRER

Trade and other payables (excluding B REMEMFE(FAE
trade payables under provisional BEREERECES RN

pricing arrangements) HE) - 3,976 - - 3976 3976
Amount due to an intermediate B E2RARHE

holding company 3.62 4464 120,268 - 124,732 119,331
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary EABZARBELARE 545 1,017 5,068 - 6,085 5744
Bank borrowings - floating rate RiTEH —E8 482 102,369 260,544 69,249 432,162 394,555

118,626 385,880 69,249 566,955 523,606

Trade payables under provisional EERTEZHEARA
pricing arrangements A - 53,516 - - 53,516 53,516

165,342 385,880 69,249 620471 577,122
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For the year ended 31 December 2017
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Fair value measurements of financial instruments

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities that are measured at fair value
on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities
are measured at fair value at the end of 31 December
2016. The following table gives information about how the
fair values of these financial assets and financial liabilities

33.&@ T B (&
EMIBEZAFEE

FEEZEEMBEEL R FETEZ
THEERTHBER/Z L FHE

rEEETEREERERBBERSHE
BEPRBRAFETE - TREIEH
NMEEZETRMEERSRMAEEZL
FEZER (LHRMEERMRAER

are determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s) BAEIE) o
and inputs used).
Relationship of
Significant  unobservable
Financial assets/Financial Fair value unobservable inputs to
assetsffinancial labilities Fair value as at hierarchy  Valuation technique(s) and key input(s) input fair value
TR
EXFUBE  BANEH
tHEE/SHER LY LYERE  FERARIERALE BARE  AVEZBE
3422017 31122016
Z3-tE1ZAZT-8 R-RET2RET-R
Held for trading investments Assets- NI Assets-US$3705000  Level1 Quoted bid prices in an active market, NA NA
ERERE BE-B BE-II00ET £-B ERTAEAR TR TR
Foreign currency forward contracts Assets - Nil Assefs - US$13,000  Level 2 Discounted cash flow: Future cash flows are esfimated NA NA
based on difference between predstermined forward
exchange rates and forward exchange rates at the end
of the reporting period discounted at  rate that reflects
the creditrisk of various counterparties.
EEAERD BE-E BE-00zn  %-8  BBRERE: AMALRENEZiEENEHERE TER TER

Commady derivative contracts Assets - Nil Assets - US$206,000  Level 2

BRfizes gE-% BE-N600%T  #Z%

Trade and bill receivables under ~ Assets - US$60886,000  Assets - US$39.093.000  Level2
provisional pricing arangements

FEREEZH 2 EARMER  BE-008600%T  EE-00300Er  #-§
EhZE

Trade payables under provisional ~ Liabiities - US$43,378,000  Liabilties - US$53,516,000  Level 2
pricing arrangements

EEETERACERRATE  BE-O08000En  BE-BM600ER  £=4

RESERNERERNEEG LRRATRHT
hEERRNIERR

The fair value of the commadity derivative contracts NA NA
represents the difference between the quoted fonward
price of the commadity at the end of the reporting
period and the coniracted rate per the commodity
contract of the commody.

BRfitadz ATEABRREEHA  RNEREE ki FER
BRalER 2R

The fair value of the trade and bill receivables under NA NA
provisional pricing arrangements is based on the
average LME future commodty prices for the durafion
up to the date of final pricing.

RRRTEERE ERRUTARBUZE AT ERSE R R
BERRERRALZMEFARERTHERER -

The fair valug of the trade payables under provisional NA NA
pricing arrangements is based on the average LME
future commodity prices for the duration up to the date
of final pricing.

EREEER A AR ATERERERA ik ik
TEAALZWERARBRTHEREE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities that are measured at fair value
on a recurring basis (Continued)

There were no transfer between Level 1 and 2 during the
year.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost approximate their fair values.

Financial assets and liabilities subject to
offsetting, enforceable master netting
arrangements and similar agreements

The Group has entered into certain derivative transactions
that are covered by the International Swaps and Derivatives
Association Master Agreements (“ISDA Agreements”) with
various banks. These derivative instruments are not offset
in the consolidated statement of financial position as the
ISDA Agreements are in place with a right of set off only in
the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy so that the
Group currently has no legally enforceable right to set off
the recognised amounts. Other than derivatives
transactions mentioned above, the Group has no other
financial assets and financial liabilities which are subject to
similar netting arrangements. No further disclosures are
provided as, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the Group’s derivative transactions are not significant.

CONTINGENT LIABILITY

During the year ended 31 December 2017, a
non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary filed to the court
in DRC requesting two subsidiaries of the Company for the
payment of overdue royalties with a principal amount of
US$3,178,000, together with 8% annual interest from 2015
to 2017, and compensation.

Taking into consideration of a legal opinion, the Company
is of the view that the Company and the relevant
subsidiaries have a reasonably good chance in defending
the alleged claim.

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statement, the Group has no other material contingent
liabilities, as at 31 December 2017.

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tH5+-A=1+—-HLEFE

33.8R TR (&

TMIT R AVEFE (A

FEEZEZMEEL R FETEZ
THEERTHBEMRZ A FE(E

FR - B-RNME-R2BILEER -

RRAESBRA  BBERALIRZE
%%E&ﬁﬂﬁﬁz,ﬂﬁﬁﬁiﬁiﬁﬂfﬁﬁ
H o

ATHHEEHEEREME &R
BITHIH R AT L R E W 5%

AEECIYETIETIARS  AH
FERZESRRITEITEBRERRIT
£ T BiHE i ([ISDAR D) BN
ISDAGZESRNELN - BHEBRHE
RARETHE RAKEEALET
REBBINT 2 RN HC RIS
HWZEITE T AN ERGES MHBIRR R
HE -BREMSTETARZ N AEH
VTEAGBEHEENRCHEBETETE
WHRZH - ARFESERR  HRA
EEZTETERGTEKXR  #RFE
— W -

34. HE AR

REBE-_Z—tF+-A=+—HLHF
B AR —HEHBARIZ—BHFER
BRERBR (&) EREIRG EX
AATEFREHBRARALINEAEES
3,178,000E T 2 B EEFEHE - E[E
TE-RAEEE-tF2EFEFE8%
REEE -

REZREREBRR  ALRARABHNEH
EEARAREANBLAREAESER
REEEBRHES -

BRRESUBBREMEHMRESE
o AEBR-ZB-—tFE+=ZA=+—
A EEMERRLARE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRIH T

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tF+-A=1t—HLHFE

35. LEASE COMMITMENTS 35. HERIE (&F
At the end of the reporting period, the Group was RBEHR > AEBRBETURHELE
committed to make the following future minimum lease HEFAE ZRRBFEEERIER T 5
payments under non-cancellable operating leases which HARZIHR -

fall due as follows:

2017 2016
—E—+tfF —EB-RF
Uus$’000 Us$'000
TER TEx
Within one year —FR 1,027 1,253
In the second to fifth years inclusive E_ZELE (BREEEME) 174 1,612
1,201 2,865
Operating lease payments represent rental payable by the REHERBEEASEREE TRB
Group for certain of its equipment, premises and vehicles. MERABEESFz2HE -BHOTDKH
Leases are negotiated and rentals are fixed originally for a B mMEERYRNF-—ZEEF2EH
lease term ranging from one to five years. FIRE °
36. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 36. EANEIE
2017 2016
e R = T
us$’000 Us$'000
TER TER
Capital expenditure in respect of property, REMBBRRETCAN
plant and equipment, mineral rights and BREGEZNE - BER
exploration and evaluation assets B BERURBER
contracted for but not provided in the FHEEZEREX
consolidated financial statements 15,062 8,081
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tH5+-A=1+—-HLEFE

37. RETIREMENT BENEFIT INFORMATION

The Group participates in the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme registered with the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Authority under the Mandatory Provident
Schemes Ordinance for all qualifying employees in Hong
Kong. The assets of the scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in funds under the control of trustee.
The Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs with a
cap of monthly contributions of HK$1,500 (equivalent to
US$160) (effective from 1 June 2014) to the scheme, which
contribution is matched by employee.

Contributions are made by the South African companies to
independent pension and provident funds which are defined
contribution retirement benefits plans governed by the
Pension Funds Act, 1956. All eligible employees are
required to become members of these schemes.

DRC employees contribute to the DRC National Social
Security Fund in accordance with applicable labour laws.
All eligible Zambian employees are required to join and
contribute to an external pension fund, Africa Life. Both
funds are defined contribution retirement benefits plans.

The assets of each of the retirement benefits schemes are
held separately from those of the Group in funds under the
control of the trustees. The amounts incurred for retirement
benefits schemes contributions are disclosed in notes 10
and 11. According to the respective schemes, those
contributions are not refundable nor forfeitable.

37. RRENER

rEBLAEBMESERREES R —1H
ERBEEH M DB EMROIE RS
NEEFEAEEREL 2BREETE -
ZAt B e EERFERSEAMESRE
EXAEBMEEDRER - AKERE
BH &R AH5%E ZT B - A M
A EMRA1,5008 T (FER160%7T) (B
—E-MOFEAB—-HBEN) - MEETR
BERTRELH MR -

MIELAHBLERERLAEES (AR
—NAERFRIREZEZR(Pension Funds
Act, 1956)& B = R E M TR K& FI 5T
BN ELMR - FIEEEREEHESM
HEETE -

AR (2)EERBEAZSHEAHAIR
(&) 2EUEREESHR -FIEEE
BeBLh D EEWAMAMNDERES
Africa Life SE/EHHTK - WEEREITAR
EH-ITCRARBRIGTE -

BERABAFE2EERFERZTEA
FEfES s AEEEESRER - R
RAEF T BT E A 2 IR MEE10
R E - RES A ZEERB
AAREBEI A ALK -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRIH T

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tF+-A=1t—HLHFE

38. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

In addition to certain trade receivables transferred to banks
as disclosed in note 21, the Group pledged the following
assets as securities for borrowings as follows:

38. EEHEHA

BRI 21X BEERETRTZ2ETES
FEWRRIESN  REBEBUTEEES
BRZER :

2017 2016

—E—+fF —E—REF

Us$’000 US$’000

FEx FE

Inventories FE 4,200 3,880
Trade receivables B 5 EWRIE 3,900 4,000
8,100 7,880

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group itself is part of a larger group of companies
under JCG, a state-owned enterprise with its majority
equity interest held by the People’s Government of Gansu
Province, which is controlled by the government of the PRC
and the Group operates in an economic environment
currently predominated by entities controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced by the PRC
government.

39. BBEALRZ

REBRICG (—REEREREREA
REFSAENEALE MHBEAR
HBFE PEIBAFES) BETHAREE R
Alz— A BRI EEH P EBUF AT E
H - HEEFAREEATE LI 2ER
FTEMNEBREREERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tH5+-A=1+—-HLEFE

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

39. EBIA LIRS (A&

BEJCGREMBARZRZ

BRIAEBAFREFTINER < BERE AN T 45
BRI AEERFRNEICCR
HMBRBRILUATRS :

(a) Transactions with JCG and its subsidiaries (a)

Apart from details of the balances with related parties
disclosed in respective notes, the Group entered into
the following transactions with JCG and its
subsidiaries during the year:

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-—RE
Uus$’000 US$'000
TER ey
Sales of goods to ultimate holding BRAZERADHEE @
company (note a) (Fitata) - 5,340
Sales of goods to a joint venture of BERAERARZEERE
the ultimate holding company HEE m (Miza)
(note a) 23,393 21,594
Sales of goods to an indirect EisES NG P
non-wholly owned subsidiary of 2EMBLARBEEm
the ultimate holding company (note a)  (Fffz¥a) 186,226 45175
Interest expenses on term loan FENHEERABDEHER
due to an intermediate holding 1=\ 53
company 2,274 3,057
Interest expenses on term loan FENRRANE AR EHER
due to a fellow subsidiary ZHERX 994 960
Interest expenses payable to an BEAT AR IR AR A B K AR
intermediate holding company on AHRBRES ZFERX
the perpetual subordinated
convertible securities 1,094 135
Interest income received from WERAZERARMBTZ
the bond issued by the ultimate BH 2R 2 WA (FiEEb)
holding company (note b) 186 88
Rental expenses paid to a fellow MEZMBABDXAHEHRX
subsidiary (note a) (Fy=ta) - 154
Rental income received from HEZME A AWEES KA
a fellow subsidiary (note a) GEL) 329 216

As at 31 December 2017, corporate guarantee in
aggregate amounting to US$316,763,000 (2016:
US$382,000,000) was provided by JCG for banking
facilities obtained by the Group, of which
US$317,000,000 (2016: US$363,000,000) was
utilised.

Note a: These transactions are regarded as connected
transactions, pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

Note b: As set out in note 23, the issuer of the bond
acquired by the Group in market during 2016 is the
Company’s ultimate holding company. The bond
was disposed of during 2017.

R=ZF—tH&+_-RA=+—8"
JCCERAEHER ZRITEER
#53£316,763,000% T (ZF— <
£ : 382,000,000 7T) 2 AR -
H e E EM317,000,000% T (=&
— 754 1 363,000,000% 7T) °

Mizta: RBLTRAFE4AE  ZERX
ZWEEBERS -
FsEb :  NMEEE23FFHL  AEBRZE

—ANEEMSLBEEZESZ
BITABEA DA ZBRRERD
Al -HEESER-Z—tF
HE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRIH T

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tF+-A=1t—HLHFE

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(b) Transactions/balances with other PRC
government controlled entities

The Group has entered into various transactions,
including deposits placements, borrowings and other
general banking facilities, with certain banks and
financial institutions which are government-related
entities in its ordinary course of business. In view of
the nature of those banking transactions, the directors
of the Company are of the opinion that separate
disclosure is not meaningful.

(c) Transaction with non-PRC government —
related parties

39. EBIA LIRS (A&

7

(b) EREAMPEBFMEFHERZX
5./ &8

o AEBEERHEREEBBRE
hEBERTEBEER2E TRT
REBMEBILZEARS  BEF
o ERREM—RRTRE - &
REZERTREZVUEE - ARFE
ERR/IFAREBERRT K

(c) BEFFEBFEBALZRS

2017 2016
S e
US$’000 US$'000
FER Ep
Royalty expenses paid to @ fff B8 2 Bl FEHE R IR R 2 A
non-controlling shareholders of BREERAEMRX
subsidiaries 23,340 4,739
Purchase of goods from a non- MEARIFEZERRREE
controlling shareholder of a & m (FfzEa)
subsidiary (note a) 26,201 -

Note a: These transactions are regarded as connected
transactions, pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

(d) Compensation of key management personnel

The key management personnel of the Company are
its directors. Further details of their emoluments are
disclosed in note 11(a). The emoluments of Mr. Yang
Zhiqgiang, Mr. Qiao Fugui, Mr. Zhang Sanlin,
Mr. Zhang Youda and Mr. Zeng Weibing are borne by
the ultimate holding company.

MizEa @ RIBEH P72 £ SRR 14A
5 RERZEPERBRERS -

(d) FEEE A S RN

ARARZEEEBEABRESE-F
BAREME 2 REMNHEE11(a)
o Bt BEESLE - R=M
TE - REEREREHELREZ
B B B AR R D BRI ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

40. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future
cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tH5+-A=1+—-HLEFE

40. ERIEEDELE 2RBEZHR

TRAMAEHERETHELE ZAE
228 BRERTNIRSLY  BE
EEELREZRESNEBE KRR
REREBENAEERERENER
DEABMETDH2RERE -

activities.
Amount due
Amount to a non-
due to an Amount  controlling
intermediate due to  shareholder
Interest Bank holding a fellow ofa
payable  borrowings company  subsidiary  subsidiary Total
JEft
EfRE  ENAEER KHEAF
BRAR WEAR  FERRR
EANE  ROEE A HE HE @t
Us$’000 USs$’000 Us$’000 US$’000 US$’000 Us$’000
TEn TER TER TEn TEn TR
At 1 January 2017 RZZE-tF
—-A-H - 394,555 119,331 5,744 - 519,630
Interest expenses FEBX 8,673 = = = = 8,673
Interest capitalised BERLFE 13,461 = = = = 13,461
Financing cash flows BERERE (22,134) (29,259) 484 230 418 (50,261)
N—F— t $
At 31 December 2017 +ZA=+-H - 365,296 119,815 5974 418 491,503
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRIH T

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tF+-A=1t—HLHFE

41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 4. B R RFIE

188

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries at the end of the
reporting period are set out below.

RT3

Attributable equity interest

REERKEHR 2B RFHERS

Place of Issued and fully of the Group
incorporation/ paid share/ rREELRE
Name of subsidiary establishment Place of operation  registered capital 31.12.2017 31.12.2016  Principal activities
BRIRMERE/ t%-tF “E-RE
HEARAR AMAL/ ALY EERY ifi&x  +ZB=t-B +tZB=t-B IEEH
Chibuluma Mines plc Zambia Zambia US$50,000 85% 85%  Copper mining
BHE BHE 50,000£7 R
Copper Resources Corporation British Virgin Islands ~ South Africa US$104,924,166 100% 100%  Investment holding
(‘BVI") L 104,924 16670 REZR
ABRLHS
(Y )4re:41)
Golden Grand Investment Limited® BVI Hong Kong US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
CEERERRAR ZBRLHE &E 1£7 REER
Golden Harbour International Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Trading of mineral and
Trading Limited & & 10,000 ¢ metal products
ERRERESERAT RERLERERES
Jin Rui Mining Investment Limited* Mauritius Hong Kong US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
SHRERERRAR EEXH BE 1£7 REBR
Kinsenda Copper Company SA DRC DRC US$1,250,000 1% 7%  Copper mining
R (%) EYE) 1,250,000 70 ARER
Maranda Mines (Proprietary) Limited South Africa South Africa ZAR103,289,332 100% 100%  Inclosure
EE CE 103,289,332 3 B ¢ [3y3 5
Metorex Copper Corporation (DRC) South Africa South Africa ZAR100 100% 100%  Investment holding
(Proprietary) Limited E 3 (EE RELER
Metorex Holdings (Proprietary) Limited South Africa South Africa ZAR101 100% 100%  Investment holding
EE CE 01EHEE REZR
Metorex (Proprietary) Limited South Africa South Africa US$597,766,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
3 EEs 597,766,000£ 70 REER
Metorex Share Incentive Scheme South Africa South Africa ZAR100 100% 100%  Dormant
(Proprietary) Limited E EE: 1008 5% HEES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tH5+-A=1+—-HLEFE

41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 41. B A BHE (&
(Continued)
Attributable equity interest
Place of Issued and fully of the Group
incorporation/ paid share/ FRERERE
Name of subsidiary establishment Place of operation  registered capital 31.12.2017 31.12.2016  Principal activities
BRARARKRA/ “E-tf Z5-RE
i PEER: HREL/RUtY EE4Y if&x  tZA=t-A TZR=t-A IEEEK
Ruashi Holdings (Proprietary) Limited South Africa South Africa ZAR1,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
[E [E 10008 %84 RELER
Ruashi Mining SAS DRC DRC 1US$12,000,000 75% 75%  Copper and cobalt
BE(2) BE(2) 12,000 0007 mining
BHREE
LR IBASERRERAR PRC PRC RMB100,000,000 60% ~ Trading of mineral and
(Shanghai Jinchuan Junhe Economic HE T8 AR 100,000,007 metal products
Development Co., Ltd.) BERREEERES
# These subsidiaries are directly held by the Company. # ZEMBARBARQATEEIEE
* Translation for identification purpose only. * ZRAEEH2E -
a The entity was established in PRC in form of sino-foreign A FEREUFIHNEECERXNRPBEIMKIL
equity joint venture.
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at BEMBARNRFELEARITEMNERE
the end of the year. % ©
The directors of the Company are of the opinion that none ARAREBRH R=-FB—tFE+=A8
of the Group’s subsidiaries has non-controlling interests as =Et—H AEENBARBERESH
at 31 December 2017 that are individually material to the rEEMEBENER ZFIZERES
Group, therefore, no further financial information in respect WA ERZEREEREZZHBA
of these subsidiaries with non-controlling interests are AENEZHBEER -

presented.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tF+-A=1t—HLHFE

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 42. ZRF WM BMRRBR KB

190

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the
Company at the end of the reporting period includes:

ggﬁﬁé‘iﬁ%ﬂﬁiliz&ﬂ%ﬂﬁiﬂiﬁiﬁﬂ

2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RE
US$’000 US$’000
FEx Epr

Non-current assets ERBEE

Property, plant and equipment ME - BERZE 35 39

Interests in subsidiaries Rl NGTE: - -

Amount due from a subsidiary FE W B B A B FRIE 667,043 667,031
Total non-current assets IRBEEHLE 667,078 667,070
Current assets REEE

Other receivables H i W IE 178 132

Amounts due from subsidiaries FE WK B A B 7R IE 82,959 82,010

Bank balances and cash RITEBRKRES 51,656 5,716
Total current assets RBEEHE 134,793 87,858
Current liabilities REEE

Other payables H b fE S FRIE 657 775

Amount due to a fellow subsidiary FE 13 [5) 2 FfY /BB 2 Bl TR IR 13 149
Total current liabilities REEEHEEE 670 924
Net current assets RBEEFE 134,123 86,934
Net assets EEFE 801,201 754,004
Equity iz €

Share capital % 7 6,197 5,578

Perpetual subordinated convertible K AOR AR O] 2 R 7 o

securities 1,089,084 1,089,084

Reserves (Note) &8 (fgaE) (294,080) (340,658)

Total equity R 801,201 754,004
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For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z—tH5+-A=1+—-HLEFE

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 42. Z AT BB R TR KRB
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (#&)
(Continued)
Note: Movement of the Company’s reserves are as follows: Mzt : ARRRELBUT :
Share  Contributed Accumulated Total
premium surplus losses reserves

ki aE R4BR ZiER fRBL%
US§000 US§000 US§000 US$000

Tin ESD Tin Tin

At 1 January 2016 R=Z-xE-A-R 204,196 9 (EBMY) (33884
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year EREER2EHXAHE - - (1814) (1814)
At 31 December 2016 RoE-AET=Azt-7 204,196 9 (BM)  (340659)
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year EREER2AHXAHE - - (2,306) (2,306)
Ordinary shares issued (Note 30) ERTEER (M30) 48919 - - 48919
Transaction costs attributable to issue of BANERREL ZRARE

new ordinary shares (35) - - (35)
At 31 December 2017 RZE-tE+-A=1-H 343,080 9 (637,169) (294,080)
The Company’s reserves available for distribution to RZZE—RERZE—tFWMEFE -
shareholders represented the aggregate of share premium AAT AR IRTRR2FEIIER D
account, contributed surplus and accumulated losses, BER - ERAEGKETERE A -
which amounted to nil for both 2016 and 2017. THEART-
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
FFESFE

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities
and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five
financial years, as extracted from the published audited financial
statements and reclassified as appropriate, is set out below:

AEEBEIEMBEEZCTRRE &
E -SERFERESHME (DHZEST %
HERMBEHRERRNEBEREHR 2B WT :

RESULTS ES
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
—E—tE CZE-RE ZE-RE C—E-UE "—E-=F
Us$’000 Us$'000 US$'000 US$'000 Us$'000
SEY EYH EY S EP
Revenue W& 549,188 364,845 470,691 652,475 742,242
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable A2 G5 A FE1E E X
to owners of the Company whl/ (58) 41,624 8,347 (291,767)  (230,512) 203,837
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND BE 8ER
NON-CONTROLLING FEREDR
INTERESTS
Assets BE 1,782,131 1,680,102 1,580,373 1,864,269 2,259,919
Liabilties 81 911,649  (912558)  (819413)  (T47517)  (839,942)
870,482 767,544 760,960 1,116,752 1,419,977
Equity attributable to owners i NGEZ 2N L 5
of the Company 791,710 700,583 691,966 983,709 1,216,310
Non-controlling interests FERES 78,772 66,961 68,994 133,043 203,667
870,482 767,544 760,960 1,116,752 1,419,977
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“Acquisition” or “Combination”

the acquisition by the Company of the entire equity interest in Jin
Rui (along with the Metorex Group) in November 2013 pursuant
to the sales and purchase agreement dated 27 August 2013, the
details of which are set out in the circular of the Company dated
30 August 2013; with a total consideration of US$1,290,000,000
was satisfied by the allotment and issue of 1,595,880,000 new
ordinary shares of the Company at an issue price of HK$1 per
share and the issue of PSCS of the Company in the aggregate
amount of US$1,085,400,000

“Board”

the board of Directors of the Company

”CEC“

Copperbelt Electrical Corporation, a Zambian electricity company

“Chibuluma plc or Chibuluma”

Chibuluma Mines plc, a company incorporated in Zambia and a
subsidiary of Metorex

“Chibuluma South Mine”

an underground copper mine owned by Chibuluma plc situated
in Zambia near the town of Kalulushi

“Chifupu deposit”

an adjacent copper deposit to Chibuluma South Mine under
exploration which is located approximately 1.7 km southwest of
Chibuluma South Mine

“Company” or “JCI”

Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd, a company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability and
the Shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange

“Director(s)”

the director(s) of the Company

“DRC”

the Democratic Republic of Congo

GLOSSARY
ok

[WEE=E =S &6
KATR-ZE—=F+—AREBHAE=-Z
—=Z=EN\BA=-++tEEEHMEKRESE
(E[EMetorexEH) =P/ AEZE  BARE
1,290,000,0003 7T @ AR TESR1EBITE
£ & 2 171,595,880,0008% 7 A 7] i i@ I% -
DA% 347 AN A T 48481,085,400,0003 T 2 7K
ARBAIBBRESZR 2HAIAMA FEHERAAR
ATBHA=E—=ENA=1tBHZEX
=5

PiN/NT - =4

[CEC

Copperbelt Electrical Corporation » — B &Lt
DENAF

[ Chibuluma plc =% [ Chibuluma]

Chibuluma Mines plc * RAE Lk B sF AR 2
AT BMetorexZ M B A F)

[ Chibulumaig & |

HiChibuluma plclEE 2 it T 01 - (VA E L
I > #iTKalulushifE @

[ Chifupu® Fk |

B8 1 EEChibulumaRE iEFRE =~ SRIB AR @ LR
Chibulumara B A 41.72 B

B NG REAR o)

T/ISERFERERAR - RASAHASEM
MY ZBRRF  HRORBEXIFER LS

-

KRB 2ES
MEIR ()]

M REEHME
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GLOSSARY
A

“EBITDA”

earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation and
impairment loss

“Exploration Projects”

the two advanced stage exploration projects owned by the
Metorex Group located in the DRC namely,

(i) Lubembe Project; and

(i) Musonoi Project

“Gécamines SA”

La Générale des Carrieres et des Mines, a state-owned mining
company in the DRC

“Golden Harbour” or “GHL”

Golden Harbour International Trading Limited, a company
incorporated in Hong Kong and an indirectly wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company

“Group” or “JCI Group”

the Company and its subsidiaries

“HK$”

Hong Kong dollar(s), the lawful currency of Hong Kong

“Hong Kong”

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
“Indicated Mineral Resource(s)”

that part of a Mineral Resource for which tonnage, densities,
shape, physical characteristics, grade and mineral content
can be estimated with a reasonable level of confidence. It is
based on information from exploration, sampling and testing of
material gathered from locations such as outcrops, trenches,
pits, workings and drill holes. The locations are too widely or

inappropriately spaced to confirm geological or grade continuity
but are spaced closely enough for continuity to be assumed

[EBITDA

REFFE - BIE - rERBHEURRERSER
92 A

[RiEEA |

HMetorex&E B PR R LRI R (£) 2 M{E#%E
HRRIREIRR €5 ¢

(i) LubembeX®E ; &

(i) MusonoilE B

[ Gécamines SA |

La Générale des Carriéres et des Mines - [l

R(2)EBHKEQF

[£#8R] = [GHL]
TRREBREZERLF  —HAREBEM
B AR EREARANEBEZEWE QT
[A&EEH[JICIEHE ]

RATBREWELF

Ml

BT BBEEEH

(&%

HEBEBRBRITRE
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“Jinchuan Group” or “JCG”

£ )IIEBE R M ER QT (Jinchuan Group Co., Ltd*), a state-
owned enterprise established in the PRC and the controlling
shareholder of the Company

“Jin Rui”

Jin Rui Mining Investment Limited (£IEXKREBRAE]), a
company incorporated in the Republic of Mauritius and a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

“Jintai”

Jintai Mining Investment Limited (£ZBXREFMRAF), a
company incorporated in Hong Kong and a direct wholly-owned
subsidiary of Jinchuan Group (Hongkong) Resources Holdings
Limited

“JCG Group”

collectively, Jinchuan Group and its subsidiaries and associates
controlled by it from time to time, and for the purpose of this
report, excluding the Group

“Kinsenda Project”

a brownfield copper project owned by Kinsenda SA and situated
in the Katanga Province, the DRC

“Kinsenda SA”

Kinsenda Copper Company SA, a company incorporated in the
DRC and a subsidiary of Metorex

“Listing Rules”

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

“LME”
the London Metal Exchange
“LOM”

Life of mine

*  For identification purposes only
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“Lubembe Project”

a greenfield copper project owned by Kinsenda SA and situated
in the Katanga Province, the DRC

“Measured Mineral Resource(s)”

that part of a Mineral Resource for which the tonnage, densities,
shape, physical characteristics, grade and mineral content can
be estimated with a high level of confidence. It is based on
detailed and reliable information from exploration, sampling and
testing of material from locations such as outcrops, trenches,
pits, workings and drill holes. The locations are spaced closely
enough to confirm geological and grade continuity

“Metorex”

Metorex (Proprietary) Limited, a company incorporated in South
Africa and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

“Metorex Group”

Metorex and its subsidiaries (including Chibuluma plc, Kinsenda
SA and Ruashi Mining), which comprise (amongst other
investment holding companies) the operating companies within
the Group

“Metorex Holdings”
Metorex Holdings (Proprietary) Limited

“Mineral and Metal Products”

mineral products, metal products and other raw materials
Jinchuan Group needs for its own production and for its sale to
third parties, including but not limited to copper or nickel ores
and concentrates, copper or nickel cathodes and other forms of
copper, nickel or other metals bearing raw materials, cobalt and
its related products.

“Mineral Reserve(s)”

the economically mineable material derived from a Measured
Mineral Resource or Indicated Mineral Resource or both. It
includes diluting and contaminating materials and allows for
losses that are expected to occur when the material is mined.
Appropriate assessments to a minimum of a pre-feasibility study
for a project and a LOM plan for an operation must have been
completed, including consideration of, and modification by,
realistically assumed mining, metallurgical, economic, marketing,
legal, environmental, social and governmental factors (the
modifying factors). Such modifying factors must be disclosed

*  For identification purposes only
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“Mineral Resource(s)”

a concentration or occurrence of material of economic interest
in or on the earth’s crust in such a form, quality, and quantity
that there are reasonable and realistic prospects for eventual
economic extraction. The location, quantity, grade, continuity
and other geological characteristics of a Mineral Resource are
known, or estimated from specific geological evidence, sampling
and knowledge interpreted from an appropriately constrained
and portrayed geological model

“Musonoi Project”

a greenfield copper and cobalt project owned by Ruashi Mining
and situated in the Katanga Province, the DRC

“MB”
Metal Bulletin

“Operating Mines”

Ruashi Mine and Chibuluma South Mine
“PRC”

the People’s Republic of China
“Probable Reserve”

the economically mineable material derived from a Measured
Mineral Resource or Indicated Mineral Resource or both. It
is estimated with a lower level of confidence than a Proved
Reserve. It includes diluting and contaminating materials and
allows for losses that are expected to occur when the material
is mined. Appropriate assessments to a minimum of a pre-
feasibility study for a project or a LOM plan for an operation
must have been completed, including consideration of, and
modification by, realistically assumed mining, metallurgical,
economic, marketing, legal, environmental, social and
governmental factors (the modifying factors). Such modifying
factors must be disclosed
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“Proved Reserve”

the economically mineable material derived from a Measured
Mineral Resource. It is estimated with a high level of confidence.
It includes diluting and contaminating materials and allows for
losses that are expected to occur when the material is mined.
Appropriate assessments to a minimum of a pre-feasibility study
for a project or a LOM plan for an operation must have been
completed, including consideration of, and modification by,
realistically assumed mining, metallurgical, economic, marketing,
legal, environmental, social and governmental factors (the
modifying factors). Such modifying factors must be disclosed

“PSCS” or “Convertible Securities”

the perpetual subordinated convertible securities to be issued
by the Company to satisfy part of the purchase price for the
Acquisition

“RMB”

“Renminbi”, the lawful currency of the PRC

“Ruashi Holdings”

Ruashi Holdings (Proprietary) Limited, a company incorporated
in South Africa and a subsidiary of Metorex

“Ruashi Mine”

an opencast oxide copper and cobalt mine owned Ruashi Mining
and situated in the DRC on the outskirts of Lubumbashi, the
capital of Katanga province

“Ruashi Mining”

Ruashi Mining SAS, a company duly incorporated in the DRC, a
subsidiary Ruashi Holdings

“SAMREC Code”
South African Code for the Reporting of Exploration Results,

Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves (2007 edition) as
amended from time to time
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“SFO”

the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 the Laws of
Hong Kong

“SHEC”

Safety, Health, Environment and Communities

“Sky Hero”

Sky Hero (Hong Kong) Limited, a subsidiary of Jinchuan
“SMBS”

Sodium meta bi-sulphite

“SNEL”

Société Nationale d’Electricité, being the national electricity
company of the DRC

“Sodimico”

Société de Développement Industriel et Minere du Congo, a
state-owned enterprise in the DRC

“South Africa”

the Republic of South Africa

“SX-EW”

solvent extraction — electrowinning

“Stock Exchange”

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
“Uss$”

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the US
“Zambia”

the Republic of Zambia

“ZAR”

South African Rand, the lawful currency of South Africa
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way»
percentage
“Co”

cobalt

“«Cu”

copper

“km”
kilometre(s)

e

thousand tonnes
“kWh”

kilowatt hour
“m”

metre(s)

“M”

million

“pE

million tonnes

“MW"

megawatt, a unit of power equivalent to one million watts

“MWh”
megawatt hour
g

tonne(s)
“TCu”

total copper
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JINCHUAN<=JII

Unit 3101, 31/F United Centre,
95 Queensway, Hong Kong
BESEBESHEA — P O31E3101E

www.jinchuan-intl.com
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